Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held at
the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
WEDNESDAY 20 JULY 2016 AT 7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 12 July 2016

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes

Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Tim Holton (Chairman)
Philip Houldsworth
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

ITEM
NO.

Chris Singleton (ViceChairman)
John Kaiser
Wayne Smith

WARD

19.

Chris Bowring
Malcolm Richards
Bill Soane

SUBJECT

PAGE
NO.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

20.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

7 - 10

To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 June
2016.
21.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

22.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

23.

Emmbrook

APPLICATION NO 153382 - EMMBROOK SPORTS
GROUND

11 - 34

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
24.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO 161191 - GREAT LEA FARM,
GREAT LEA PINGEWOOD THREE MILE CROSS
RG7 1JL

35 - 72

Recommendation: Conditional Approval.
25.

Emmbrook

APPLICATION NO 161061 - FOXWOOD, MILTON
ROAD, WOKINGHAM RG40 1DD

73 - 86

Recommendation: Conditional Approval.
26.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO 161189 - LAND WEST OF
SHINFIELD, WEST OF HYDE END ROAD AND
HOLLOW LANE SOUTH OF CHURCH LANE

87 - 140

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
27.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO 161250 - SPORTS CENTRE
HYDE END LANE RYEISH GREEN RG7 1ER

141 - 158

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
28.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO 161091 - FORMER RYEISH
GREEN SCHOOL, HYDE END LANE

159 - 174

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
29.

Hurst; Norreys

APPLICATION NO 153247 - KEEPHATCH BEECH
NORTH WOKINGHAM

175 - 222

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
30.

Emmbrook;
Norreys

APPLICATION NO 160765 - LAND AT
MATTHEWSGREEN FARM, MATTHEWSGREEN
ROAD, WOKINGHAM

223 - 248

Recommendation: Conditional Approval.
31.

Hawkedon

APPLICATION NO 161595 - PLANTERS LODGE,
CUTBUSH LANE, EARLEY RG6 4UU

249 - 266

Recommendation: Conditional Approval.
32.

PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
To consider any recommendations from the Head of
Development Management to hold pre-committee site
visits, set out in Members’ Update.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CIL
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Community Infrastructure Levy
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted

VAR
PS
Category

Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Madeleine Shopland
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Principal Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6319
madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 20.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 22 JUNE 2016 FROM 7.00 PM TO 7.35 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Tim Holton (Chairman), Chris Singleton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
John Kaiser, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Wayne Smith and Bill Soane
Officers Present
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highways Development Management
Clare Lawrence, Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services
Madeleine Shopland, Principal Democratic Services Officer
Case Officers Present
Daniel Ray
Alex Thwaites
Graham Vaughan
11.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Philip Houldsworth and Mary
Severin, Borough Solicitor.
12.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 25 May 2016 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting. A copy is attached.
13.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made.
14.
APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications had been recommended for deferral, or withdrawn.
15.

APPLICATION NO 161066 UNITS 27, 28, 68 AND 69, SUTTONS BUSINESS
PARK, EARLEY
Proposal: Full application for the demolition of existing Class B1 office buildings (Units 68
and 69) and the erection of three Class B2/B8 industrial units with ancillary office space
and car parking/landscaping, refurbishment of existing Class B8 storage and distribution
building (Unit 27-28) and reconfiguration of car parking area; the erection of a new Class
B2/8 industrial unit with ancillary office space together with new car parking and
landscaping; erection of a new security hut.
Applicant: Standard Life Assurance Ltd.
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 11 to 44.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included:

7









Amendments to condition 13;
A proposed additional condition regarding visibility and the clearing of obstructions;
Amendments to the report;
Clarification regarding the increase in floor areas;
Information regarding a bat survey which had been carried out;
Clarification regarding the heights of the proposed and existing buildings;
Information regarding employment levels and the number of parking spaces.

It was noted that Members had visited the site on Friday 17 June 2016.
A Member expressed concern that should a business be operating 24 hours a day
residents may be affected by the sound of delivery vehicles reversing and asked that a
condition regarding the minimisation of reversing sensors be considered. Officers
suggested that a condition be added which stated that should the business in Unit 4, the
closest unit to residential buildings, operate a 24 hour business, they be asked to submit
the details of the operation.
Members expressed concern that there were currently 297 parking spaces and the
application proposed that there be 188. The Planning Officer explained that the site was
previously classified as B1 which was more resource intensive. A Member questioned
whether a minibus could collect some staff from the station. Officers indicated that this
could be referenced in the travel plan.
RESOLVED: That application No. 161066 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 12 to 16, with condition 13 amended as set out in the Members’ Update,
an additional condition as set out in the Members’ Update and an additional condition
regarding details of delivery hours for Unit 4 and measures to minimise any associated
noise and disturbance to local residents in the event of the operation of the business 24
hours a day. Condition to be agreed by the Head of Development Management and
Regulatory Services in consultation with the Chairman.
16.

APPLICATION NO 161123 CANTLEY SPORTS CENTRE, CANTLEY PARK,
TWYFORD ROAD, WOKINGHAM, RG40 5QG
Proposal: Full application for proposed construction of 3 new tennis courts and pavilion
including associated court lighting, fencing and access.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee received and reviewed a report about this application, set out in Agenda
pages 45 to 60.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included:


Clarification of details regarding the applicant, proposal, reason for listing the
application and parking.

In response to a Member question regarding lighting levels Officers indicated that
condition 5 related to the floodlighting and illumination.
A Member asked whether there would be access to the tennis courts from Warren House
Road and was informed that they would continue to be accessed from Twyford Road.

8

In response to a Member question regarding whether parking would be sufficient, the
Service Manager, Highways Development Management commented that there were no
concerns about this.
RESOLVED: That application No. 161123 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 46 to 47.
17.

APPLICATION NO 161009 HIGHWOOD PRIMARY SCHOOL, FAIRWATER
DRIVE
Proposal: Full planning application for the proposed erection of a single temporary
accommodation building.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee received and reviewed a report regarding the application, set out in
Agenda pages 61 to 74.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included:





Clarification of details regarding the applicant and proposal;
Information regarding pupil numbers and space per pupil;
An additional condition regarding the temporary nature of the structure to ensure
that the structure was vacated and removed after 7 years;
Details regarding revised plans and approved details.

Members sought clarification as to when the building work would be carried out.
Clarification was also sought regarding parking.
RESOLVED: That application No. 161009 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda page 62 and an additional condition as set out in the Members’ Update.
18.
PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
The Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services had recommended that
pre-Committee site visits be undertaken in respect of the following applications:


161189 – Sports Centre Hyde End Lane Ryeish Green – full application for the
proposed construction of a new full sized fenced and floodlit artificial grass pitch
and associated access and car parking improvements.



161250 – Former Ryeish Green School, Hyde End Lane – full application for the
proposed installation of two modular classrooms and associated play areas on
existing car park, to include canopy and access ramps. Formation of new car park
access. Refurbishment of former 6th form building to provide staff accommodation.

RESOLVED: That pre-Committee, site visits be undertaken on Friday 15 July 2016 in
respect of the following applications:


161189 – Sports Centre Hyde End Lane Ryeish Green – full application for the
proposed construction of a new full sized fenced and floodlit artificial grass pitch
and associated access and car parking improvements.

9



161250 – Former Ryeish Green School, Hyde End Lane – full application for the
proposed installation of two modular classrooms and associated play areas on
existing car park, to include canopy and access ramps. Formation of new car park
access. Refurbishment of former 6th form building to provide staff accommodation.

10

Agenda Item 23.
Development
Management
Ref No
153382

No weeks on
day of
committee
32

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Wokingham
Town

Emmbrook

Major &
Applicant is a
councillor.

Applicant
Location

Mr Mark Ashwell
Emmbrook Sports Pavilion, Lowther Road,
Postcode RG41 1JB
Wokingham.
Proposal
Full application for the proposed erection of a grandstand, pitch flood
lighting, car park and artificial turf footpath.
Type
Full
PS Category 6
Officer
Mark Croucher
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20th July 2016
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
This planning application is to be decided by the committee because the proposal
constitutes a major development and the applicant is a councillor. The application seeks
the erection of a covered spectator stand, floodlights, car park, artificial turf footpath and
railings. The proposed development all relates to upgrading the existing football pitch to
Football Association Level Step 5 and will allow the first team to play in the Hellenic
Premier League. The first team are currently in the league below (Hellenic Division 1
East) and there are no restrictions that prohibit the first team from using the Lowther
Road pitch next season. The applicant has advised that the First XI football team will
play home league and cup matches at the site next season.
The proposed development will not result in a material change of use of the land and
will involve the improvement of local sports facilities and this is supported by the NPPF
and development plan policies. In principle, as the site is located within a major
development location, any intensification of the use of the site as a result of the
development would be acceptable. The proposed development, in particular the
floodlight columns will be prominent features within the immediate setting of the sports
ground and there would be some harm to the character and appearance of the area.
The Environmental Health Team has raised no objection to the proposed development
and the use of the site will be controlled by conditions. The proposal would have an
acceptable impact on highway safety and will be served by adequate levels of parking.
The mature trees in the locality will be retained. The proposed development will have an
acceptable impact with regard to ecology and drainage & flooding.
On balance, given that the site results in improved sports and leisure facilities, it is
considered that the benefits of the proposed development will outweigh any harm and
the application is accordingly recommended for approval subject to conditions.

PLANNING STATUS
 Major Development Area
 Contaminated Land Consultation Zone.
 Flood Zone 1

11

RECOMMENDATION
APPROVAL, subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered 15676 – 01, 15676 – 02 and 15676 – 03 – Rev B. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Prior to the commencement of development, a plan showing the root protection
areas of nearby trees and the location of tree protective fencing shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed
details shall be fully implemented and retained in situ for the duration of the
development. No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery,
parking of vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or
disposal of liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off
or otherwise protected. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site
which are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local
planning authority that the necessary measures are in place before development
and other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
[Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
4. Prior to the commence of development hereby approved, a parking layout should
be submitted to Local Planning Authority depicting at least 5 disabled, and at
least 2 motor cycles parking bays. Details shall also be provided on cycle stands
to provide for at least 11 cycles. The approved details shall be implemented fully
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure acceptable parking facilities are provided so as to
encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: NPPF
Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
5. The hard surfacing for the parking area hereby permitted shall be constructed
from porous materials such as a protecta mesh, grascrete or other similar
material unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: to ensure to additional water run-off will occur onto the public highway

12

as a result of the development.
6. Prior to the commencement of development a Noise Management Plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved details shall be fully implemented unless otherwise first agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
7. Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents.The floodlights hereby
approved shall not be turned on at any time after 7pm on Saturdays and at no
time on Sundays.
The floodlights hereby approved shall not be turned on anytime Monday to Friday
apart from 20 midweek days per year for competitive matches until 10pm.
Any variation from the permitted hours of illumination shall be first applied to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To preserve the amenity of neighbouring residents, the character of the
area and the wellbeing of bats.
8. The lighting hereby approved shall not exceed the Lux levels as stated in the
document submitted by Thorn Lighting Limited dated: 24/03/2015 unless
otherwise first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents and character and
appearance of the area.
9. Prior to the commencement of development details of the waste and refuse
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details hereby agreed shall be fully implemented unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area.
10. The site shall not be used for any competitive league fixtures above the current
Hellenic Premier League (or equivalent league) unless otherwise first agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the use of the site does harm the local amenity and does not
cause detrimental traffic impacts.
Informatives:
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site.
Commencement of the development without complying with the precommencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and
liable to enforcement action. The information required should be formally
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in
accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer

13

to discuss.
2. Should any great crested newts or evidence of great crested newts be found
prior to or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an
ecological consultant contacted for further advice and Wokingham Borough
Council informed before works can proceed. All contractors working on site
should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a
relevant ecological consultant.
3. As the proposed site is adjacent to Network Rail’s operational railway
infrastructure, Network Rail will require the developer to sign an Asset Protection
Agreement
with
Network
Rail’s
Asset
Protection
team
at
AssetProtectionWessex@networkrail.co.uk prior to any works commencing on
site.
-

-

-

-

The applicant must adhere to the Network Rail guidance relating to
recreational areas.
The area along the Network Rail boundary and sports field is lined with trees
and it is essential that the 18m high flood lights do not impose any risks to
driver sighting. As such the applicant must undertake a glare assessment and
submit the report for Network Rail’s Asset Protection acceptance.
The applicant must carry out a risk assessment to ensure the correct fencing
is used and should consider the erection of higher screening.
The applicant should carry out a risk assessment to determine the risk of
trespassing. The existing Network Rail boundary fence may need to be
enhanced/strengthened.
The applicant must submit a Risk Assessment and Method Statement
(RAMS) /lifting plan for the erection of the columns for flood lights along the
Network Rail boundary fence.
The applicant must submit a RAMS for all construction activity along the
Network Rail boundary including the erection of the 1.1m high pitch barrier,
the 1.85m or higher solid timber fencing to the boundary and a RAMS for
erecting the proposed 20.73m x 3m grandstand.

PLANNING HISTORY
F/2004/2653 - Proposed dugouts for Wokingham Football
Club - Approved 17/12/2004.
F/2010/1068 - Proposed erection of boundary fencing
(including front gate) on three sides of boundary of site –
Approved 04/08/2010.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Previous land use(s) and floorspace(s)
Number of jobs created/lost
Existing parking spaces

2.52 hectares
Outdoor sports ground (Use Class D2)
None specified
50

14

Proposed parking spaces

70

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Wokingham Town Council – Objection:


The floodlighting and additional traffic generated by the proposal represents a
scale of activity that is inappropriate to the character of a residential area and
detrimental to the amenities of adjoining land users and as such does not comply
with policy CP3 of the adopted Core Strategy.



It has not been demonstrated that the noise impact of the proposed development
has been assessed as required by policy CC06 of the adopted MDD Local Plan.

Winnersh Parish Council – No Objection:


The committee requests a restriction defining the latest time in the evening the
floodlights can be used.

Environmental Health – No objection subject to conditions 6.
Highways – No objection subject to conditions 4.
Ecologist – Objection: Mitigation measures should be incorporated to reduce the
impact on bats.
Network Rail – No objection.

REPRESENTATIONS
35 letters of objection points raised (in summary):
 The plans will not cater for the amount of cars (70) suggested.
 The entrance is not suitable for the number of vehicle movements proposed.
 Light pollution from the floodlights.
 The application does not meet the Equality Act of 2010.
 The application does not meet the guidance in ‘Accessible Stadia’ published by
the Sports Ground Safety Authority.
 The application is not appropriate for the site.
 Increase in on street parking which will cause an obstruction.
 The proposed parking will not be sufficient.
 The access is narrow and on a busy corner, increasing the risk of accidents.
 Noise and disturbance to local residents due to the use of the site at later times
under the flood lights.
 The floodlights should be restricted to 8pm.
 The floodlights will be obtrusive and will affect living conditions.
 The floodlights will be a distraction for motorist and the adjacent train line.
 The floodlight will waste energy and contribute towards global warming.
 The development will have a detrimental impact on the character and
appearance of the area.
 The deed on the site states that it should be used for amateur sports however the
application will focus on one sport only, to the detrimental of other activities.
 The club can play at alternative premises.

15







































The residential area will not cope with development of this scale.
The majority of people who use the club are not local.
The traffic is a danger to pedestrians.
The development is not permissible under the terms of the lease.
The site was given to the residents of Emmbrook as a Deed of Gift for amateur
use, not semi-professional teams.
A large number of the support letters are from members of the Emmbrook Sports
and Social Club who do not live near the site.
The site is currently no maintained to control planting along the boundaries and
rubbish isn’t cleared up. The proposed development will exacerbate these
problems.
The parking should be managed by stewards.
The stand will be large and unsightly.
Additional water runoff from the development will increase the risk of flooding.
Bats will be affected by the floodlights.
More amateur teams will be displaced as a result of the development.
Overlooking.
The stand will attract antisocial behaviour.
The facilities have attractive noise, vandalism and anti-social behaviour and the
proposed development exacerbate these issues.
The site is a valuable green space.
The current trees on the site are not managed.
There should be adequate toilet facilities.
The development will impact the privacy of the residents.
The pitch is liable to flooding and is not suitable for the level of football intended
to be played on the site.
Does not agree with the statement that the overall usage will not increase.
The overall floodlight usage during evenings from October to March will increase
dramatically (from nil to 20 matches plus say 40 training nights) with the
corresponding unacceptable noise and light pollution. This is unacceptable for a
residential area.
Allowing the football club to take over the site will prohibit local residents from
using the land.
An entrance fee would be charged for matches.
The flood lights are twice as high as the houses.
The transport demand will increase significantly.
The application is made by a local councillor.
The club isn’t amateur and therefore does not comply with the lease.
The car park will be close to the children’s play area.
Health and safety concerns.
The applicant has not received written consent from the landlord.
Increase in noise.
No details stating what will happen if the site is abandoned.
The club will require a fence around the site to meet the F.A Standards.
A P.A system will be required and this will result in in additional noise.
Pay boxes or turnstiles will be required at the entrance.

69 letters of support points raised (in summary):
 The development will allow local individuals to participate in sport without
needing to travel outside of the borough.

16


















Positive contribution to the area.
It will be a good community facility.
The development will give local children access to sports facilities.
Wokingham has poor playing facilities and the development will improve these.
Football and cricket has been played at the site for many years.
Wokingham is an affluent area and deserves a good football team.
It’s important to improve the facilities within the area as the town grows.
It will be a community hub.
The first team are currently ground sharing with Henley and this is damaging the
club.
It will bring in revenue to the local area.
The club have been supportive in developing local sports teams.
The development will allow a good standard of ladies football to be hosted on the
site.
New housing development will put existing facilities under pressure and the
proposal will help to contribute to the sports provision in the area.
The parking spaces will tidy up the area.
The development is necessary.
It will keep local adults and children healthy.

APPLICANTS POINTS

The first team will play home and cup matches at the ground next season
regardless of the outcome of this application. This should be considered as the
“fall-back” position.

There will be no intensification of the use of the site.

The application is to formalise the existing car parking requirement with no
intensification of usage - the level of activity throughout our week will remain the
same and not increase in any way as a result of this planning application. In fact
the proposal will enable parking on site during the winter months alleviating any
parking nuisance on the adjacent highway.

There are no alternative sites available.

The club is a well-run community facility.

It will improve access for the community to good quality sporting facilities.

This is the local football team and they should play within Wokingham Borough.

There is no intention to develop the site further beyond the current proposal.
PLANNING POLICY
NPPF
Chapter 1: Building strong & competitive economies
Chapter 4: Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 7: Requiring good design
Chapter 8: Promoting healthy communities
Chapter 10: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and
coastal change
Chapter 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Core Strategy

CP1 Sustainable Development
CP2 Inclusive communities
CP3 General Principles for Development
CP6 Managing travel demand
CP7 Biodiversity
CP9 Scale and location of development proposals

17

MDD Local Plan

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02 Development Limits
CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC06 Noise
CC07 Parking
CC09 Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10 Sustainable Drainage
TB21 Landscape Character
TB23 Biodiversity and Development

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development
1. The application site is in a Major Development Location where the principle of
sustainable development is acceptable.
2. Part 8 (Promoting Healthy Communities) of the NPPF promotes access to
high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation as this
makes an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities.
Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states it is important that proposals recognise
and enhance the value of open spaces to contribute to the needs of the
borough.
3. The authorised use of the site is outdoor sports pitches (Use Class D2) and
the proposed application will not result in a material change of use of the land.
Emmbrook Sports and Social Club lease the site from Wokingham Borough
Council and this expires in 2037. The contents of the lease give no public
right of access over or onto the land and the use of the site by the general
public is at the discretion of the club. Due to the contents of the lease, it
cannot be considered that the proposed development will result in the loss of
open public amenity space. The application is for the proposed operational
development only: this will improve the current sports facilities on the site and
is supported by the NPPF and the development plan policies.
4. The proposed development will result in social benefits by improving the
facilities of a local sports club. This social consideration does however need
to be weighed against the impacts on the neighbouring residents and this is
set out in further detail in the ‘Impact on Neighbours’ section of this report.
The club will also benefit economically as it would not be financially burdened
by paying to use other facilities outside of the borough.
5. To summarise, the site is within the settlements limits of Wokingham which is
a Major Development Location where larger scale developments are
encouraged due to sustainability of the area. The proposal will improve local
sports facilities and this is supported by the NPPF and the development plan
policies. There will be no material change of use of the land and the proposal
will not result in a loss of public open space. It is therefore considered that the
principle of development is acceptable subject to the other material
considerations set out in this report.

18

Intensity of use
6. The issue arises that whilst no material change of use will occur, the
operational development could facilitate a more intensive use of the site. It
must therefore be considered whether the intensity of the potential use would
have materially harmful impacts. The probable intensity of the use of the site
is set out in this section in-order to lay the foundation for the assessment in
the other chapters of the report. It needs to be established how the site can
currently be used without planning permission and how the proposed
development is likely to alter the intensity of use over and above this fall-back
position.
7. Whilst the site is not currently used by the first team for competitive matches,
it has been advised that they have been relegated from the Hellenic Premier
League into Hellenic Division 1 East. Lowther Road has been accepted for
Hellenic Division 1 East football and the first team will be playing at the site
next season. The first team have been using grounds at Henley and Bracknell
in the past. This is the fall-back position that has to be taken into
consideration.
8. To establish the potential use of the site, it has been advised that the
proposed facilities would not allow the club to progress any further than the
Hellenic Premier League due to additional F.A requirements that would have
to be met for higher leagues. This would therefore be a top threshold for the
potential use of the site as a result of the proposed development.
9. The term ‘intensity of use’ can be abstract but in the context of this application
it has been broadly broken down into four key elements:





Visitors – The number of people visiting the site (spectators, players,
officials...)
Time – The number of days used; the amount hours used each day; and
whether the hours of use would be in the morning, day, evening or night.
Activity – The type of activity occurring.
Development – The operational development on the land.

Visitors
10. Considering whether the development will attract additional visitors, the fallback position of the first team playing competitive matches at the site next
season, regardless of the outcome of this application, is a material
consideration. The club has provided statistics of the number of spectators
watching the first team over the last decade. The average attendance per
game was 77.5 and this has not varied substantially from season to season.
When the club was in the Hellenic Premier League the average attendance
was 78 spectators per game. This is not materially different from when the
club has competed in the lower Hellenic Division 1 East. It can therefore be
reasonably deduced that there would not be a significant increase in
attendances from the existing fall-back position if the first team are promoted
in the future. The applicant has also suggested that the use of the site for first
team matches wouldn’t be too different in visitor numbers from the level of
visitors all the junior teams that play on the site attract (players, parents,

19

spectators and officials).
11. The provision of the stand at Lowther Road would make watching the first
team more comfortable for spectators but it is not considered that this in itself
would result in a substantial increase in the attendance of home games.
12. It is considered that the greater area of the ground illuminated will allow for
larger training sessions and more teams to train at the site at any one time
than the current low level flood lights. Therefore more participants could visit
the site at any one time for training sessions as a result of the development.
The floodlights are only intended to illuminate the pitch and the potential to
the use the pitch for training will be limited due to the requirement of
preserving the main football pitch for the club.
Time
13. Moving on to consider the time aspect of the intensity of use. There are no
current restrictions prohibiting the times of the day the sports ground can be
used. The addition of the floodlights will allow the football pitch to be used
outside of normal daylight hours for competitive games and this will be
particularly appreciable in winter months. The site has some existing low level
flood lights along the south east and south west boundaries and it has been
advised that these are currently used for training sessions but are not
adequate to facilitate competitive games. The existing low level floodlights on
the site are not restricted by planning conditions. It is therefore considered
that the proposed floodlights would not extend the times that the site can be
used for training sessions. It is however acknowledged in the preceding
paragraph that the flood lights have the potential for more training sessions to
occur on the site at any one time and could attract a greater number of
visitors.
14. The club intends to use the floodlights no later than 7 pm on Saturdays and
10 pm for midweek matches. The club proposes that there will be a maximum
of 20 floodlit midweek games per annum, which is relatively few considering
there are 260 ‘midweek’ days in a calendar year. The proposed development
will therefore allow the site to be used for competitive matches at later times.
Activity
15. The type of activity the proposed development will facilitate could affect the
‘intensity’ of the use of the site. As aforementioned, the proposed first team
will play on the site next season regardless of the outcome of this application
and this is the fall-back position. The proposed development will however
allow the first team to play on the site should they get promoted back into the
Hellenic Premier League. It is not considered that entering a higher league
will result in a significant change in the type of activity occurring on the site.
The site will be used as outdoor sports pitch (falling within a D2 use class) for
a local amateur sport team.
16. Whilst it would be logical to assume playing in a higher league would attract a
greater of number of spectators, the statistics show that there was no material
difference in average attendances from when the first team played in the

20

Hellenic Premier League and Hellenic Division 1 East. The improvement of
the flooding lights on the site will also allow for larger areas of the sports
ground to be used for training sessions outside normal daylight hours and this
could change the nature of the activity occurring on the site.
Development
17. It is reasonable to assume that an increase in the amount of development on
a site can result in a perceived intensification of the use of the land. The most
prominent works will be the proposed flood lights and the stand. It is therefore
considered that there would be a perceived intensification of the use of the
site by reason of the additional built form on the land. This impact is
considered in further detail in the ‘Design and impact on character and
appearance of the area’ section of this report.
18. In summary, referring to the key elements that contribute to an intensity of use
(visitors, time, activity and development), there would be some intensification
of the use of the site from the lawful and likely fall-back position. It is
considered that there would not be a significant increase in visitors for
competitive games as a result of the development, based on the attendance
statistics submitted. There could be some increase in individuals attending the
site for training sessions under the flood lights. There would be an increase in
the potential hours the site can be used for competitive games due to the
proposed flood lights. The type of activity occurring at the site would not
materially change as a result of the development. The increase in
development on the site would result in a perception of increased activity.
Design and impact on character and appearance of the area
19. Policy CS1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be
granted for development proposals that ‘maintain or enhance the high quality
of the environment’. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning
permission will be granted if development is ‘of an appropriate scale of
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area
together with a high quality of design without detriment to the amenities of
adjoining land users including open spaces or occupiers and their quality of
life’.
20. The application seeks the erection of a covered stand, flood lights, car park
facility, barriers around the pitch and a footpath.
21. The proposed development includes the erection of a stand with a total
capacity for 200 spectators (100 seating & 100 standing). The stand will be
approximately 3 metres high and 21 metres wide. It will be located towards
the southern corner of the site which is partially screened to the south west by
a railway line with planting along the boundary and a belt of mature trees to
the south east. A row of trees and planting along Old Forest Road will
intermittently screen the stand from views to the north. The eastern part of the
site is visually open and the stand will be visible from views along this section
of Lowther Road. The stand will be relatively low and the profile will not break
the skyline. Given the size and siting of the proposed stand, it is considered
that the visual impact of this feature will be contained within the site.

21

22. It is proposed to erect 5 flood lighting columns around the football pitch. 3 will
be 14 metres in height and 2 will be 18 metres in height. The 3 floodlights to
the south of the pitch will be 14 metres high and will be set amongst the back
drop of the mature trees along the southern boundary. The 2 floodlights to the
north of the pitch will be located at the corners and will be 18 metres in height.
The layout of the lighting columns has been designed so that the cricket pitch
is not affected. The two lighting columns to the north are higher so that the
illumination spread covers the relevant sections of the football pitch without
the requirement for a central floodlight that would obstruct the cricket pitch.
The floodlight nearest the railway track will be partially set amongst a
backdrop of trees and planting. Notwithstanding this, the lighting column will
breach the horizon. The other 18 metre high floodlight located at the Lowther
Road corner of the pitch will have limited visual screening: it will be a
prominent feature from the public realm.
23. The proposed footpath from the clubhouse around the site will be finished
with artificial turf and it is considered that this feature will have negligible
visual impact. The proposed carpark is intended to be surfaced with mesh
material that will allow grass to grow in between the gaps, minimising the
visual impact of this part of the proposal. Cars currently park along the
surrounding roads and informally on the eastern part of the site. The provision
of an additional formal car parking facility will have the benefit of rationalising
the current informal parking arrangements and reducing the associated visual
impact of on road parking.
24. The proposed development, particularly the floodlights will impact the
character and appearance of the area. The site is within a Major Development
Location in the defined settlement limits of Wokingham where major
development is broadly directed to. The area has no special designation and
floodlit sports pitches are not uncommon facilities within defined settlement
boundaries and even in countryside locations. On balance, it is considered
that there would be some harm on the character and appearance of the area
as a result of the development.
Impact on Neighbours
25. As aforementioned, the football pitch is in situ and can be used by the first XI
football team regardless of this application. It is considered that the proposed
development will not result in a significant increase in the number of
spectators watching the first team.
26. The proposed floodlights are intended to facilitate 20 midweek competitive
games per year up until 10pm. The pitch cannot be used for evening games
in winter months and therefore the proposed use will introduce more noise
and disturbance during the proposed midweek games. The proposed number
of midweek games will result in relatively few occurrences throughout the
year. The World Health Organisation guidance ‘Night Noise Guidelines for
Europe’ states that the night is usually eight hours between 23.00 – 7.00. The
pitch is proposed to be used until 10pm which is outside of the above
definition of night-time. The Environmental Health Team has considered the
application and has not raised any objection regarding noise and disturbance

22

as a result of the proposed development.
27. The proposed floodlights will be directed towards the football pitch and
Information has been submitted depicting the light spill. The Environmental
Health Team has considered this information and advised that there will be
minimal light overspill as a result of the proposed floodlights.
28. The proposed development will not result in any detrimental loss of light, loss
of privacy or overbearing impact to the neighbouring residents.
29. It is considered that relative to the existing and ‘fall-back’ position, the
proposed development will not have a significant impact on the amenity of the
occupiers of the neighbouring properties subject to conditions to restrict the
intensity of use and hours of operation (condition 7).
Highways and parking
30. The applicant has reasoned that there would be no increase in the intensity of
the use of the site due to the current use of the pitches. Whilst the report
considers that there will be some increase in the intensity of the usage of the
site, this is not considered to be substantially over and above the ‘fall-back’
position.
31. The access to the site is in situ and it is considered that this will continue to be
used. It has been advised that the parking capacity on the site will increase
from 50 to 70. There is an existing parking area near the clubhouse and land
adjacent to the site entrance is formally used for informal parking. The
intention is to formalise this informal parking area by laying Proteca Mesh and
extending it. Protecta Mesh is a heavy duty, slip resistant polyethylene grid
that has an open, wavy structure, allowing grass to grow through and water to
drain away whilst providing a stable structure for vehicles and pedestrians. In
doing this, it is hoped that the parking on site can be used more consistently,
especially in times of poor weather when the existing informal space is not
suitable for car parking, thus reducing pressure on on-street parking.
32. The application site is within a sustainable location in the defined settlement
limits of Wokingham and is close to the A329 (Reading Road) which has good
public transport links.
33. The Highway Engineer has considered the proposed development and raises
no objection regarding highway safety subject to condition 4.
Trees and Landscaping
34. Elements of the development are close to mature trees but none of the works
would result in a significant incursion into the Root Protection Area (RPA) of
the surrounding trees. It is considered that condition 7 is sufficient to ensure
that no trees are detrimentally harmed as a result of the proposal.
35. The entrance is in situ and it is not proposed to remove any of the planting
around the periphery of the site. It is considered that the proposed
development will have a satisfactory impact on the existing trees.

23

Drainage and Flooding
36. The application site is in Flood Zone 1 where there is a low risk of fluvial
flooding. There are areas with a medium to low risk of surface water flooding
along Lowther Road, Old Forest Road and at the entrance of the site. No
substantial areas of hard surfacing are proposed and the carpark is to be
constructed from a porous material. The access track and entrance are in
situ. It is not considered that the proposed development will increase surface
water run-off from the site or result in any other flooding implications.
Biodiversity and Ecology
37. The site is within 500 metres of a known great crested newt breeding pond
but it is considered that the scale and scope of the development makes it
unlikely that this proposal would adversely affect the local great crested newt
population. The Ecologist raises no objection subject to recommended
informative 2.
38. The application site is immediately adjacent to the railway line and within
150m of three bat roosts that have been identified from other planning
applications. Two of these applications back on to the railway line and it is
suspected that this is their main commuting foraging route. Bats are a light
sensitive species and some are known to avoid areas lit by artificial light. The
ecologist has raised a concern regarding the impact of the lighting on bats.
The critical time for bats being affect by artificial light is from May to August as
they are less active in winter months.
39. The hours of illumination, the type of light and the level of baffling can mitigate
the impact on light sensitive species. The most active period for bats (May –
August) mainly falls outside of the football season. The proposed use of the
floodlights for competitive games would not be frequent (see condition 7) or
extend significantly into the night time. Given the frequency of use, it is not
considered that the proposed development would have a detrimental impact
on the local bat population.
Other Matters
40. Reference has been made in neighbour objection letters to a variety of issues
that are considered below.
41. It has been outlined that the site was given as a Deed of Gift to the local
community. Any covenant on the site is a civil matter between the relevant
parties and the outcome of this application does not override any legal
restrictions separately imposed on the land. This is not a material
consideration.
42. Objection letters have raised a concern that the lease to the club states an
obligation to provide a variety of amateur sporting activities on the site. The
lease agreement between Wokingham Borough Council and the lease holder
is also separate matter and this planning application would not override any
restriction imposed by the lease. Notwithstanding this, the club has confirmed
that it does not pay its first team players and is therefore an amateur sports

24

team. The proposed development will still maintain the use of the site for
cricket and will not prohibit any of the sporting activities that currently occur on
the land.
43. Objection letters have raised concerns regarding disabled access onto the
site. The proposed development around the pitch will improve access for
disabled persons due to the hard surface. In addition, condition 4 secures the
provision of disabled parking bays in a formal layout to the car park.
44. Objections have been raised relating to an increase in rubbish on the site.
Condition 9 is recommended to ensure that rubbish bins are provided.
45. The sustainability of the site for the long term development of the football club
has been raised. The applicant has advised that there is no intension for the
first team to compete higher than the Hellenic Premier League. Additional
development at the site would likely require the benefit of planning
permission. In addition, condition 10 is recommended to ensure the site is not
used more intensively for higher league football matches.
46. A concern has been raised regarding the energy consumption/efficiency of
the floodlights. It is considered that the benefits of the scheme would
outweigh the environmental impact. Furthermore the floodlights would only be
turned on at specific times.
47. Objections have been raised regarding glare from the floodlights to motorists
and train drivers. The applicant will have to enter into a separate agreement
with Network Rail to ensure the floodlights do not impact driver visibility (see
informative 3). The Highway Engineer has raised no objection regarding glare
to motorists.
48. Objection letters have raised concerns over what would happen should the
sports club vacate the site. On balance, the development is considered to be
acceptable for the reasons set out in this report and there would be no
detrimental impact should the site remain in situ once the proposed
development is erected. The D2 use class of the site has not change and it
will still bring about the social benefits of a local sports facility, even if the club
move elsewhere. The site is leased by Wokingham Borough Council and this
gives the Council control over the future of the land should the sports club
vacate the site.
49. The erection of a proposed fence along the boundary of the site has been
removed from the proposed development.

4.0 CONCLUSION
The proposed development will not result in a material change of use of the land and
will involve the improvement of local sports facilities and this is supported by the
development plan policies. The intensification of the use of the site as a result of the
development would not be unacceptable in principle in a major development location.
The proposed development, in particular the floodlight columns will be prominent
features within the immediate setting of the sports ground and there would be some

25

harm to the character and appearance of the area. The Environmental Health Team has
raised no objection to the proposed development and the use of the site will be
controlled by conditions. The proposal would have an acceptable impact on highway
safety and will be served by adequate levels of parking. The mature trees in the locality
will be retained. The proposed development will have an acceptable impact with regard
to ecology and drainage & flooding. On balance, given the improved level of sporting
and leisure facilities, it is considered that the benefits of the proposed development will
outweigh the impacts of the proposal and the application is accordingly recommended
for approval subject to conditions.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

26

27

This page is intentionally left blank

29

This page is intentionally left blank

31

32

33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 24.
Development
Management
Ref No
161191
Applicant
Location
Proposal

No weeks on
day of
committee
10/12

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield South

Major
Development

Great Lea Farm, Great Lea, Pingewood, Three Postcode RG7 1JL
Mile Cross
Conversion of Unit A to provide a single storey building; demolition and
redevelopment of Unit B to provide a two storey building; demolition and
redevelopment of Unit C to provide a two storey building ; conversion
and extension to Units D and E to provide single storey buildings and
single storey extensions to form new court yard; conversion of Unit F to
provide a single storey building; demolition and redevelopment of Unit G
to provide a two storey building ; conversion of Unit H to provide a two
storey building; conversion of Unit J to provide a single storey building;
part demolition and conversion of Unit K to provide a single storey
building; conversion of Unit L to provide a single storey building and part
demolition and conversion of Unit M to provide a single storey building
(with the inclusion of a mezzanine floor) to create 2,335 sqm (measured
internally) of B1(a) floorspace . Creation of on-site vehicle and cycle
parking areas (including provision of disabled parking) and internal site
roads; provision of new vehicle, pedestrian and cycle access to Great
Lea; provision of detailed on and off-site landscaping, boundary
treatments and other associated works

Type
Major
PS Category 2
Officer
Laura Callan
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20 July 2016
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The development proposes the conversion of a group of redundant farm buildings (part
of which is in use at present as a fencing and joinery business to create 2,335sqm of B1
a Office Space. A number of the farm buildings are dilapidated and in need of
demolition and the overall increase in floorspace measures 210sqm. However a large
proportion of the development is considered to be new build/replacement floorspace
given that some of the buildings are not suitable for conversion or are tantamount to
new buildings given the level of structural development required.
The proposal seeks to retain a number of the existing structures (mostly the brick and
tile structures) and proposes to retain parts of some of the existing barn buildings
proposing substantial redevelopment and conversion to make the buildings fit for
purpose.
The conversion and redevelopment of the site was allowed at Appeal dated 24 July

35

2013 however the approved development has not been implemented. This permission
seeks approval of an almost identical scheme, with the exception of there no longer
being a requirement to implement a footpath on Mereoak Lane as this has already been
constructed to serve the nearby Mereoak Park and Ride and a legal agreement is no
longer required to secure contributions to transport infrastructure improvements, given
that Office development is not CIL liable.
The appeal decision carries significant weight in the determination of this application
given that national and local planning policies have not changed substantially since the
appeal was allowed in line with the appeals decision. It is therefore considered that the
development would not unacceptably harm the character of the countryside, would not
result in unacceptable impacts upon the highway network and would preserve the
character and special qualities of the listed building adjacent to the site.
Accordingly the recommendation is that planning permission be granted subject to
conditions to secure an acceptable planting scheme to integrate and enhance the
development, the provision of a new access and parking, submission of a travel plan
and implementation of ecological enhancements (as per the appeal decision).

PLANNING STATUS




Adjacent to Great Lea Farm House Grade II Listed Building
Within South of M4 Strategic Development Location
Countryside (outside of development limits)

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the Grant Planning Permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:
1.The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered ENG/L02 rev A, ENG S01, ENK P01 – P09 inclusive, P10 rev C, P11 rev A,
ASA-368-DR-001, ASA – 368-DR-002A & ASA-368-DR-003 received by the Local
Planning Authority on 11 May 2016. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building/s
(including cladding, rainwater goods doors and windows and materials for any

36

reinstatement works) shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in accordance
with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.
4. No development, including any works of demolition or ground preparation, shall
commence until a programme of archaeological work (which may include more than one
phase of work) in accordance with a written scheme of investigation has first have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the works shall
be undertaken in accordance with agreed details. .
Reason: In the interests of archaeology and in accordance with Policy TB25 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan 2014.
5. No development shall take place until a phasing programme has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The phasing programme shall
cover the following matters:
i) Implementation of measures to protect those trees and hedges to be retained, in
accordance with the approved plans and an arboricultural report and method statement
to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing
ii) provision of the new vehicular access and driveway, alterations to the existing access
driveway and associated works;
iii) sequence of demolition, conversion/redevelopment and new building works;
iv) provision of car parking spaces and cycle/motorcycle parking facilities;
v) provision of hard and soft landscaping, in accordance with the approved plans and
the additional details approved
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing programme.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities and character of the countryside in accordance
with Core Strategy Policy CP3.
6. Prior to commencement of the development a detailed scheme to provide the
following compensation and wildlife enhancements measures:
a) At least eight bat roost features – woodcrete boxes or appropriate features
integrated into the buildings – in suitable locations that will not be subject to
artificial lighting or disturbance,
b) At least six artificial barn swallow nests, and
c) At least ten other woodcrete bird boxes for a variety of species,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
measures contained within the plan shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To maintain favourable conservation status of the site for protected species
and secure wildlife enhancements within the course of the development, as appropriate
under the NPPF.
7. No development shall take place until additional details have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, to supplement the landscaping
scheme indicated on the approved plans drawing no.s ASA-386-DR-002A, 001 and
003. The details shall include the numbers and positions of new trees, shrubs and
hedging plants, and the materials to be used for paved/hard-surfaced areas (including
parking spaces).

37

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and character of the countryside in
accordance with Policy CCO3 and TB21 of the Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan 2014.
8. a) Notwithstanding the submitted Arboricultural Method Statement or approved plans,
no development or other operation shall commence on site until an Arboricultural
Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the retention and
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in accordance
with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. No development or other operations shall take place except in complete
accordance with the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the Approved
Scheme).
b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works required by
the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or
machinery, parking of vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or
disposal of liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has first
been sought and obtained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and character of the countryside in
accordance with the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan Policy CC03.
9. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, domestic
gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and character of the countryside in
accordance with the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan Policy CC03.
10. No works including any works of demolition to existing 'building g' (as identified on
drawing no. ENG/S07) shall take place until a detailed record has been made of the
building in the form of 1:50 survey plans and elevations together with black and white
photographs of all elevations and of typical interior details, and this record has been
submitted to the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the historic significance of the building in
accordance with the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and Policy TB24 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan.
11. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of vehicle parking and

38

turning spaces within the site (allowing vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave
the site in a forward gear) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall not be occupied until the turning space has
been provided in full accordance with the approved details. The parking and turning
spaces shall thereafter be so-retained and shall be used for no other purpose.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CC07 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan 2014.
12. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted details of secure and
covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of [and visitors to] the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with such
details as may be approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted,
and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and
used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
13. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, details of the proposed vehicular
access to include visibility splays. The access shall be formed as so-approved and the
visibility splays shall be cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height prior
to the occupation of the development. The access shall be retained in accordance with
the approved details and used for no other purpose and the land within the visibility
splays shall be maintained clear of any visual obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in
height at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
14. No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a
permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a distance of
10 metres measured from the carriageway edge.
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of road
safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.
15. No other development of the site as hereby approved shall take place until the
access has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To ensure adequate access into the site for vehicles, plant and deliveries
associated with the development in the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
16. The existing vehicular access(es) to the site shall be stopped up and abandoned,
and the footway and/or verge crossings shall be re-instated within one month of the
completion of the new access(es) in accordance with details to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
17. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of roads

39

and footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, depths of construction,
surface water drainage and lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The roads and footways shall be constructed in accordance
with the approved details to road base level before the development is occupied and the
final wearing course will be provided within 3 months of occupation, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
18. Prior to the commencement of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include a
programme of implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of transport
to and from the site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic review. The
travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4
(Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policy CP6.
19. No walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected on the site other than
in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and character of the countryside in
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CP3.
20. No external lighting shall be installed on the site or buildings other than in
accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities and character of the area in accordance with
Core Strategy Policy CP3.
21. :Prior to the commencement of development details of BRE 365 soakage test
results and greenfield or existing runoff rates have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the protection from flood risk on or off site in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).
22. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of how the
proposed maintenance of the SuDS will be carried out throughout the lifetime of the
development and who will be responsible for it shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the protection from flood risk in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework (2012).
23. Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than
that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of contamination
remediation must not commence until conditions A – D (below) have been complied
with. If unexpected contamination is found after development has commenced,
development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected

40

contamination, to the extent specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority, until
there is compliance with condition D (below)
A Site Characterisation
An up-to-date investigation and risk assessment shall be completed in accordance with
a scheme that has been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority to assess the nature and extent of contamination on the site, whether or not it
originates at the site. (This is in addition to any assessment that may have been
provided with the planning application) The investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be submitted
to the local planning authority for approval. The report of the findings must include:
(i)
An up-to-date survey of the extent, scale and nature of the contamination;
(ii)
an assessment of the potential risks to:
a) human health;
b) property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland and services and pipework;
c) adjoining land;
d) groundwater and surface waters;
e) ecological systems;
f) archaeological sites and ancient monuments
(iii)
an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option
(N.B.. The assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the
Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination
CLR11.)
B Submission of a remediation scheme
A detailed remediation scheme that describes how the site will be made suitable for the
intended use must be submitted to the local planning authority for written approval. The
remediation scheme shall include, the proposed remediation objectives and remediation
criteria, details of all works to be undertaken, the timetable of works and site
management procedures. The remediation scheme shall ensure that the site cannot be
declared as being contaminated under Part 2Aof the Environmental Protection Act
1990, in relation to the intended use, after remediation works are completed.
C Implementation of the approved remediation scheme
The approved remediation scheme shall be implemented before other groundworks or
construction works commence unless a phased approach has been agreed as part of
the approved remediation scheme or unless written approval is given by the Local
Planning Authority. The applicant or contractor must give at least two weeks written
notice before remediation works commence. Following completion of remediation works
at the site, or upon completion of each phase a verification report shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for written approval.
D Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
If unexpected contamination is found at any time during development this shall be
reported in writing as soon as possible to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation
and risk assessment shall be carried out in accordance with the requirements of
condition A (above), and where remediation work is necessary a remediation scheme
must be prepared and submitted for written approval to the local planning authority, in
accordance with condition B (above) Following the completion of measures set out in

41

the approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to the local
planning authority in accordance with condition C.
Reason: To ensure that future users of the site are protected from the harmful effects of
contamination.
Informatives
1. The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local
guidance:
1) NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport)
2) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008) 3) Delivering Travel Plans
Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009)
4) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT)
5) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) All accessible at:
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/travelplans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-local-transport
Also:
WBC Transport Plan 3 and Active Travel Plan 2011 – 2026
WBC Workplace Travel Plan Guidance and Residential Travel Plan Guidance
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide local
guidance and are available on the Borough’s website.
2. The Head of Technical Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham
[0118 9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details
before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways). This
planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or works.
3. Thames Water advises that it will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure
of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in
the design of the proposed development.

PLANNING HISTORY
F/2012/0998

F/2011/0462
F/2003/0324
F/2003/0669

42837

Proposed Conversion and redevelopment to create 2,335sqm of
B1 (a) floorspace. Refused and Appeal Allowed (appeal decision
appended to this report)
Proposed conversion and redevelopment to create 2,381sqm of
B1 (a) floorspace. Refused 27.5.2011
Proposed change of use from agricultural land to store 2 lorries.
Retrospective. Refused 28.5.2004
Proposed change of use of part of farm buildings (630sqm) for
agricultural fencing and joinery business (B1 (c) and B8)
retrospective. Proposed new highway entrance. Granted
temporary consent until 30 September 2007.
(Retrospective) Use of redundant farm buildings

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Commercial

42

Site Area
Previous land use(s) and floorspace(s)
Proposed floorspace of each use(s)
Change in floorspace (+/-)
Number of jobs created
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces
Proposed Cycle Spaces

3.1 ha
2,215 sqm
2,335 sqm
+ 120 sqm
Estimated employment of 136-170
N/A
80
18

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Conservation Area
No objection subject to conditions 3 and 10
Officer:
Ecologist
No objection subject to a condition 6.
Landscape and Trees
No objection subject to conditions 7, 8 and 9.
Environmental Health
No objection subject to condition 23.
Highways
No objection subject to conditions 11-18 and informatives 1
and 2.
Drainage
No objection subject to conditions 21 and 22.
Archaeology
No objection subject to condition 4.
Environment Agency
No comment received.
Office For Nuclear
No objection.
Regulation
Royal Berks Fire &
Details of suitable private fire hydrants should be provided
Rescue
and detailed plans to be considered at Building Regulation
stage. .
Thames Water Utilities
No objection subject to an informative regarding water
Ltd
pressure informative no. 3.
REPRESENTATIONS
Shinfield Parish Council ‘Shinfield Parish Council supports this application to provide
a range of employment sites within the parish’
Local Members

No comment received

APPLICANTS POINTS
The applicant considers that the development makes sustainable and efficient use of
redundant land and dilapidated buildings creating flexible employment space and
contributing to the Boroughs economy. There would be visual and ecological benefits
arising from the proposed re-development through the proposed planting enhancements
and would preserve the historic significance of the farm buildings and the adjacent
designated heritage asset of Great Lea Farm House.

PLANNING POLICY
Policy Document

Policy
Policy Name
Number

43

National Policy

NPPF

Adopted Core Strategy
Development Plan Document
2010

CP1

CP3
CP4
CP6
CP7
CP11
Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

CC01
CC02
CC03
CC04
CC09

Supplementary Planning
Documents (SPD)

CC10
TB21
BDG

National Planning Policy
Framework
Sustainable Development

General Principles for Development
Infrastructure Requirements
Managing Travel Demand
Biodiversity
Proposals outside development
limits (including countryside)
Presumption in Favour of
Sustainable Development
Development Limits
Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping
Sustainable Design and
Construction
Development and Flood Risk (from
all sources)
Sustainable Drainage
Landscape Character
Borough Design Guide 2012

PLANNING ISSUES
Policy and Principle
1.There is an extant permission for conversion and redevelopment of the site as
proposed under this application which carries considerable weight in the determination
of this application. A copy of the appeal decision is appended to this report.
2.The Appeal Inspector found the development would not result in appreciable harm to
the rural character of the countryside and would offer benefits in terms of re-use of
existing buildings and providing a more certain future for buildings that form part of the
setting of a listed building which would contribute to the significance of the farmstead as
a whole. The creation of flexible employment space within a reasonably accessible
location was also considered to be a significant economic benefit and the Inspector
considered that there would be no conflict with Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 or
CP11 in these respects.
3.Since the Appeal was allowed, there have not been any significant local or national
planning policy changes and given that the the scheme is very similar to the appeal
scheme, the development is considered to be acceptable in principle.
Impact upon the character of the area/countryside
4.The current proposal is almost identical to the proposal allowed at appeal. It
comprises of the replacement, conversion and reconstruction of some of the buildings

44

with extensions and alterations. In summary:











Building A is to be part retained and reconstructed
Building B is to be demolished and replaced
Building C is to be demolished and replaced
Unit D is to be retained and extended to join unit E and F
Unit G demolished and replaced
Unit H to be retained and converted
Unit J to be retained and converted
Unit K to be part demolished and part converted and extended
Unit L to be retained and converted
Unit M frame to be retained where possible but likely that significant alterations
and new build would be required to achieve a new building

5.Since the appeal decision unit G has further deteriorated and it is recommended that it
be demolished as soon as possible as any collapse or partial collapse could affect users
of the access to the site, however Unit G was always intended to be completely
demolished and replaced. Some of the other buildings have also deteriorated since the
appeal, but a structural survey has shown that those identified as being able to be part
retained and converted can still be achieved.
6.The applicant has submitted an updated landscape and visual impact assessment
which identifies the area as being of low to medium sensitivity. The site is considered to
be part of a transitional landscape bordering between the urban and rural.
7 in line with the Planning Inspector’s conclusions, the conversion and re-development,
although large scale, is considered to be sensitive to the historic agricultural use of the
site and there are no in-principle objections to the scheme subject to achieving a
suitable planting plan of native species in appropriate locations, to be approved by
conditions (no.s 7,8 and 9).
Impact upon Heritage Assets
8.Great Lea Farmhouse is a Grade II Listed building. The conversions would retain the
character of the traditional farmstead group of buildings and would not harm the
character or setting of the adjacent Farmhouse. The loss of building G is regrettable but
it is beyond repair and conversion. A condition (no.10) is recommended to ensure a
record of the building is taken and submitted to the Local Planning Authority.
Impact upon Ecology and Protected Species
9.The applicant has submitted recent survey work on the existing buildings which
indicates that the number of buildings used by bats has increased from two to five and
the Councils Ecologist has commented that this quantitative difference should be
acknowledged in the mitigation compensation and enhancement strategy for bats. The
submitted ecological information is limited in quality and ability to inform the ecological
interpretation of the site, however the Councils Ecologist is minded to agree that there is
a more substantial bat roost off-site in the farmhouse. From the submitted evidence the
likely use of the existing buildings are to be considered of low conservation significance.

45

10.None of the identified roosts are to be retained and therefore in considering whether
favourable conservation significance will be maintained it is necessary to consider the
level of compensation proposed. The applicant has not submitted detailed
compensation measures which would normally be a requirement for this circumstance.
However, given the site history and the extant planning consent it is considered that on
this occasion it is reasonable and necessary for a condition (no. 6) to be imposed
detailing the amount of the expected mitigation and ecological enhancement measures.
11.Subject to this condition, it is considered that the favourable conservation status of a
protected species can be maintained and appropriate wildlife enhancements carried out
in accordance with the NPPF and Policy TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan.
Traffic, Movement and Highway Safety
12.The Highway Officer is satisfied that the development would not unacceptably impact
upon traffic within the area. Since the previous application the Mereoak Park and Ride
Scheme is operational and is within walking distance of the site. The improvements
relating to the park and ride scheme result in an attractive walking route to bus services
that could serve the development. There are 4-5 buses an hour Monday to Friday from
the park and ride to Reading train station.
13. The enhancements proposed to the pedestrian network under the scheme allowed
at appeal (to be secured via condition 7 of the appeal decision) are no longer required
as new footpaths and road layout is already in place.
14. The proposed parking is below the maximum standards but the Appeal Inspector
considered that the parking provision was acceptable. However, a condition (no.11) is
recommended to secure revisions to the layout to provide a better distribution of parking
spaces throughout the site.
15.It is proposed to relocate the access road away from the junction of Great Lea and
Mereoak Lane which is welcomed. The Highway Officer is satisfied that a new access
could be achieved and must be delivered through a s278 agreement to council
standards. The new access would need to be stopped up and full details of tracking
and visibility spays for the new junction would need to be submitted and are to be
secured by conditions (no.s 13, 14,15, 16 and 17).
16.The Highway Officer has also recommended conditions to secure further details of
cycle parking (no.12) and a travel plan (condition no. 18) in the interests of promoting
sustainable transport measures.
Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity
17.The site is situated immediately adjoining the residential dwelling and curtilage of
Great Lea Farmhouse. The character of the land would significantly alter as a result of
the re-development however the site proposes office use which is compatible with a
neighbouring residential use. The demolition and replacement of unit G which is closest
to the dwelling would not result in an increase in height overall but would result in some

46

small windows in the end elevations resulting in some increased visibility toward the
farmhouse. It is considered that this would not result in an unacceptable loss of amenity
to this dwelling and the Appeal Inspector also found there to be no conflicts with
neighbouring amenity as a result of the rest of the proposal. There are other dwellings
within the vicinity but given the distance from these units where would be no
unacceptable impacts.
Atomic Weapons Establishment Burghfield
18.The Office for Nuclear Regulation has confirmed that the development can be
adequately accommodated within the off-site emergency planning arrangements in the
unlikely event that a nuclear emergency should occur. The proposal would therefore
accord with Policy TB04 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document.
Archaeology
19.To ensure that any archaeological remains within the site are adequately
investigated and recorded or preserved in situ a condition (no. 4) is recommended to
secure a programme of archaeological work.
Drainage
20.The site is situated within Flood Zone 1 and an acceptable flood risk assessment has
been submitted. Conditions 21 and 22 are recommended to secure further details
regarding soakage test results and greenfield existing run off rates are submitted to the
local planning authority for approval along with a statement detailing how maintenance
of the sustainable urban drainage system will be carried out throughout the lifetime of
the development and who will be responsible for it.
Contamination
21.An assessment of the land for contamination has been carried out and has identified
potential sources of contamination. The submitted report is comprehensive but
relatively dated being nearly 6 years old and it is considered possible that other
potentially contaminative activities could have taken place on the site in the last 6 years
since the report was written, which may affect the specific proposals outlined for the
Phase 2 investigation. Therefore the Environmental Health Team has recommended a
condition (no.23) to secure updated and further investigation to be submitted to the local
planning authority for approval.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
22.The development allowed at appeal also secured a contribution to transportation
infrastructure improvements in the vicinity of the application site through a unilateral
undertaking. Since this time the community infrastructure levy has been implemented
by the Council (2015). Under the CIL charging schedule, the creation of office space
does not attract a charge.

47

CONCLUSION
23.The development is very similar to that allowed at appeal in 2012 and there have
been no significant material change in circumstances or the policy position since this
decision. In line with the Planning Inspector’s decision, it is considered that the
development would not result in appreciable harm to the rural character of the
countryside and there would be no conflict with Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 or
CP11 in these respects. The development would offer benefits in terms of re-use of
existing buildings, a more certain future for buildings that form part of the setting of a
listed building and the creation of flexible employment space within a reasonably
accessible location that would contribute positively to the Boroughs economy. The
development is therefore considered to represent sustainable development in
accordance with Local Plan Policies and the NPPF and the development is
recommended for approval subject to conditions.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

48

Appeal Decision
Hearing held and site visit made on 18 June 2013
by Jane Miles BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 24 July 2013

Appeal Ref: APP/X0360/A/13/2192124
Great Lea Farm, Great Lea, Three Mile Cross, Reading RG7 1JL
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr A Blacknell of the Englefield Estate against the decision of
Wokingham Borough Council.
The application ref: F/2012/0998, dated 10 May 2012, was refused by notice dated
8 August 2012.
The development is proposed conversion and redevelopment of units A, D, E, F, H, J, K,
L and M and change of use to B1(a) with creation of a mezzanine floor in unit M and
single storey extensions to units D and E to form an enclosed courtyard; proposed
demolition and replacement of buildings B, C and G with 3no. two storey buildings for
B1(a) use; total proposed B1(a) floorspace of 2,335sqm (measured internally); creation
of vehicle and cycle parking areas, internal site roads, new access, pedestrian footway,
provision of on and off site landscaping and other associated works.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the proposed
conversion and redevelopment of units A, D, E, F, H, J, K, L and M and change
of use to B1(a) with creation of a mezzanine floor in unit M and single storey
extensions to units D and E to form an enclosed courtyard; proposed
demolition and replacement of buildings B, C and G with 3no. two storey
buildings for B1(a) use; total proposed B1(a) floorspace of 2,335sqm
(measured internally); creation of vehicle and cycle parking areas, internal site
roads, new access, pedestrian footway, provision of on and off site landscaping
and other associated works, all at Great Lea Farm, Great Lea, Three Mile Cross,
Reading RG7 1JL, in accordance with the terms of the application, ref:
F/2012/0998, dated 10 May 2012, subject to the conditions listed at the end of
this decision.
Preliminary Matters
2. I have used the development description from the Council’s refusal notice,
which varies slightly from that on the application form, on the basis that it has
been used from the outset by the Council, is accepted by the appellant and,
also, is consistent with the completed unilateral undertaking submitted by the
appellant. The Council confirmed at the hearing that the undertaking, which
provides for a contribution towards transportation infrastructure improvements,
satisfactorily addresses its requirements in this respect. I have taken it into
account, being satisfied that it meets the tests for planning obligations set out
in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.

49

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

Reasons
Background and main issue
3. A substantial group of former farm buildings, many now disused and/or in poor
condition, form the principal part of the appeal site. The site also includes a
wedge of open land to the east, containing the existing access lane together
with space to accommodate a proposed new vehicular access route and other
services. Outside the appeal site, but adjoining part of its northern boundary,
is the Grade II listed farmhouse which, I understand, is let separately for
residential use. This and the open agricultural land around the northern,
western and southern sides of the appeal site are all within the Englefield
Estate’s ownership.
4. A previous scheme for a similar development was refused by the Council in
May 2011. The current appeal scheme, accompanied by a comprehensive set
of supporting documents, seeks to address the Council’s reasons for refusing
the 2011 scheme. Since 2011 the National Planning Policy Framework has
come into effect and, more recently, the South East Plan has ceased to be part
of the development plan. Thus the development plan includes a Core Strategy1
(CS) and some saved policies of the Wokingham District Local Plan, albeit in
this case the Council relies primarily on the CS.
5. Taking account of the above and the Council’s reasons for refusing the current
proposal, the main issue in this case is whether the proposed development is
appropriate in this location, having regard to the development plan and the
Framework in relation to three principal matters: the proposal’s effect on the
character and appearance of the surrounding area; the sustainability of the
location; the proposal’s benefits.
Character and appearance
6. The essence of the Council’s case in this respect is that the scale of the
proposed development would result in an unacceptable urbanising impact on
the rural character of its surroundings. The refusal reason goes on to suggest
this would be contrary to CS Policy CP11’s aim of protecting the separate
identity of settlements. However, as the proposal would not extend the
existing building complex closer to any existing settlement, I find no conflict
with this aim of Policy CP11.
7. Existing buildings and structures in the farm complex range from older and
relatively small-scale brick buildings (no longer suitable for modern agricultural
use) through to larger-scale buildings. The latter include an old and mainly
timber-clad barn and more modern dutch barn structures that are mainly (but
not wholly) open-sided. The appeal proposal would involve the renovation and
conversion of some buildings and the replacement of others, together with two
small extensions (to link units D and E) and the permanent removal of some
elements of existing buildings.
8. I note the building-by-building assessment in the Council officers’ report (at the
application stage) and appreciate that replacing open barns with new buildings
could be seen as intensifying the amount of built development on a site, even
when they would be of similar height and footprint. However, as open-sided
barns can be entirely filled with straw or other items when in agricultural use,
1

The Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted in 2010)

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

2
50

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

they can still have a relatively solid form at times. Moreover, on this site,
some of the barns have elements of cladding to the sides, and all are integral
parts of a cohesive group of buildings. This grouping would remain more or
less unchanged as would, on the whole, the mass and heights of the buildings.
In only one instance (Building M) would there be any appreciable increase in
height, and this would apply only to a relatively small part of the roof structure.
In practice, the net effect of the scheme would be a reduction in total building
volume and footprint.
9. In addition the designs incorporate sensitive use of materials, fenestration and
other detailing which would all help to retain the essentially agricultural
character of the existing building group, especially in views towards the site
from public viewpoints. This would be the case notwithstanding the more solid
nature of the barn replacements and that some buildings would have two floors
of accommodation. I therefore entirely agree with the Council Conservation
Officer’s findings that the group of converted and new buildings would remain
legible as a former farmstead, preserving the setting of the listed farmhouse
and the significance of the farmstead as a whole.
10. The Council’s Landscape Architect reached a similar conclusion, noting that the
proposed design would essentially retain the character of the traditional
farmstead. She also noted that materials for the roads would be ‘visually low
key and fitting for the rural location’. In addition to these internal routes
around the buildings, some 80 car parking spaces would be provided in small
groups, mainly around the site perimeter. However, existing trees and hedging
already screen the lower parts of most existing buildings in views from outside
the site, and additional landscaping is proposed as part of the development
(including on surrounding land in the appellant’s ownership). These features
would not therefore be significant in terms of their visual impact.
11. Taking account of all the above, I find there would be no significant or harmful
increase in the scale of development in terms of built form on the site, nor any
encroachment into the countryside. Having regard also to the key landscape
characteristics of the appeal site locality2 and the findings of the appellant’s
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)3, I find that there would be no
appreciable harm to the area’s rural character as a result of the development’s
physical appearance.
12. With regard to character, from discussion at the hearing it would appear that
the Council is at least as concerned about the impacts of the proposed use as
about the visual impact of changes to the built form. I accept that a change to
Class B1(a) use could result in a more intensive use of the site, in terms of
people, vehicles and activity on the site and the associated comings and
goings. Indeed, the Council’s concern about the urbanising effect of the scale
of development as proposed makes more sense in this context.
13. However, although there is continuous open countryside to the west and southwest of the appeal site, such that it is in an area categorised as ‘rural’ rather
than ‘transitional’ in the appellant’s own LVIA, the site is not in an isolated or
tranquil rural area. It is on the urban fringe, close to the M4 and the A33 dual
carriageway, which meet at Junction 11, and also to the southern edge of
Reading and to small villages to the east of the A33. Some noise and activity
2
3

As identified by the Council, from its own Landscape Character Assessment
Which are not disputed by the Council

51

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

3

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

from these busy roads is noticeable on the appeal site now and, with new
housing being built nearby (on the east side of the A33) and the Mereoak ‘park
and ride’ proposed even closer (on the west side of the A33), these urban
influences are likely to become ever stronger. In this wider context, I find it
unlikely that the effects of any increased activity and movement as a result of
the appeal proposal would detract to any significant degree from the area’s
established character.
14. Maintaining the quality of the environment is another aim of CS Policy CP114,
and in this it is broadly consistent with policy guidance in the Framework.
Despite the Council’s views to the contrary, I find this proposal to be a high
quality design, sensitive to its rural setting. It would also at least preserve the
setting of the adjacent listed farmhouse and bring about some environmental
improvement5 by giving a new lease of life to existing buildings and by
enhancing the surrounding countryside’s wider landscape character.
15. I conclude therefore that the proposal would not cause any appreciable harm to
the rural character of the countryside, and that there would be no conflict with
CS Policies CP1, CP3 and CP11, or with the Framework, in terms of character,
design and appearance.
Whether or not a sustainable location
16. The criteria in Policy CP11 generally amount to a more restrictive approach to
development in rural areas than the Framework. Paragraph 28 of the latter
promotes a positive approach to sustainable new development, and expects
support for ‘the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and
enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well
designed new buildings’. The Council’s second refusal reason suggests the
appeal proposal would not represent sustainable development solely because of
its location even though, as acknowledged at the hearing, there are three
dimensions to sustainable development as defined in the Framework.
17. In terms of location, I have already referred to the site’s proximity to major
transport routes, nearby urban/residential areas and the proposed park and
ride facility. I heard about, and saw for myself, the relatively recent works to
Junction 11 and the A33 to improve facilities for cyclists and pedestrians.
These include a signal-controlled crossing of the A33, and a lit route for
pedestrians and cyclists which extends almost to the start of the existing lane
to the farm. Together these facilities provide a link to residential areas to the
east of the A33 which, as I understand it, has been created in anticipation of
the park and ride scheme and also significant amounts of new housing in the
‘South of the M4 Strategic Development Location’ (SDL) which is part of the
development strategy for the Borough6.
18. The Council maintained at the hearing that provision of the park and ride
scheme is not yet guaranteed. It is however promoted in CS Policies CP10 and
CP19, as part of the SDL, and a planning application for the first phase has
been submitted. I understand that some funding has been secured through
the Local Sustainable Transport Fund, and further funding could potentially be
secured through planning obligations associated with new housing development
in the SDL: several applications for this have already been submitted.
4
5
6

Entitled ‘Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)’
A criterion of Policy CP11, but not a requirement in the Framework
As per CS Policy CP19

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

4
52

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

19. However, even without the park and ride, the footpath/cycle route already in
place will facilitate travel by these modes of transport between the site and
nearby residential areas. The need for a short linking section of footpath could
be addressed by condition. Some bus services are also accessible from the site
and, although these are not very frequent at present, the appellant’s unilateral
undertaking provides for a contribution that could be put towards improving
them (or, alternatively, towards other transportation improvements in the
vicinity). In addition, the appeal application includes a framework travel plan
which has been found acceptable by the Council’s Travel Plan Officers: this
would also help to promote travel by more sustainable modes than the car.
20. Although Great Lea Farm is just outside the SDL, the amount of housing within
both walking and cycling distance is likely to increase in the next few years and
the proposed development could be beneficial in offering flexible employment
space within a relatively short travel distance. Unlike many former farms in
the countryside, the appeal site is in a location that could realistically be
accessed by a choice of transport modes, and the choices appear more likely
than not to improve in the foreseeable future. I therefore find no unacceptable
conflict with the objectives of CS Policies CP1, CP6 and CP11, or with the
Framework, in terms of the site’s location.
Benefits
21. Many of the proposal’s benefits have been touched on in the preceding
paragraphs. In summary, these are the beneficial re-use of existing buildings,
both as a sustainable re-use of existing resources and as a development of the
appellant’s rural estate business; a more certain future for buildings that form
part of the setting of a listed building and contribute to the significance of the
farmstead as a whole; the creation of flexible employment space in a
reasonably accessible location; enhanced landscaping that would be beneficial
in terms of visual amenity and the character of the wider landscape. Together
these benefits span all three dimensions of sustainable development and I give
them significant weight in favour of the proposal.
Other matters and overall conclusion
22. Although the appeal site is not in a location specifically identified for
employment in the development plan, CS Policy CP15 does not explicitly
preclude a proposal such as this one and, in terms of scale, it does not conflict
with relevant criteria in CS Policy CP11. Moreover it is not the Council’s case
that the proposal might compromise the development plan strategy. The
Council’s focus on location as the key aspect of sustainability in this case
conflicts with policy guidance in the Framework, and there has been no
compelling explanation of why the proposal’s benefits (most notably its
economic and employment benefits) are considered insufficient to outweigh
any perceived conflict with development plan policy.
23. For the reasons already explained and taking account of all other matters
raised, I conclude this appeal proposal would amount to sustainable
development. It would not materially conflict with the objectives of
development plan policies, so far as these are consistent with the Framework,
nor with the Framework itself. I conclude that the appeal should succeed and
planning permission should be granted subject to conditions.

53

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

5

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

Conditions
24. A condition specifying the approved plans is necessary for the avoidance of
doubt and in the interests of proper planning. Conditions requiring some
archaeological work, and a detailed record of the existing ‘Building G’7, are
necessary to ensure that features of historic interest or significance are
properly investigated and/or recorded.
25. As discussed at the hearing, work on the site is likely to take place in phases,
such that a phasing programme would be a pragmatic approach to securing
various key elements of the development as they become necessary. A
separate condition relating to the provision, offsite, of a section of footway is
necessary in the interests of highway safety, as is one requiring the retention
of parking facilities. A requirement to implement the framework travel plan is
necessary to promote sustainable modes of transport.
26. Conditions requiring some additional landscaping details and details of external
materials are necessary, as are conditions relating to boundary treatments and
external lighting, in the interests of visual amenity. The recommendations of
the protected species survey should be carried out to promote biodiversity8.
Various reports have been submitted relating to sustainable construction
techniques and energy reduction measures. These are important to accord
with sustainability objectives but, to clarify exactly what is proposed, I shall
impose a condition requiring specific details to be submitted for approval.
27. Planning permission is therefore granted subject to the following conditions:
1)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this decision.

2)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans, drawing nos. ENG/L01, ENG/L02 rev A,
ENG/S01-S12 inclusive, ENK/P01-P09 inclusive, ENK/P10 rev B, ENK/P11,
ASA-368-DR-001, ASA-368-DR-002A & ASA-368-DR-003.

3)

No development, including any works of demolition or ground
preparation, shall take place until the applicant, his agent or successors
in title has secured and implemented a programme of archaeological
work (which may include more than one phase of work) in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation which shall first have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

4)

No works including any works of demolition to existing ‘Building G’ (as
identified on drawing no. ENG/S07) shall take place until a detailed
record has been made of the building, in the form of 1:50 survey plans
and elevations together with black and white photographs of all
elevations and of typical interior details, and this record has been
submitted to the local planning authority.

5)

No development shall take place until a phasing programme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
phasing programme shall cover the following matters:
i)

7
8

Implementation of measures to protect those trees and hedges to
be retained, in accordance with the approved plans and the

As suggested in the consultation response from the Council’s Conservation Officer
Although this does not obviate the need to conform with any relevant statutory species protection provisions

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

6
54

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

Arboricultural Report & Method Statement by Mr Peter Harding,
dated 11 October 2010.
ii)

provision of the new vehicular access and driveway, alterations to
the existing access driveway and associated works;

iii)

sequence of demolition, conversion/redevelopment and new
building works;

iv)

provision of car parking spaces and cycle/motorcycle parking
facilities;

v)

provision of hard and soft landscaping, in accordance with the
approved plans and the additional details approved pursuant to
condition 6 below.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
phasing programme.
6)

No development shall take place until additional details have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, to
supplement the landscaping scheme indicated on the approved plans
(drawing nos. ASA-368-DR-001/002A/003). The details shall include the
numbers and positions of new trees, shrubs and hedging plants, and the
materials to be used for paved/hard-surfaced areas (including parking
spaces).
Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of five years of planting, die,
are removed or become seriously diseased or damaged, shall be replaced
in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless
otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.

7)

No converted, redeveloped or replacement building shall be occupied for
the use hereby permitted until a footway has been provided around the
northern side of the junction of Great Lea and Mereoak Lane, as indicated
on Figure 2 in the Transport Assessment by Glanville Consultants, dated
12 April 2012.

8)

No development shall take place until samples and/or details of all
external materials to be used in the development hereby permitted
(including cladding, rainwater goods, doors and windows, and materials
for any reinstatement works) have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.

9)

No development shall take place until details of sustainable construction
techniques and energy reduction measures to be incorporated into the
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

10)

No development shall take place until details of measures to implement
the recommendations of the Protected Species Survey by Hillier Ecology
Ltd (dated March 2012) have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

11)

The car parking spaces and cycle/motorcycle parking facilities provided in
accordance with the approved plans and phasing programme shall be
retained thereafter and kept available at all times for parking purposes.

55

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

7

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

12)

Measures to promote sustainable transport to and from the development
hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the provisions
of the Framework Travel Plan by Glanville Consultants, dated 25 July
2012.

13)

No walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected on the site
other than in accordance with details that have first been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

14)

No external lighting shall be installed on the site or buildings other than
in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority.

Jane Miles
INSPECTOR

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

8
56

Appeal Decision APP/X0360/A/13/2192124

APPEARANCES

FOR THE APPELLANT:
Alan Divall

West Waddy ADP

Anthony Stiff

Anthony Stiff Associates

Alastair Blacknell

Estates Surveyor, the Englefield Estate

Philip Waddy

West Waddy ADP

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Chris Lancaster

Senior Planning Officer, Wokingham Borough
Council

DOCUMENT PROVIDED AT THE HEARING:
Plan showing appeal site and location of proposed Mereoak ‘park and ride’

57

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate

9

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:
"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."

For detailed landscaping proposals, refer to drawing ASA-368-DR-002!
included in the landscape and visual impact assessment report May 2012

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

UNIT G
2 storey

Cycles!
6 no.

UNIT D
single storey

UNIT J
single storey

NEW

Courtyard!
Break out

NEW
NEW
Cycles!
6 no.

UNIT E

UNIT H
2 storey

single storey

UNIT K
single storey

UNIT C

UNIT K

2 storey

single storey

N

59

Motor cycles!
6 no.

UNIT F
single storey

UNIT K
DEMOLISH!

UNIT L
single storey

UNIT B!
(lean-to's)

UNIT B
2 storey

DEMOLISH

UNIT A!
single storey

UNIT M
single storey

UNIT A
single storey

Cycles!
6 no.

PLANNING SERIES
Rev Date

DEMOLISH!
PART UNIT M

Revisions

Initials

checked

Proposed Redevelopment of!
Great Lea Farm, Grazeley.!
For The Englefield Estate

REFUSE/!
RECYCLING !
COMPOUND

Site Layout Plan

Materials:!
!
Roads - Resin bonded gravel, discharging surface water to soft landscaping (no kerbs!
Parking bays - Interlocking permeable sets!
Paving - 450x450 riven slabs, permiable, retained by granite conservation kerbs

Max. desired Parking Standards at !
1 space per 30 sq.m (over 2,500 sq.m.) - 101 spaces!
Achieved parking spaces - 80 spaces!
Disabled parking standard - 5% of total - 5!
Achieved disabled spaces - 8!
Cycle standard - 1/150 sq.m. - 17!
Achieved cycle stands - 18!
Motor cycle standard - 1/300 sq.m. - 9!
Achieved motor cycle stands - 6

The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662
e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP
May 2012
1:200@A1. 1:400@A3
RS checked AD

Date
Scale
Drawn
Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P 01

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:
"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."
Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

air source heat !
pump enclosure

plant

Existing timber trusses to be retained and !
shell to be re-clad!
!
Renewables:!
!
Air source heat pump!
Passive venting!
!
Materials:!
!
Roof:
Zinc - Dark grey!
Walls: Timber Cladding - Left to weather naturally!
Timber Louvres!
!
Height to ridge: !
!
Existing:
5.4m
!
Original proposal:
5.4m!
Revised proposal:
5.4m!
!
!
Footprint (External m2): !
!
Existing:
153m2 !
Original proposal:
153m2 (+3m2 for air source heat pump)!
Revised proposal:
153m2 (+3m2 for air source heat pump)

Sh

K
open plan office

area of flat ceiling at Truss level.!
Storage Over

draught !
lobby

FLOOR PLAN

61
air exhaust terminal

air exhaust terminal

roof light
solar shading

timber louvres

Timber Louvres -!
Angled to block views !
looking out, !
yet allow light in

passive stack !
ventilation

timber louvres
air source heat pump enclosure

air intake louvres

air inlet louvre

SOUTH ELEVATION

INDICATIVE SECTION

EAST ELEVATION

N

46.46
46.43

PLANNING SERIES

perimeter trees
Corrugated sheet

solar shading

Rev Date

Revisions

Initials

checked

44.07

Scale Bar
timber louvres

Void
Void

Void

Void

Void

Steel girder

perimeter hedgerow

air inlet louvre

air inlet louvre
air source heat pump enclosure

Boards

Drinking trough

Concrete
41.13

WEST ELEVATION

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

REDEVELOPMENT OF GREAT LEA FARM!
GRAZELEY, READING!
FOR THE ENGLEFIELD ESTATE

NORTH ELEVATION

UNIT A
The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662
e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP
May 2012
1:100 @ A1. 1:200 @ A3
RS checked RA

Date
Scale
Drawn
Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P02

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:

open plan office

Existing structure to be demolished and!
new build to match existing!
!
Renewables:!
!
Air source heat pump!
Passive venting!
!
!
Materials:!
!
Roof:
Zinc - Dark Grey!
Walls: Dark stained timber cladding!
Timber Louvres!
!
Height to ridge: !
!
Existing:
7.4m
!
Original proposal:
7.4m!
Revised proposal:
7.4m!
!
!
Footprint (External m2): !
!
Existing:
381.5m2 (214.5m2 of this to be demolished)!
Original proposal:
173.4m2 (+ 6.3m2 for air source heat pump)!
Revised proposal:
173.4m2 (+ 6.3m2 for air source heat pump)

open plan office

DN

air source heat !
pump enclosure

UP

Sh
K

meeting

plant

reception

air source heat !
pump enclosure

open plan office

open plan office

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

N

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."

63

Scale Bar
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

air exhaust terminal

Corrugated sheet

Void

41.21

41.12

41.02
41.03

NORTH ELEVATION

ELEVATION 33

WEST ELEVATION

40.000 Metres A.O.D.

INDICATIVE SECTION
PLANNING SERIES
Rev Date

Revisions

Initials

checked

Corrugated sheet

REDEVELOPMENT OF GREAT LEA FARM!
GRAZELEY, READING!
FOR THE ENGLEFIELD ESTATE
UNIT B
air source heat pump enclosure

The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662

air inlet louvre

SOUTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP
PRECEDENT IMAGE

May 2012
1:100 @ A1. 1:200 @ A3
RS checked RA

Date
Scale

48.58

48.58

Drawn
48.49

Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9
Corrugated sheet

Dwg No.

P03

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:
"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."

air exhaust terminal
48.30

48.20

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

Corrugated sheet

C1
e
Open plan offic

Void

air inlet louvres
air source heat !
pump enclosure

Void

Void

41.21

41.13

41.12

air source heat pump

40.000 Metres A.O.D.

WEST ELEVATION

Plant

NORTH ELEVATION

air exhaust terminal

Plant
air source heat pump

e

Open plan offic

air inlet louvres
air source heat !
pump enclosure

C2

FIRST FLOOR
PLAN

SOUTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

65

C1

e
Open plan offic

ENTRANCE

LOBBY
K

air source heat t pump!
enclosure

LOBBY

PLANNING SERIES

INDICATIVE SECTION
Rev Date

Initials

checked

UNIT C

ENTRANCE

The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662

e

Open plan offic

C2

e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP

Scale Bar

GROUND FLOOR
PLAN

Revisions

REDEVELOPMENT OF GREAT LEA FARM!
GRAZELEY, READING!
FOR THE ENGLEFIELD ESTATE

N

Sh

K

Sh

Existing structure to be demolished and!
new build to match existing!
!
Renewables:!
!
Air source heat pump!
Passive venting!
!
Materials:!
!
Roof:
Zinc - Dark Grey!
Walls: Dark stained timber cladding!
Timber Louvres!
!
Height to ridge: !
!
Existing:
7.25m !
Original proposal:
7.40m!
Revised proposal:
7.40m!
!
!
Footprint (External m2): !
!
Existing:
252m2 !
Original proposal:
266m2 (+ 6.2m2 for air source heat pump) !
Revised proposal:
266m2 (+ 6.2m2 for air source heat pump)!

May 2012
1:100 @ A1. 1:200 @ A3
RS checked RA

Date
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Scale

PRECEDENT IMAGE

Drawn
Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P04

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:
"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."
Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

air exhaust terminal

45.78

meeting!
room/!
office

UNIT D

air inlet louvres

enclosure for 3 no.!
air source heat pumps
41.31

Brick

41.01

NORTH ELEVATION
Courtyard!
Break out

45.36

Tiles

K

enclosure for 3 no. !
air source heat pumps

43.47

Timber

Sh
K

Brick

enclosure for 3 no.!
air source heat pumps

Brick

41.08

41.08
Brick
41.01

Sh

41.01

45.78

Brick

Sh

EAST ELEVATION
40.000 Metres A.O.D.

K

UNIT E

air inlet louvre
41.31

Brick

41.01

SOUTH ELEVATION
45.88

45.36

Tiles

N

67

UNIT F

PLAN

Timber

Brick

Scale Bar
Brick
41.22
41.18

41.01

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

WEST ELEVATION

PLANNING SERIES
Rev Date

Existing buildings to be converted!
!
Renewables:!
!
Air source heat pump!
Passive venting!
!
Materials:!
!
Roof:
Plain clay tiles to match existing!
Walls: Horizontal timber feather boarding to match
existing to weather naturally !
Brick as existing!

UNIT D!
!
Height to ridge: !
!
Existing:
4.26m !
Original proposal:
4.26m!
Revised proposal:
4.26m!
!
!
Footprint (External m2): !
!
Existing:
60.5m2 !
Original proposal:
127.0m2 !
Revised proposal:
127.0m2 !

UNIT E!
!
!
!
4.65m
4.65m!
4.65m!
!
!
!
!
84.9m2
84.9m2
84.9m2

!

!
!
!

UNIT F!
!
!
!
4.55m !
4.55m!
4.55m!
!
!
!
!
86.1m2 !
86.1m2 (+7.4m2 for air source heat pump)!
86.1m2 (+7.4m2 for air source heat pump)!

TOTAL!
!
!
!
-!
-!
-!
!
!
!
!
231.5m2!
305.4m2!
305.4m2!

Revisions

Initials

checked

REDEVELOPMENT OF GREAT LEA FARM!
GRAZELEY, READING!
FOR THE ENGLEFIELD ESTATE
UNITS D, E & F!
PLANS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662
e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP
May 2012
1:100@A1; 1:200@A3
RS checked RA

Date
Scale
Drawn
Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P05

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:
"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."

usb 43.79

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP !
!
Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.!
!
The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

Dis + Sh

46.63

Timber Panel

F
K

Timber Louvres

M

Metal

PLANT FOR!
UNIT M

K

usb 43.84
Detail

Metal Stanchion

Approximate

Due to extensive

Ivy Coverage

Void

enclosure for 2 no.!
air source heat pumps!
for Units L & M

Brick

41.55

Concrete

Brick

WEST ELEVATION
COURTYARD
GARDEN

N

form new mezzanine floor over central area

40.000 Metres A.O.D.

standing seam zinc roof
air exhaust!
terminals behind!
continuous tomber !
louvres

usb 43.15

usb 44.24
usb 44.24
usb 44.32
usb 44.24
usb 44.24

usb 44.36
usb 44.24

usb 44.11

usb 44.05

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

usb 43.81

air inlet louvres

SOUTH ELEVATION

69
air exhaust!
terminals behind!
continuous timber !
louvres

usb 43.67

usb 43.66

46.67
46.65

Skylight

Skylight

Skylight

45.08

usb 43.54

Corrogated Metal Sheet

usb 43.54
Skylight

44.16

43.85
43.82

44.02

Joists

Timber

43.57

Void

Void

Void
Void
Void

Void

Timber

Timber

Timber

Timber

Void

Void

42.55

Mortar

Timber Door

Mortar

Brace

Brick

Brick

Timber

Brick

Brick

Brick

Brick
Panels

Brace

Brace

Brace

Brace

Timber Post

Timber Post

Brace

41.18
Area of Derelict Timber Structure

41.01

1,500

NORTH ELEVATION
43.53
46.91

46.84

46.66

42.55
Timber Panel

41.10

41.90
41.55
41.21

Timber Louvres

CCTV

Alarm Box

Box

Damaged Windows

Damaged Windows

Light Fix

44.45

44.10

Sign

Sensor

Corrugated Sheet Metal

Brick

43.36

Sign

43.24

Box

PLANNING SERIES

Ivy Clad Area

INDICATIVE SECTION

42.47

Brick

Brick

Rev Date

Revisions

Initials

checked

Top Of Bank

EAST ELEVATION
Existing Structure (with the exception of !
open canopy) to be retained and re-clad!
!
Materials:!
!
Roof:
Zinc - Dark grey!
Walls: Brick plinths as existing!
Timber boarding to match existing!
Timber Louvres!
Windows:
Oak frames
!
!
Renewables:!
!
Air source heat pump!
Passive venting!

!
Height to ridge: !
!
Existing:
5.48m !
Original proposal:
6.50m (Main roof to remain the same height as above)!
Revised proposal:
6.50m (Main roof to remain the same height as above)!
!
!
Footprint (External m2): !
!
Existing:
546.0m2 (178.6m2 of this to be demolished)!
Original proposal:
367.8m2 !
Revised proposal:
367.8m2 !

REDEVELOPMENT OF GREAT LEA FARM!
GRAZELEY, READING!
FOR THE ENGLEFIELD ESTATE
0m

5m
1

2

3

4

10m
6

7

8

9

UNIT M!
PLANS, SECTIONS, ELEVATIONS
The Malthouse!
60 East St. Helen Street!
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139 !
Fax (01235) 521662
e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

westwaddy ADP
May 2012
1:100@A1; 1:200@A3
RS checked RA

Date
Scale
Drawn
Job

ENK

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P09

Rev.

This page is intentionally left blank

approx. 100m of new drainage run
will be required to be excavated
along Great Lea to discharge into
nearest LA foul MH
CL 40.86
IL 38.52
Class A trees to BS 5837 (none on site)

E
P

Ke
rb

Hawt
horn
Screen
1.5m

Class B trees
Gra
ss

Asp
halt

Class C trees
Gra
ss

Asp
halt

Class R trees

existing HV
electricity supply

GREAT LEA

GREAT
LEA

Root protection areas

E
P

Cul
vert
W
all
Post
&
Fence
Rail
1.1m
M

Rid
ge

Rid
ge

Ea
ve

Brick
Wall
1.30m
Gra
ss

2 storey

Edge
of Path

Po
st

G
P

Rid
ge

Elder
berry
3.5
0m

Rid
ge

single storey

Grass /
Material
s

Metal
Fence
1.10m

Dit
ch
St
ay

R
oo
f

Gra
ss

Gra
ss

Brick
Wall &
Pillars
0.35m

Fen
ce
Chan
ge

Post & Rail
Fence 1.20m
Rootli
ne 4m

G
P

DEMOLISH
TO
PART
UNIT M
W
Conc
rete

7
m

Syca
more
7
m

Syca
more

G11-remove liniar group
8
m

Syca
more
8
m

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

Syca
more
7
m

Syca
more
7
m

Gra
ss

Tru
nk
4
m

Syca
more
7
m

Syca
more
7
m

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

Syca
more
8
m

Gra
ss

Syca
more
7
m

Stu
mp

TO
W
Wall
Height
Chan
ge

Ri
ve
r

Drain

4
m

G
P

TO
W

Stu
mp

Gat
es

Gr
as
s

Gra
ss

Gra
ss

Syca
more
8
m

Syca
more
8
m

Syca
more
8
m

Syca
more
7
m

Syca
more
8
m

Syca
more
9
m

Syca
more
8
m

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

Po
st
Po
st
Edge
of Path

Gra
ss

Cul
vert
W
all

Syca
more
8
m

Hawt
horn
Screen
1.5m

T15-retain
Gra
ss

Soil
Bank

Hawt
horn
1.
2
m

St
ay

Widen access track
and form footpath

T2-retain

REFUSE/
RECYCLING
COMPOUND

T20-retain

T19-retain

T18-retain

New pedestrian access track,
see drawing ENK P11

N

For detailed landscaping proposals, refer to drawing ASA-368-DR-002
included in the landscape and visual impact assessment report May 2012

R
S

Asp
halt

L
C

T14-remove

Ke
rb

E
P
R
S

R
S

R
S
Ke
rb

L
C
Ke
rb

R
S

R
S

Gra
ss

R
S

R
S
Ke
rb

T17-retain

R
S

R
S

Area Of
Brambles

Hawt
horn
Screen
0.9m

T3

H7

dropped kerb

T
P

Ke
rb

Ke
rb

Asp
halt

Barbed
Wire
Fence
1m

O
ak
14
m
Hawt
horn
Screen
0.9m

Drop
Kerb

L
C

T4

Proposed Redevelopment of
Great Lea Farm, Grazeley.
For The Englefield Estate
Block Plan
The Malthouse
60 East St. Helen Street
Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 5EB
Tel (01235) 523139
Fax (01235) 521662
e-mail: enquiries@westwaddy-adp.co.uk
A RCHI TE CTS A ND T OWN PL A NNER S

April 2016
1:500@A1. 1:1000@A3
RS checked AD

Date
Scale
Drawn
B

10.05.12

Various amendments to
landscape

RS

AD

A

12.04.12

Access track amended

RS

AD

Initials

Post
&
Fence
Rail
1.3m

westwaddy ADP

PLANNING SERIES

Revisions

Dit
ch

Ke
rb

Drop
Kerb

Gra
ss

Post
Rail &
1m

Soil
Bank

Root protection fence:
4.8m from T15;
8.4m from T16

grass verge

Ke
rb
Ke
rb

T16-retain

Hawt
horn
4
G m
P

Asp
halt

Ke
rb

Soil
Bank
Ri
ve
r

"This copy has been made with the authority of West Waddy: ADP
pursuant to Section 47 of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act
1988 and for the purposes only of public inspection. This copy
must not be copied without the priorwritten permission of the
Copyright owner."

Rev Date

T1

15
m

15
m

G
P

G
P

Edge
of Path

E
P

footpath

The accuracy of this drawing may be reliant upon survey
information provided by third parties. No liability will be accepted
by WestWaddy:ADP for errors in or arising from such third party
survey information.

Syca
more
8
m

Gra
ss

E
P

Ri
Ri
ve
ve
rr

This drawing is the copyright of West Waddy : ADP and may not
be copied or reproduced without written permission. The
Copyright Order 1990 provides for the Planning Authority to copy
and distribute drawings for public inspection in relation to a
Planning Application only if those copies are marked in the
following manner:

Dimensions to be checked on site before work commences and
any discrepancies reported to the Architect.

Grass
Bank

Asp
halt

Asp
halt

Soil
Bank

H25-remove linear group

Do not scale from drawings unless for planning purposes only.
Use figured dimensions at all other times. In case of doubt contact
West Waddy:ADP

E
P

Ke
rb

Grass
Bank

Edge
of Path

Conc
rete

Gra
ss

Po
st

T10-retain T9-retain
T2
T8-remove

St
ay

Soil
Bank

G
at
e

L
C
Ke
rb

Edge
of Path

Gat
es

E
E
P
P

Syca
more

Asp
halt

Asp
halt

Edge
of Path

Gra
ss

Gra
ss

Conc
rete
Ed
ge

Edge
of Path

Asp
halt

Syca
more
Scree
n 7m

Syca
more
7
m

Ke
rb

Ke
rb

G
P

Concrete
Wall 0.70m

Soil
Heap

Gra
ss

Gra
ss

Gra
ss

Hawt
horn
Hedge
1.40m

Gra
ss

Gra
vel

TO
W

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

Conc
rete

Lin
e
Posts
Of
1.30m

Soil
Heap

Pla
ne
22
m

Elder
berry
1.5
0m

Ea
ve

UNIT M

G
at
e

Wood
en
Fence
1.0m

Hawt
horn
Screen
1.3m

Barbed
Wire
Fence
1.10m

Gra
ss

O
ak
14
m

Po
st

Cycles
6 no.

Conc
rete

G
P

H
oll
Hedge
y
1.60m

IL
Pip
e

Rid
ge

Wood
en
Fence
1.20m

Po
sts

T13-retain

M
et
Fence
al
0.90m

Asp
halt

Gra
ss

M
Fencete
1.20al
m

Po
sts

Lin
e
Posts
Of
1.30m

Gra
ss

G
at
e

Water
Level
@
10.00a
05/01/2
m
010

SW
100mm
IL
40.4
0

Conc
rete

G
at
e

Barbed
Wire
Fence
1.10m

IL
Pip
e

TO
W

G
at
e

Woodch
ips

Post
&Fence
Rail
1m

Gra
ss

New pedestrian access track,
see drawing ENK P11

G
ss ra

Gra
vel

Ea
ve

Grass /
Gravel

R
oo
f

Grass /
Material
s

Gras
s/
Soil

Po
st

TO
W

New post and
wire fencing

Po
st

Ea
ve

TO
W

Conc
rete

4
m

UNIT L

Asp
halt

single storey

Conc
rete

T12-retain

L

Conc
rete

Conc
rete

R
oo
f

Gra
ss

Post
&Fence
Rail
1m

Butttre
sses

Gra
ss

Pip
es

IL
Pip
e

Soil
Pipe
Po
st

G
U

RW
P

G
P

Conc
rete

Elder
berry
4
m

RW
P

Conc
rete
U
p

RW
P

DEMOLISH

Conc
rete

blue shaded area indicates
extent of new tarmacadam
road surfacing
see drwg no. P11/access
road details
for more details

passing place
along existing
access lane

K

G
U

Conc
rete

Elder
berry

Hawt
horn
4
m

A

G
P

single storey

Concrete
Wall 0.40m

Rid
ge

Rid
ge

Rid
ge

Buildin
g Line
@
High
Level

Buildin
g Line
@
High
Level

G
U

UNIT L

Block
Paving

Gra
ss

G
at
e

G
P

Conc
rete
Wall
0.50m

2 storey

Block
Paving

Pumping station, to collect
foul waste from all buildings
on the site and pump to existing
LA foul drain located in Great Lea

Conc
rete

Floor
level

single storey

Rid
ge

RW
P

G
P

Conc
rete

UNIT B

UNIT K
single storey

W
all
0.9
0m

UNIT K

Floor
level

G
U

Ea
ve

U
TL

Buildin
g Line
@
High
Level

Conc
rete

RW
P

Ea
ve

Rid
ge

G
utt
er

single storey

Po
st

Ea
ve

Rid
ge

E
N RE
E
O

Rid
ge

UNIT F

Gra
vel

Gra
ss

RW
P

Po
st

Buildin
g Line
@
High
Level

Po
sts

2 storey

2 storey

RW
P

Trou
gh

RW
P

Ke
rb

Ke
rb

M

UNIT C

Po
st

Po
st

Po
st

RSJ's and
PostonPostions
Found
Drawing A0310 FG

Machi
nery
Shr
ub
2
m

H6

new underground electricity supply to gates and CCTV

A

single storey

Gra
ss
Bri
ck

closed off to vehicular access

UNIT H

Conc
rete

Rid
ge

single storey
Chim
ney

G
at
e

UNIT E

UNIT J

G
P

Po
sts

Holly
Hedge
1.80m

RW
P

G
U

RW
P

Step
s Up

G
U

Po
st

Blo
Pavi
ck
ng

Conc
rete

Blo
Pavi
ck
ng

Gra
ss

Rid
ge

Co
Pavi
nc.
ng

Ta
p

Gra
ss

Ta
p
Mat
erial
s

Rid
ge

Asp
halt

Dit
ch

Conc
rete

Gra
ss

Ea
ve
RW
P

G
P

NEW
NEW

Trou
Courtyard
gh
Break out
Ta
p

Sta
nd
Pi
pe

Pi
pe

G
utt
er
Gra
ss

Gra
ss

G
P

Conc
rete

T22-retain

Asp
halt

G
ss ra

NEW

Trou
gh

Rid
ge

Conc
rete

Conc
rete

Conc
rete

Security gates with cctv

D
ch it

single storey

R
S

GREAT
LEA

RW
P
Mat
erial
s

2.4m x 60m visibility splay

Ke
rb

G
at
e

G
utt
er

UNIT D
RW
P

Ke
rb

Barbed
Wire
Fence
1.10m

ME
RE
OA
KL
AN
E

71

RW
P

Gra
ss

Tan
k

Tan
k

E
P

Ke
rb

3
m

G
P

Edge
of Path

Buildin
g Line
@
High
Level

G
P

H
oll
8
y
m

Gravel /
Concrete

Cycles
6 no.

Ke
rb

T5-remove

new sub station from which to
distribute to the site and feed to gates

E
P

Bri
ck
Wall
1.20m
Brick
Wall
1.30m

Gat
es

Conc
rete

Hawt
horn
Screen
1.5m

Barbed
Wire
Fence
1.10m

Gra
ss

Tan
k

UNIT G

M
et
Fence
al
1.10m

Asp
halt

Asp
halt

New post and rail 'Estate style' fencing
as shown in photomontage

G
at
e

Rid
ge

Ea
ve

Ke
rb

6
m

T23-retain

RW
P

2.4m x 120m visibility splay

Gra
ss
Asp
halt

Mat
erial
s

Mat
erial
s

Trou
gh

Ke
rb

8
m

Gra
ss

Po
st

TO
W

UNIT A

Gra
ss

Scr
ub

M
et
Fence
al
1.10m

Mat
erial
s

Mat
erial
s

RSJ's and
PostonPostions
Found
Drawing A0310 FG

P
1.1
ill
5m
a
r
P
ill
0.7
a
0m
r

Gra
ss

Asp
halt

DEMOLISH

Cypr
ess
6
m

Only Detail
VisibleRoad
From Shown

Elder
berry
4
m

M
et
Fence
al
1.10m

UNIT B
(lean-to's)

Rid
ge

Barnsdale

RW
P

Trou
gh
Trou
gh

M
et
Fence
al
1.10m

G
at
e

T24-retain

Elder
berry
4
m

RW
P

Bri
ck
Wall
0.70m

Gra
ss

Gra
ss
G
at
e

Bri
ck
Wall
1.2m

Ea
ve
Rid
ge

S
C

Drop
Kerb

Gra
ss

GREAT LEA
FARM

M
et
Fence
al
1.10m

Asp
halt
Rid
ge

ew
n
,
ply
ain t Lea
up
s
m
ty
ter Grea
rici
t
a
c
w
le
w ies in
Ve
e
L
ad
g n uppl
he
n
i
r
e
y
s
v
arr ting
go
c
n
i
t
,
s
ce exis
exi
n
e
r
e t s from
c
i
erv com
s
d
ine n and
b
m ai
Co ul dr
fo

Existing farm House

St
ay

Gra
ss

d
pe
m
pu

in
ma
e
r
to

G
at
e

Bri
ck
Wall
1.2m

checked

Job

© Crown Copyright 2009. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020449

500

Doc. Ref: QF 34 - 9

Dwg No.

P 10

Rev.

C

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 25.
Development
Management
Ref No
161061

No weeks on
day of
committee
10

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Wokingham
Town

Emmbrook

Council’s own
Development

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Housing Services, Wokingham Borough Council
Foxwood, Milton Road, Wokingham
Postcode RG40 1DD
Full application for the proposed change of use from an education
college (C2) use to residential hostel (Sui Generis).
Type
Other (Change of Use)
PS Category 632
Officer
Daniel Ray
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20th July 2016
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application proposes the conversion of a former C2 Residential Institution
(education college) to a hostel (Sui Generis) to provide temporary accommodation for
homeless families and individuals on a temporary basis.
Foxwood was built as a residential dwelling but was converted in 1999/2000 to its most
recent use as a college which has now relocated at an alternative site at the Brambles
Centre and as such there is no net loss of an educational establishment.
The site is within a sustainable location, close to the town centre with excellent transport
links. The only external alterations are replacement windows whilst all other alterations
would be internal only.
The site currently benefits from 8 parking spaces including a disabled parking bay.
The hostel would have an office space which would provide space for a Specialist
Housing Officer who would manage the site and scheme during regular Monday-Friday
office hours.
Concern has been raised by two local residents regarding overlooking, loss of privacy,
security, character of the area, noise and disturbance and increase in traffic causing
highway safety issues. Whilst these concerns are understood, the proposal would not
have a detrimental impact due to these issues at a level that would warrant refusal.
Para’s 4 to 14 covers these concerns in greater detail.

PLANNING STATUS
 Major Development Site
 SPA (7km)
 Aerodrome Safeguarding for Wind
RECOMMENDATION
That the application is approved subject to the following conditions;

73

A. Conditions and informatives:
1. Timescale
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by
s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Approved details
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered SL15065/02 Rev A, 160117/002 and SK.01 received by the local
planning authority on 19 April 2016. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. External materials
The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
extension hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the
existing building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.
To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Hours of construction
No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00
Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy CC06.
5. Restriction of permitted development rights - windows
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or similar
openings shall be constructed in the first floor level or above in any elevation of
the development hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the
approved drawing(s).
To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3

PLANNING HISTORY
 F/1999/70516 - Proposed Change Of Use From Residential(C3) To Nonresidential Education (D1) Use And Erection Of Two storey side extension plus
single storey front extension – Permitted
 F/2010/2192 - Proposed provision of extruded roll mesh grass protection to
existing grassed area. – Permitted
 F/2009/1326 - Proposed erection of new motorised security entrance gate plus

74



alterations to boundary fencing. – Permitted
TP/2008/0492 - Application for Temporary Permission for the installation of a
standalone modular class room. – Permitted

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Proposed and existing land use

789sqm
Sui Generis (Hostel); C2 (Education
College)
0
0

Change in floor space
Change in parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Woodley Town Council

None Received

Local Members

None Received

Environmental Health

No objection

Highways

No objection

REPRESENTATIONS
Two letters of concern/objection were received from local residents, these comments
and concerns are as follows:
 What is the estimated cost of renovation and how long will it be used?
 The house is old and constructed on a municipal rubbish tip and had severe
subsidence, has this been resolved?
 Who exactly is going to be living there?
 Who is responsible for the maintained and surrounds?
 What happens during evenings and weekends if there is a problem?
 The proposal will lead to overlooking due to the south facing windows
 Loss of residential amenity by reason of loss of privacy
 Adverse affect on the residential amenity due to noise and disturbance, the
occupation of the property by up to 6 different families will lead to noise and
disturbances, occupants of the hostel will be transient and as such not care for
the house, the surroundings nor be motivated to respect the neighbourhood or
neighbours.
 Noise and disturbance from extra vehicles; the number of vehicles will be 2 per
resident and this will lead to an unacceptable amount of vehicular noise in a quiet
neighbourhood.
 The exit of Foxwood is within 20m of a busy mini-roundabout, there is poor
visibility on a busy stretch of road. Any increase in traffic entering or leaving
Foxwood, being so close to the roundabout, will present an increased risk to road
users.
 A change of use to a hostel is not in keeping with an area of privately owned
houses that are maintained to a high standard; the transient occupants will not

75



care for the house, surroundings etc.
The site plan is incorrect as the site of Foxwood has sprawled beyond its
boundaries to the south and these needs to be reinstated immediately, the site
needs maintaining, cleared and tidied and the buildings in the surround should be
removed.

APPLICANTS POINTS


None

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP2

Inclusive communities

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC07

Parking

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB09

Residential accommodation for
vulnerable groups

BDG

Borough Design Guide

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)
PLANNING ISSUES
Description of development and site

1. The application proposes the change of use of the disused educational
establishment to a hostel (Sui Generis) to provide 5 units for vulnerable
individuals and families whom have been made homeless.
2. Each of the units would have bedroom/living space and a small kitchen area.
Three would have their own bathrooms whilst units 2 and 3 would share a
bathroom. All of the flats would share external amenity area and a laundry which
is attached to a communal W/C. The occupants would share the garden area.
3. The site would have an office which would be occupied during normal office

76

hours, Monday to Friday. The occupants would be able to contact Housing
Services out of hours should any problems occur, however from other sites
managed by Housing Services their experience is that that this is rare.
4. The development would provide space for those who have been made homeless.
The site would provide temporary housing (on a likely 6/9 month basis) which
would be much more cost effective than long term stay in a bed and breakfast
housing and to ensure that relocation away from Wokingham didn’t take place.
Housing would be provided until individuals were able to find alternative
accommodation.
Principle of Development
1. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
2. The site is located within a major development location and within a settlement
boundary and as such the development should be acceptable providing that it
complies with the principles stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP3 of the Core
Strategy states that development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area in
which it is located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the
amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers and this is discussed below.
3. The site is in a sustainable location, and whilst a hostel, would be residential in
nature within a location characterised by residential dwellings.
4. Policy CP2 (Inclusive Communities) of the Core Strategy outlines that planning
permission will be granted for proposals that address the requirements of (b)
Children, young people and families, including the co-ordination of services to
meet their needs whilst Policy TB09 (residential accommodation for vulnerable
groups) of the MDD supports support for vulnerable adults and families in
situations such as this. In this instance, the proposal would be in accordance with
the spirit of Policies CP2 and TB09 as the scheme would provide
accommodation for families who have been made homeless, therefore their need
is being met through this scheme.
Impact upon the Character of the Area
5. The proposed development would not have a negative impact on the character of
the area. The only external alterations are replacement windows and the
residential appearance of the building would be retained.
6. The site has been vacant for over 12 months and as such, the re-use of the
building would bring about a greater requirement for maintenance of the building
(which would be positive for the overall appearance of the site rather than
allowing the building to decline and fall in to disrepair.

77

Access and movement
7. Concern has been raised by local residents that the site is close a miniroundabout on a busy route, with a greater number of vehicles entering and
exiting the site which would lead to highway safety issues. However the access
and visibility for drivers is considered acceptable, meets highway standards and
no concern has been raised by Highways in terms of highway safety. 8 parking
spaces are provided which is adequate provision in line with Wokingham
Borough Council’s Parking Standards.
Residential Amenities
8. Concern has been raised by neighbouring residents that the proposal would lead
to direct overlooking, specifically to the south. The most immediate neighbours
are to the north and west. No first floor windows are present or proposed in the
north elevation of the building with acute angles from the first floor western
elevation (bedrooms and kitchen windows) to the properties to the north. Existing
boundary treatments and planting does not allow for any direct views in to
neighbouring properties or their gardens to the north from the ground floor. As
such there no concerns relating to overlooking to the neighbouring properties of
Cornerhaven and Benfieldside.
9. The bedroom and kitchen windows within the western elevation do face the rear
garden of Tuscany, however the garden extends some 23 metres to the
boundary from the opposing elevation. In addition, planting and boundary
treatments do not allow for direct views. The Borough Design Guide highlights
that there should be a minimum of 22 metres between back to back elevations,
and 12 metres for flank elevations (Tuscany is perpendicular to Foxwood). As
such there is ample separation distance between Foxwood and the nearest
residential dwelling to the west.
10. To the south, the nearest neighbour is Midtrees. Within the first floor of the
southern elevation of Foxwood, the proposed development would result in a
bedroom window, a kitchen window and a window that would serve a stairwell.
The nearest point of the boundary of Midtrees is some 25 metres from elevation.
A garden area then separates the boundary from the drive, beyond which is the
northern elevation of the dwelling, which is 52 metres away. Due to boundary
treatments and mature planting, including an Oak and a Lime tree which are both
protected by TPO’s, there would be no overlooking as a result of this
development.
11. Concern has been raised that the additional vehicle movements would lead to
noise and disturbance. However given that the site is within a sustainable
location with the town centre which is within walking distance of the site, as well
as having excellent access to local bus services and the railway, it is expected
that the proposal’s requirement for vehicle movements would be much reduced.
In addition to this, no concern has been raised by either Highways nor
Environmental Health in relation to noise and disturbance as a result of this
development.
12. Comments have been received that because of the transient nature of the
occupiers, there would be a lack of respect and ownership of the site and that

78

due consideration and care to the residential amenity of nearby residents would
be given. This is not a planning consideration but the site would be managed by
Wokingham Borough Council and it is unlikely that any misuse or lack of care for
the site or surroundings would be tolerated.
Trees and Landscape
13. No alteration to landscaping is proposed as part of this development. Planting to
the front of the building, adjacent to Milton Road is present and these would need
to managed appropriately due to the nature of the site becoming occupied. The
garden would also need to be maintained for occupiers to provide useful external
amenity space. Overall, the development is likely to improve the overall
appearance of the site and area due to the need for improved maintenance.
Other issues
14. Neighbours have raised concern that a number of out buildings are not on the
submitted plans, and maintenance to fences and boundaries needs to take place
as well as the site itself encroaching beyond its boundaries.
15. Any outbuildings do not form part of this proposal and are likely no longer
required since the relocation of the education establishment. Further, these are
existing structures and their retention does not need planning permission As part
of the use of the site, as described above, greater maintenance and
management of the site will automatically be required. Should there be any
particular issues regarding maintenance of boundaries etc. that these should be
directed to Housing Services who will be managing the site. Notwithstanding the
above, the contents of this report and the concerns raised shall be passed on to
Housing Services so that they are aware of these concerns.

CONCLUSION
The proposed development would be in accordance with adopted policy, principally
Policies CP2 and CP3 of the Core Strategy and TB09 of the MDD in that the proposed
scheme would provide a sustainable and appropriate form of shelter for vulnerable
groups. The proposed development would not have a significant impact on the
residential amenity of any neighbours, would not cause any highway issues and would
not have a detrimental impact on the character of the area.
Subject to the use of the conditions outlined above, the application is recommended for
approval.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

79

This page is intentionally left blank

L'Allegro
L'Allegro
Milton Road
Road
y Milton
Wokingham
Wokingham

W1

Cornerhaven
Benfieldside

Tuscany

81

L'Allegro
L'Allegro
789 Sq m

The
The map
map is
is based
based upon
upon Ordnance
Ordnance Survey
Survey material
material with
with the
the permission
permission of
of Ordnance
Ordnance
Survey
Survey on
on behalf
behalf of
of the
the Controller
Controller of
of HMSO.
HMSO. (c)
(c) Crown
Crown Copyright.
Copyright. Unauthorised
Unauthorised
reproduction
reproduction infringes
infringes Crown
Crown Copyright
Copyright and
and may
may lead
lead to
to prosecution
prosecution or
or civil
civil
proceedings.
proceedings. Wokingham
Wokingham Borough
Borough Council
Council Licence
Licence Number
Number 100019592.
100019592.

66.4m

33 December
December 2014
2014



Not
Not to
to Scale
Scale

This page is intentionally left blank

N

COMMUNAL
W/C

COMMUNAL
LAUNDRY

G/16
SERVICES
0.91

BEDROOM

BEDROOM 2
BEDROOM 1

BEDROOM

1/15
ST.
0.43
KITCHEN

BEDROOM

1/16
ST.
0.31

KITCHEN

BEDROOM

KITCHEN

83

1/14
ST.
0.21

KITCHEN

KITCHEN

FLAT 2

FLAT 3

LOBBY

UP

LANDING
6.6m²

FLAT 5

UP

FLAT 1

LANDING

1m² VENT

BATHROOM

LANDING
6.8m²

BATHROOM

UP

1/07
STORAGE
1.08

UP
FLAT 2 & 3
SHARED BATHROOM

G/11
SERVICES
1.63

FLAT 4

1/17
SERVICES
0.61

BATHROOM

1/12
ST.
0.6

PANEL

ENTRANCE LOBBY

OFFICE
4.8m²
1m² VENT

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

0.5

0

SCALE 1:50

0.5

1

1.5

2

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

MAIN ENTRANCE

2.5
m

DISCLAIMER NOTES:

DRAWING NOTES:

· THIS DOCUMENT IS COPYRIGHT OF THE ORIGINATOR AND MUST BE TREATED AS CONFIDENTIAL
· THIS DOCUMENT MUST NOT BE ALTERED, REPRODUCED OR DISTRIBUTED WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT

CLIENT:

TITLE:

Wokingham Borough Council

Proposed floor plans for 5 flats

ORIGINATOR:

OF THE ORIGINATOR

· THIS DOCUMENT IS AVAILABLE IN BOTH CONTROLLED (eg. pdf) AND UNCONTROLLED (eg. dwg) FORMATS -

·
·
·
·
·
·
·

·

UNCONTROLLED FORMATS MUST NOT BE ALTERED - THE ORIGINATOR ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
DISCREPANCIES ARISING AS A RESULT OF THE ORIGINATORS INFORMATIONS BEING ALTERED BY OTHERS
ANY DISCREPANCY MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ORIGINATOR
DO NOT SCALE THIS DOCUMENT - USE FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY RELATED WORKS
THIS DOCUMENT MUST BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS PRODUCED BY THE
ORIGINATOR AND OTHER PROJECT DISCIPLINES
THE ORIGINATOR ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION
PRODUCED BY THIRD PARTIES - THIS MUST BE TREATED AS INDICATIVE ONLY
USERS OF THIS DOCUMENT ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR CHECKING WHICH REVISION IS CURRENT
THE DOCUMENT STATUS "INFORMATION" OR "PRELIMINARY", INDICATES THAT THIS DRAWING IS FOR
REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY - THE ORIGINATOR WILL ACCEPT NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE COMPLETENESS
OF INFORMATION UNDER THIS STATUS
THE DOCUMENT STATUS "RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" HAS BEEN PREPARED, IN PART, BASED UPON INFORMATION
FURNISHED BY OTHERS. WHILE THIS INFORMATION IS BELIEVED TO BE RELIABLE, THE ORIGINATOR ASSUMES
NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OF THIS "RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" DOCUMENT OR FOR ANY ERRORS
OR OMISSIONS THAT MAY HAVE BEEN INCORPORATED INTO IT AS A RESULT OF INCORRECT INFORMATION
PROVIDED TO THE ORIGINATOR. THOSE RELYING ON THE "RECORD" OR "AS BUILT" DOCUMENT ARE ADVISED
TO OBTAIN INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION OF ITS ACCURACY

CONTRACTOR CLIENT:

-

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

1:50

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

10/04/16

@ A1

STATUS:

INFORMATION

PROJECT:

Foxwood, Milton Road
Change of use (Sui Generis)
REV

DESCRIPTION

DATE

BY

CHKD

DRAWING No:
JOB No:

ORG:

ZONE:

LEVEL:

TYPE:

160117 RDG XX 00 PL

ROLE:

BEAUMONT HOUSE
59 HIGH STREET
THEALE
NUMBER: REV: READING, RG7 5AL

B 0002 -

TEL: 0118 932 3088
FAX: 01993 815001
WWW.RIDGE.CO.UK

This page is intentionally left blank

85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 26.
Development
Management
Ref No
161189

No weeks on
day of
committee
10/13

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield South

N/A Major
Development

Applicant

Bloor Homes, Linden Homes and Bovis Homes

Location

Land west of Shinfield, west of Hyde End Road
and Hollow Lane, south of Church Lane,
Shinfield

Postcode RG2 9EP

Proposal

Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline planning permission
VAR/2014/0624 (Pursuant to O/2010/1432) for the erection of 517
dwellings including access roads, garages, parking spaces, open space
and landscape treatment of Phase 1, Shinfield West. (Access within the
site, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to be considered).
Type
Reserved Matters
PS Category 7
Officer
Christopher Howard
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20/07/16
Delivery Programme Director

SUMMARY
This application relates to land to west of Hyde End Lane, south of Church Lane and
east of Hollow Lane, Shinfield within the designated South of the M4 Strategic
Development Location (SDL). Outline planning consent for the site was granted under
planning application O/2010/1432 which established the principle of access to the site
together with development parameters. A variation of condition application was
approved under VAR/2014/0624. This secured financial contributions towards the
councils own travel plan – My Journey secured through a deed of variation to the S106
in lieu of the requirement of the developers to deliver their own travel plan. This will
assist the council in delivering a coordinated approach to travel planning across the
SDL and borough.
This current application is a reserved matters application for 517 dwellings together with
access roads within the site. This within two parcels to the north and south of the site
which is further discussed in paragraph 10 below. The purpose of this application is to
provide further detail in respect of the layout, scale, appearance of the buildings and
landscaping.
The application follows several other planning consents for the South of the M4 SDL
and the significant majority of the housing allocation and associated infrastructure
required by the Core Strategy within the SDL has now been approved. Outline consent
has been granted on appeal for 1,200 residential units and 150 extra care units at
Shinfield West together with a primary school, local centre, public open space sports
pavilion, suitable alternative natural greenspace (SANG) and access and landscaping.
In addition outline planning has been approved for 900 residential units, a primary
school, public open space and suitable alternative natural greenspace at Spencers
Wood and Three Mile Cross. Both applications help to secure the delivery of the
required infrastructure within the SDL which includes sports pitches, open space,

87

education facilities and a new public transport service.
Full planning permission has also been granted for the Loddon SANG which is now
open and available for public use. In addition, the Eastern Relief Road has also been
approved. Full forward funding for the Eastern Relief Road has been secured through
the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). Work has commenced on site with the
expectation that the road will be fully open in 2016.
There is further planning history for the SDL provided below.
The overarching vision of the SDL is to provide a co-ordinated approach to the delivery
of infrastructure and services ensuring that developments are of a high quality and are
sustainable. This includes the provision of schools, community facilities, good quality
open space and appropriate local transport and links.
The outline application for Shinfield West was supported by an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP) which established how the necessary infrastructure could be delivered. A
S106 legal agreement secured the proportion of infrastructure attributable to the
development at Shinfield West and triggers for its delivery.
The principle of development in this location has been established through its allocation
by policy CP19 of the Core Strategy and through the Spatial Framework Plan within the
South of the M4 Supplementary Planning Document together with the outline planning
permission.
The application is before the Planning Committee as it is a major development that is
recommended for approval. It is considered that the development would be a
sustainable urban extension to the existing settlement whereby residents would have
good access to services and facilities. The development would not have a significant
detrimental impact on the character of the area or on existing residents.
The proposal would provide for an adequate level of amenity for the future occupants of
the dwellings together with an acceptable impact on ecology, traffic, highway safety and
flood risk in addition to contributing to the delivery of infrastructure provided jointly by
the wider SDL such as the Eastern Relief Road. In addition it would also assist in the
delivery of housing numbers and assist the council in maintaining a 5 year housing
supply.
In design terms, the proposal meets all the council’s standards and in particular internal
space and parking. The proposals are considered to be acceptable, represents good
design and therefore it is recommended that Reserved Matters are approved subject to
conditions outlined below

PLANNING STATUS
 Strategic Development Location (SDL) as identified on the Core Strategy
 South of the M4 Strategic Development Location SPD
 Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD
 Within 5km of the Special Protection Area (SPA)
 Mineral consultation zone
 Ancient Woodland at south east of the site

88

 Nuclear Consultation Zone (HSE to be consulted on schemes of 200 dwellings or
more)

RECOMMENDATION
APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to the following conditions:
1) Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions imposed by
planning permission 0/2010/1432 dated 8/11/12 as varied by VAR/2014/0624 dated
22/10/14 which conditions shall remain in full force and effect save in so far as they are
expressly affected or varied by this permission.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
Plan numbers being finalised to be included on members update
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3) Prior to the commencement of the construction of dwellings/substations above
finished ground floor slab level, details of the materials for the external building
materials including porches, canopies, weatherboarding (if the submitted
weatherboarding is unacceptable then another detail shall be applied to plots A58 A59
A12 and A13) and front doors (to include colour of doors) shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter
be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order
with or without modification), the garage accommodation on the site identified on the
approved plans shall be kept available for the parking of vehicles ancillary to the
residential use of the site at all times. It shall not be used for any business nor as
habitable space.
Reason: To ensure that adequate parking space is available on the site, so as to reduce
the likelihood of roadside parking, in the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policy CC07.
5) Details of the surfacing treatment and construction materials of the roads at:
(i) the interchange of Roads 32, Access North, Road 24 Road 23 and the Avenue;
(ii) Road 32 and the interchange of Roads 32, 34 and 36
shall be carried out in accordance with the details pursuant to the application subject for
approval of planning condition application 3 of Primary Infrastructure Works Reserved
Matters approval reference 160183.
Reason: In the interest of Highway safety. Relevant policy Wokingham Borough Core

89

Strategy Policy CP6
6) No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access that serves the dwelling has
been surfaced with a permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the
access measured from the carriageway edge.
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of road
safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.
7) Within eight weeks of commencement of development a Road Safety Audit shall be
submitted for Access Road R. Should this identify that a footway is required for the
south side of Access Road R that connects Hyde End Road to the southern
development parcel, within eight weeks of submission of the Road Safety Audit, full
details of the construction of the footway shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The footway shall be constructed in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any dwelling of the southern development
parcel.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
8) Notwithstanding the approved plans for access roads 40, 39, 41 & 51, prior to the
commencement of development of these access roads, full details of the access
junctions into access roads 40, 39, 41 & 51 shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. These accesses shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
9) Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to commencement of development of plots
C408, A485 and A495 further details of the detailed setting out of these plots shall first
be submitted for approval in writing by the local planning authority. These plots shall be
built in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
10) The development shall only take place in accordance with the Written Scheme of
Investigation for Geophysical Survey and Archaeological Evaluation approved for this
sub phase under planning condition 31 of the outline permission.
Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains within the site are adequately
investigated and recorded or preserved in situ in the interest of protecting the

90

archaeological heritage of the Borough (Core Strategy Policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan Policy TB25).
11) The soft landscaping details provided in the plans listed in condition 2 above shall
be implemented and delivered in accordance with the approved plans. Any trees or
plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are removed die or become
seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of species, size and number as originally approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure the proper planning of the site.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
12) Any first floor windows in the north facing elevation of plots B240 and B241 hereby
permitted shall be permanently obscure-glazed and fixed closed at all times.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
13) Those windows shown on the approved drawings as having obscured glazing in
part or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained, and shall remain
fixed closed at all times
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
14) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or similar openings shall
be constructed in the first floor level or above in any elevation of the buildings hereby
permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved drawing(s).
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
16) Boundary treatments required for condition 17 of planning approval VAR/2014/0624
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and shall be maintained
in the approved form for so long as the development remains on the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
22) Notwithstanding the approved layout, the siting of plot A517 shall be built in
accordance with plan number CSL.01_PH-1N Revision F.
Reason: In the interests of amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3

O/2010/1432

Outline application for a residential development of up to 1 200
dwellings a further 150 units of specialist housing (including
sheltered housing) for elderly persons a local centre to include a
foodstore (2 500 sqm) and other retail and office uses a community

91

building proposed extension of existing primary schools erection of
a new primary school public open space sports pavilion suitable
alternative natural greenspace (SANG) and access and
landscaping. – Appeal Approved 08/11/2012
VAR/2014/0624

Application to remove condition 48 of planning consent O/2010/1432
(the development shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved Residential Travel Plan) – Officer note: this has been
removed, however a deed of variation has been agreed to the S106
agreement to secure contributions towards the councils own travel
plan – My Journey. Approved 22/10/14

NMT/2014/1837 Application for a non-material amendment to planning consent
O/2010/1432 to allow for changes to condition 15 relating to
Affordable Housing Provision –Officer note: this application secured
16.6% on site affordable housing provision and a commuted sum for
off-site affordable housing which has been secured through a deed
of variation to the legal agreement. Approved 23/10/14
RM/2015/1375
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning consent
VAR/2014/0624 for the erection of 69 dwellings including access
roads garages parking spaces open space and landscape
treatment of Phase 1a Shinfield West (access within site
appearance landscaping layout and scale).
160183

Application for Reserved Matters submission in respect of the
primary infrastructure phase including access roads, suds ponds,
foul and surface water drainage and associated landscaping.
Approved 15/04/16

PLANNING
HISTORY SOUTH
M4 SDL
F/2005/4827

Proposed construction of an Eastern relief road for Shinfield
including a new bridge over the M4 motorway and under
Cutbush Lane. Appeal withdrawn 31/10/2006

O/2007/2268

Outline application for the proposed residential development (C3
Use) at a minimum of 30 dph plus creation of new vehicular
accesses footpath links cycleways and public open space.
Approved 25/02/2008

O/2009/1027

Outline application for phase 1 development of Science &
Innovation Park (Access to be considered) plus full application
for the construction of access road foot and cycle ways M4
overbridge and associated works including landscaping and
engineering works plus erection of boundary wall and fence
adjoining Shinfield Road/Access Road. Part demolition and
reformation of facade of Stable Buildings at Lane End Farm and
demolition of existing farm buildings. – Approved 27/10/10

92

F/2010/1428

Full application for the construction of an Eastern Relief Road
(ERR) to Shinfield including the construction of road foot and
cycle-ways an M4 over-bridge. Re-grading of embankments
landscaping utilities creation of flood compensation areas and
associated works including engineering and other operations.
Erection of replacement boundary wall and fence adjoining
Shinfield Road/ ERR part demolition of existing farm buildings
at Lane End Farm and demolition/deconstruction of two poly
tunnels south of Cutbush Lane. – Appeal Approved 08/11/2012

F/2010/1434

Application for change of use of land from agricultural to Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) (Sui Generis use) and
associated development to include Pedestrian and Vehicular
access car park Footpaths and Landscaping. – Appeal
Approved 08/11/2012

F/2013/0347

Full planning permission for the erection of 276 dwellings with
associated access landscaping and open space following
demolition of existing dwelling and ancillary buildings (214a
Hyde End Road). - Approved 24/12/2013

O/2013/0565

Outline application for the erection of 100 dwellings with
associated landscaping and open space means of access to be
considered. – Approved 10/04/2014

O/2013/0346

Hybrid application with part in outline in respect of up to 900
dwellings up to a three form entry primary school public open
space access and landscape (means of access into the site to
be considered) and part in full in respect to Suitable Alternative
Natural Greenspace (SANG) following demolition of existing
dwelling and ancillary buildings including greenhouses sheds
stables and garage (214a Hyde End Road). - Approved
24/12/2013

O/2013/0101

Outline planning permission for a residential development
comprising up to 126 dwellings, public open space, children's
play areas, accesses to Cutbush Lane and the Shinfield
Eastern Relief Road, Landscaping, Ecological buffer
zone, ground modelling, sustainable drainage systems and
associated infrastructure. – Approved 24/12/2013

F/2014/2323

Full permission erection of 9 dwellings north of Croft Road –
Approved 23/03/15
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning
Consent O/2009/1027 for the development of phase 1A of
proposed Thames Valley Science Park comprising the
construction of a gateway building and all associated
landscaping and ancillary works plus temporary car parking
arrangements – Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale
to be considered. – Under consideration

RM/2015/0630

93

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Residential
Site Area

20.63ha including LEAP, allotments
and High More Copse
16.9
0
517
Approx. 31
92 and commuted sum
Agricultural
1461 gross see report below
paragraphs 75 - 78 for a full
breakdown

Site Area residential
Existing units
Proposed units
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Proposed parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Archaeological officer
No objection
Natural England
No objection
Environmental Health
No objection
Network Rail
No comments
Thames Water
No objection
Highways Agency
No objection
Request a fire hydrant (officer note – this is secured by
Berkshire Fire and Rescue
condition 77 of the outline planning consent and it is
not necessary to duplicate for the Reserved Matters
application)
English Heritage
No objection
Planning Policy
No objection
Waste services
No objection
Highways/drainage
No objection
Landscape and trees
No objection, request condition 11
WBC Ecology
No objection
Shinfield Parish Council
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that there is a
footpath which exits the ‘southern’ portion of the phase
1 development straight out onto Hyde End Road, on a
section where there is no pavement along on this side.
Residents intending to go to Shinfield Infant and
Nursery School will be required to cross the road, walk
along the southern side of Hyde End Road, and cross
again to reach the school. This is not a safe or
sustainable walk to school and will discourage people
from walking. Poor walking routes will lead to
excessive use of private motor vehicles.
The Parish Council requests that this phase only
proceeds once sustainable travel routes that avoid
conflict with the existing road network are designed
and approved.
Officer note: Please see response provided in Annex 1

94

Berks Bucks and Oxford
Wildlife Trust
Conservation Officer
Environment Agency
Public Rights of Way Officer

No comments received
No objection
No comments
Requests upgrade of Footpath 11 – Officer note - The
Phase 1 proposals include the resurfacing of Footpath
11 as it routes along the eastern boundary of the site.
Similar improvements will be made to the southern
section of Footpath 11 when the Local Centre parcel is
developed. There is no obligation to undertake
improvements along the remaining short northern
section of Footpath 11 as it routes to Church Lane.
Indeed, this section of footpath lies outside of the red
line application boundary and is on University of
Reading land which is not under the control of the
developers.
As a result of the request, the applicant has engaged
in separate discussions which are ongoing with the
University of Reading which has indicated that it is
willing in principle to consider facilitating the upgrade of
this section of Footpath 11. Initial investigations
indicate that an unbound aggregate surface is likely to
be the most appropriate treatment given the tree root
constraints in the area which would necessitate a
limited dig solution. Further discussions will need to be
held with the University of Reading and with officers at
WBC regarding such details before a decision is
reached on whether to proceed with the works.

REPRESENTATIONS
13 letters of objection and one letter of comment. The planning related issues are
summarised below:







Design appearance and layout/impact on character of the area – Officer note:
see report sections 20 - 45
Impact on wildlife/ecology/trees – Office note: The principle of development has
been established for this site under the outline planning application. This
included a full Environmental Statement which assessed the impact on these
issues. The application was assessed by the Secretary of State and found to be
acceptable. The current reserved matters application has been assessed by the
Biodiversity Officer and Landscape Officer and they have supported the
application
Insufficient school places – Officer note: The development will have to provide a
2 form entry primary school which is identified by the outline planning application.
This is considered acceptable for the need generated by the development. The
delivery of the school is triggered on housing occupations (200th dwelling).
Expansion land also has been secured for the school should there be a need
generated for a further form of entry
Insufficient parking – Officer note: The application provides parking in line with

95




















the Wokingham Borough Standards. The Highways Officer has assessed the
application and the parking provision and distribution is acceptable see report
sections 75 - 78
Loss of agricultural land – Officer note: The principle of development on this site
has been established through the outline planning application as approved by the
Secretary of State. This issue cannot be revisited for the purposes of the
reserved matters application.
Impact on highways/highway safety – Officer note: The principle of development
has been established for this site under the outline planning application. This
included a full Transport Assessment which assessed the impact on these
issues. The application was assessed by the Secretary of State and found to be
acceptable. See report sections 72-83
Impact on flooding – Officer note: see report sections 84-88
Provision of elderly housing – Officer note: Elderly housing provision will be
provided at the centre of Shinfield as the outline planning consent secured 150
extra care units.
Location of affordable housing – Officer note: See report sections 13-16
Increase noise and disturbance – Officer note: See report sections 59
Overlooking, Loss of Light, Overbearing – Officer note: See report sections 46 58
Loss of views – Officer note: Not a material planning consideration and cannot be
used for a reason for refusal
High density housing / overdevelopment – Officer note: See report sections 3839
Change in layout from original indicative masterplan – Officer note: the
masterplan was provided to give an indication of how development could be
brought forward for the site. This does not mean that any of the housing
development on the site is fixed. The revised layout has been considered in the
context of the separation standards and relationships with neighbouring
development is provided below in paragraphs 46-58. Following consultation, the
layout has been revised at Maddock Close to increase the level of separation.
The landscape buffer shown on the outline plans now has been replaced by
larger front gardens for the proposed plots in this location which will be better
managed. The landscaping buffer that was shown towards Maddock Close has
been replaced by deeper front gardens and a good level of separation has been
achieved following revisions to the plans to set the new houses further back from
the existing dwellings.
Loss of open space for recreation - Officer note: The outline planning application
secured a significant package in terms of upgrades to sport and recreation.
Significant parts of previously private areas of countryside will be open as
housing is delivered such as the SANGs and to date 2 SANGs have been
opened in the SDL area (Langley Mead and Mays Farm SANG). Further areas
of informal open space will also be provided to the west of the development site.
Principle of development / housing numbers: - Officer note: The principle of
development has been established for this site under the outline planning
application. This included the quantum of development and parameters for the
height including density and land suitable for residential development. The
application was assessed by the Secretary of State and found to be acceptable.
Concern over Homes of Multiple Occupancy – Officer note: whilst this is noted,
this is speculative at this stage. A condition restricting the use of the houses
would therefore fail the reasonable and necessary tests outlined in the NPPF.

96

Should issues arise in the future, the Council could consider imposing restrictions
at a later stage.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework 2012
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014
South East Plan 2009
Saved policy NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies:
CP1 - Sustainable Development
CP2 - Inclusive Communities
CP3 - General Development Principles
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 - Housing Mix, Density and Affordability
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand
CP7 - Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP10 - Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)
CP17 - Housing delivery
CP19 – South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development
Locations
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD LP) policies
CC01
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02
Development Limits
CC03
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04
Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05
Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06
Noise
CC07
Parking
CC08
Safeguarding alignments of the Strategic Transport Network & Road
Infrastructure
CC09
Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10
Sustainable Drainage
Residential Uses
TB05
Housing Mix
TB07:
Internal Space Standards
TB09
Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
Landscape and Nature Conservation

97

TB21:
TB23:

Landscape Character
Biodiversity and Development

SAL05:

Delivery of avoidance measures for Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area

Emerging Shinfield Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan:
The Draft Shinfield Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the Borough Council in January 2016.
It was considered by Executive on 31 March 2016, publicised for a 6 week statutory
consultation and it is currently being examined by an independent examiner. It is expected that
a referendum will take place later this year.
Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 41-007-20140306 of the NPPG states:
‘Planning applications are decided in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. An emerging neighbourhood plan may be a material
consideration. Paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight
that may be given to relevant policies in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider
include the stage of preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved
objections to relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final
say on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should respect
evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply weight to an emerging
neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted with the draft neighbourhood plan
should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the consultation that has informed the plan
proposals. And all representations on the proposals should have been submitted to the local
planning authority by the close of the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the
decision maker in each case to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to
give to it’.
Considering that the Neighbourhood Plan is in the process of examination and it has not
yet gone through a referendum, it is considered that the Plan carries very limited weight
at present.

Supplementary Planning Documents
Wokingham Borough Design Supplementary Planning Document (18 February 2010)
Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New
Development (Revised 28th April 2010)
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May
2010)
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October
2011)
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2 June
2011)
A Vision for Our Villages: Ryeish Green, Spencers Wood, Three Mile Cross Character
Statement

98

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development and infrastructure delivery
1) The application site forms part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy as the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location (SDL).
2) Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to provide
at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and infrastructure in the
period 2006-2026. The majority of this new residential development will be in four
SDLs, of which South of the M4 SDL is one of these. It is anticipated that a phased
development incorporating approximately 2,500 dwellings and associated infrastructure
will be delivered on 77 hectares of land within the South of the M4 SDL (Appendix
A7.14).
3) Core Strategy policy CP19 is amplified by Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the South
of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD, which addresses the associated
infrastructure impacts across the whole Borough. These documents establish a
requirement for a sustainable, well designed, mixed use development and make clear
that a co-ordinated approach to the development of the SDL will be required to deliver
the necessary infrastructure, facilities and services to meet the needs of the expanded
community.
4) Outline planning permission for the site was granted by the Secretary of State in
2012. This established the principle of development for the site together with access
for up to 1200 residential units, 150 extra care homes, new district centre (including a
foodstore 2500m2), community centre, leisure uses and green infrastructure including
areas of SANG. These were considered against the relevant Core Strategy policies and
Local Plan policies and the application was accepted as policy compliant by the
Secretary of State. The current application seeks reserved matters approval for
appearance, layout, landscaping and scale.
5) The outline consent included an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal
agreement. The legal agreement secures the coordinated delivery of the infrastructure
necessary to support the development and fair share of the SDL wide infrastructure.
These included contributions towards off-site infrastructure and services such as roads,
education, sports facilities, community facilities and green infrastructure. In addition, it
secured an affordable housing contribution in accordance with the Core Strategy and
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document.
Site background/established principles
6) The details approved under the outline planning consent established parameters for
the development including general site layout including the quantum of development,
indicative location of housing, open space, density and general heights of buildings.
Access to the site was also established. Two all vehicle access points were permitted
one at Hyde End Road (which would serve this phase of the development) and the
other at Church Lane (which the development would ultimately link into). A further point
of access was also established from Hollow Lane (although this will be restricted to bus,
pedestrian and cycle access beyond the new district centre).
7) Since approval of the outline planning application, approval has been granted for
several applications in respect to conditions and reserved matters applications. The
phasing strategy for the site was established through the Interim Phasing Master Plan

99

which is shown in figure 1. This established housing development to the north and
south of the site as part of the phase 1 development. In addition, planting in the
strategic green space is also identified in this phase as approved by RM/2013/0946
together with allotments at the north of the site and a children’s play area which is
subject to this current reserved matters approval.

Figure 1: Phasing for Shinfield West

8) Once the phasing strategy for the site was established, an application for the key
infrastructure within the site was approved (ref 160183). This identified the principal
internal roads within the site, drainage features and key areas of landscape and a plan
is shown in figure 2. The infrastructure application was a key enabling application which
will speed up access to the development plots within the site and will accelerate housing
delivery. It will also facilitate access to key infrastructure within the site such as the
school/public open space which will help to bring this forward more rapidly than a
piecemeal approach.

100

Figure 2: Infrastructure approved under planning app 160183 with principle roads,
landscaping and drainage features established
9) The current planning application reflects the principles identified above and follows
the established street patterns. Further design principles for the site have also been
established through the approval of a site wide Design Code for the entire Shinfield
west planning unit. This establishes the overarching principles for the site for areas
such as highway widths and design principles for the houses themselves. This will
ensure consistency in design approach of the key streets / spaces once the future
development parcels are brought forward. The main principles of the design code and
how they have been applied for this reserved matters application are further discussed
in paragraphs 24 to 37
Site Description
10) The application site relates to land to the west of Shinfield. Two development
parcels have been put forward as part of the planning application. The first is to the

101

south of Church Lane/West of Hollow Lane (herein referred to as parcel 1) and second
to the west of Hyde End Road (herein referred to as parcel 2). The parcels are showing
in figure 3.

Figure 3: Development parcels and plan showing context of Shinfield West
planning unit with Shinfield
11) The predominant land use related to both parcels is agricultural. Parcel 1 has
residential development located to the north of the site at Holder Close, Maddock Close
and Deardon Way/Church lane. There is also residential development located to the
east of the site at Teal Grove and Skylark Way.
12) Parcel 2 is bounded to the east by Hyde End Road. It incorporates an area of
woodland (High Moor Copse) to the south east of the development parcel and a line of
trees on the southern boundary. The significant vegetation would be retained and
housing/roads have been designed to provide an appropriate buffer to High Moor
Copse. This would also help screen the new houses from Hyde End Road.
Affordable and specialist housing
13) Core Strategy Policy CP5, Housing mix, density and affordability, amplified by MDD
LP Policy TB05: Housing Mix, South of the M4 SPD Design Principle 2b, the
Infrastructure SPD and the Affordable Housing SPD, requires a mix of tenures,
including 35% affordable housing within SDLs.

102

14) The application proposes 92 affordable dwellings (47 two bedroom dwellings; 36
three bedroom dwellings and 9 four bedroom dwellings) on site equating to 17.3%. This
is in accordance with an amendment to the affordable housing strategy for the site
which was agreed under NMT/2014/1387 and a deed of variation to the S106 dated 21 st
October 2014. Under the terms of the non-material amendment, the onsite affordable
housing was set as 16.6% and the deed of variation sought a commuted sum for the
provision of off-site affordable housing in order to secure the 35% affordable housing
required for the application.
15) The location of affordable housing and clustering of it has been raised by
representations received. The affordable housing has been designed to be tenure blind
(i.e. blend in and not be distinctive in design to the market housing). Furthermore,
clustering the units helps with the future management of the dwellings. On this basis,
the location and distribution of the affordable housing is considered acceptable.
16) On this basis, it is considered that the application is in accordance with the agreed
strategy and will secure the 35% affordable housing requirement. The affordable
housing officer is satisfied with this strategy.
Dwelling mix
17) MDD LP Policy TB05 requires an appropriate housing mix which reflects a balance
between the character of the area and the current and projected needs of households.
18) The application proposes the dwelling mix outlined in table 1:
Table 1: Dwelling mix
Dwelling type (bedrooms) Number
provided
on site
1 bed apartment
15

2 Storeys

2.5
Storeys

3 Storeys

0

0

2 bed apartment

21

0

0

2 bed house
3 bed house
4 bed house
5 bed house

121
186
159
15

121
109
129
6

0
62
9
9

4 (including 1 bed
apartments)
4 (including 1 bed
apartments)
0
15
21
0

19) The Policy Officer has assessed the application and raises no objections in terms of
the dwelling mix. Taking the constraints of the site into account, this approach is
considered acceptable.
Masterplan – Layout
20) Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP3, General Principles
for Development requires high quality design that respects its context. This requirement
is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03, Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
and TB21, Landscape Character and South of the M4 SPD which requires development
proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s Green Infrastructure, retaining existing

103

trees, hedges and other landscape features and incorporating high quality - ideally
native – planting as an integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s
Landscape Character Assessment.
21) Core Strategy policy CP19 sets out the concept rational for the design parameters
for the South of the M4 SDL and these are outlined in further detail in Appendix 7 of the
Core Strategy. This states that:
Development in a series of locations around the periphery of the three villages
is required. This approach should consider the relationship between the
current built areas and the open countryside. Opportunities to form new edges
to the existing villages exist, allowing a managed transition between urban and
rural.
22) Further design guidance is provided by the South of the M4 SPD in section 4.
Design principle 3 is concerned with character and states that there should be diversity
and distinction in the SDL which should be enhanced through the application of
character typologies.
23) It is important to set out the site in the context of the wider planning permission for
Shinfield West. The application parcels themselves form a significant part of the
Shinfield West planning unit. In order to ensure consistency of design for the entire
planning unit, the Shinfield West planning consent established design principles
including indicative parameter plans for development limits, density and building
heights. Further design guidance was also included within the Design and Access
Statement.
24) To build upon these principles, a requirement of the outline planning permission was
for the applicant to submit an acceptable design code (ref: 160557) for approval to the
council prior to the submission of reserved matters applications. The purpose of the
design code is to ensure continuity of development across the site. In this case there
are three developers building on the site and therefore it is important to control design
whilst at the same time ensure diversity in appearance and continuity. In accordance
with this requirement, the applicant has provided these details which have
demonstrated the overarching principles for the entire site. The design principles
outlined in the code will be expected to be incorporated for the other development
parcels when these are brought forward within the Shinfield West planning unit.
25) The submitted masterplan retains the principles within the outline planning
application and design code. To reflect this and inform diversity of development, the
applicant has applied seven different character areas to the layout (Main Street, The
Avenue, Neighbourhood Loop, Greenway Edge, Western Edge, Internal Streets and
Woodland Edge). Within these areas, differing street typologies, building heights and
landscaping have been applied to promote variety and also manage vehicle speeds
throughout the site. In addition, consideration has been applied to the relationship of
the site and the constraints of the surrounding area through the application of these
differing character areas.
26) The principle layout of the site has been established by the primary infrastructure
application. This established the key routes through the site and used the principles
outlined in the design code to inform street hierarchy, landscaping and drainage
features. As these have been established, the layout of the main routes is considered

104

acceptable.
Masterplan – Design and appearance
27) In terms of the detailed design of the buildings, the South of the M4 SPD
recommends that the existing built form should be used to inform the design. The
design code sets out the parameters for the site and builds upon the principles
established by the design and access statement for the outline planning consent. The
current application incorporates the Avenue, Neighbourhood Loop, Woodland Edge,
Greenway Edge and Internal Streets character areas and these are taken in turn below.
28) The Avenue character area is a principle road through the site which would
ultimately link the site between Hyde End Road at the south and Church Lane to the
north of the site with the wider Shinfield West planning unit. In order to emphasise this
key route through the site, the applicant has incorporated 2, 2.5 and 3 storey dwelling
heights to make this a clear and legible road. For parcel 1, to provide a degree of
transition between the development located on Deardon Way the applicant has used a
traditional style of housing development which reflects the prevailing character. This
extends until the bend at the north of the site and changes as you turn the corner to
head south along the main spine route through the site where building heights have
increased to link into the design approach for parcel 2.
29) At parcel 2, as the site is reasonably set away from any defined form of
development, the applicant has used more 3 storey units here to emphasise the main
route through the site. This approach will be expected to continue as the parcels are
brought forward for the future phases of the development as required by the design
code.
30) For both parcels, the street width of this route is also wider than the other character
areas in order to emphasise this principal route. The design choice for the dwellings
themselves is reasonably consistent in order to allow future users to identify this as the
main route through the site although there is some variety in detailing and building types
to provide diversity in architectural styles.
31) The Neighbourhood Loop character area would provide a secondary circuit from the
development parcel to the wider Shinfield West planning unit. This road is slightly
narrower than the Main Street which would provide an indication of a change in street
hierarchy. This is reinforced with the application of a different character area along this
road with more variety in terms of building types. Building heights along this route are
predominantly 2-2.5 stories although apartments have been located in key focal areas
aiding wayfinding through this loop. The street hierarchy and design approach would
set it apart from the Avenue Character area.
32) The Woodland Edge character area has been applied to the eastern boundary of
the site in order to respond to the constraints of the existing woodland (High Moor
Copse) located at this part of the site. Again a different approach has been applied to
the design of the roads serving this part of the development with shared streets and
private drives linking to the proposed dwellings for this area. The style of dwellings here
is a more traditional form of design than the rest of the site and features for the building
have been designed to provide a cottage type appearance. The units are
predominantly two stories in height although there is the occasional use of two and a
half storey units. This is considered to respond well to the edge of the site.

105

33) Similarly, the layout of the houses in this part of the site are more sinuous which
defines it from the other character areas. Not only does this respond well to the edge of
the woodland, but also to the edge of the settlement providing a transition between the
centre of the development and the edge of the site adjacent to Hyde End Road.
34) The Greenway Edge character area has been applied along the areas of strategic
landscaping within the site as established by the Primary Infrastructure Application.
These will serve as an important function of providing landscaping within the
development site and clear linkages between the development parcels. The
predominant form of development for this character area is two storey detached houses
which resembles a loose form of development adjacent to the Greenway Edge. There
are the occasional semi and terraced units which are up to 2.5 stories but the length of
terraces is shorter than in other character areas and sit well in the landscape. One
apartment block is proposed, however, this has been sited towards what would
ultimately be the district centre of the development. This would define the transition
between the main residential area and the centre for future users through providing a
landmark into the district centre.
35) The Internal Street character area has a less formal road hierarchy and shared
surfaces are used to serve access to these areas across both parcel 1 and 2 of the site.
The layout of housing within this part of the site is also less formal with short street runs
(but well linked and permeable) and with more variety within the building line and unit
types. Again the application of these design principles helps to provide a distinctive
neighbourhood which would be clear to future occupants and users of the site.
36) Throughout the site, the applicant has provided a good range of housing types and
styles ensuring that there is diversity in the built form and a range of housing for future
occupants. The application of character areas outlined above also helps provide variety
throughout the site. In addition, there is diversity in the style of the dwellings achieved
through detailing such as rendering on some house types and brick work details on
others. This helps to provide a clear and legible neighbourhood.
37) The overall design approach for all of the dwellings provide continuity in approach
and is considered to respect the context of the site location and advice provided by the
NPPF, policies CP1 and CP3 together with the South of the M4 SPD and
Supplementary Planning Guidance and is therefore acceptable.
Masterplan – Density
38) Design principles 3 (a-g) are outlined in the South of the M4 SPD and are
concerned with the character of the development, including the density of development.
The Core Strategy approach for the South of the M4 SDL in respect to density is
outlined in Appendix 7 which indicates an average density of 30-35dph across the SDL.
39) The overall density proposed by the application is 31dph. The masterplan shows
that density would be greater towards the centre of the site diminishing towards the
edges. Higher density in the centre would define both the Main Street and
Neighbourhood Loop character areas which would provide a good degree of legibility for
these areas and the design code will ensure that this theme is continued as the other
development parcels come forward. The application of lower density development
towards the edges of the development provides a good transition between the existing
built form and surrounding countryside which is an acceptable approach.

106

Masterplan - Landscaping
40) Much of the development site is open fields at present whilst there is not a huge
presence of significant existing vegetation, the masterplan has carefully considered the
landscape and incorporated this into the design. For parcel 2, there is a woodland
adjacent to Hyde End Road which would be retained and appropriate buffers have been
applied in the layout of the development to preserve this. This would help to soften the
impact of the houses from the outset and provide screening of this parcel as you
approach the development.
41) In the north at parcel 1, there is less significant vegetation although there is an
existing established hedgerow that runs from east to west through the south of the site.
Again the layout has been carefully considered to ensure that this would be retained
with appropriate buffers from the built form. This would also provide a degree of
softening for when the future development parcels are brought forward. Although street
planting is limited in some of the internal streets of the site, some key tree planting has
been achieved with views through to green spaces and landscaping. This helps soften
the development and there is also hedgerow planting to the front of the dwellings in
front garden areas where space is limited for tree planting.
42) Within the development, landscaping is proposed throughout the character areas.
Landscaping strips and SUDs have been established through the primary infrastructure
and these will include tree planting. Along the Avenue character area a regular line of
trees is proposed which, when established, will give this area an avenue type feel and
also help distinguish it as part of the primary route for the site. More informal plating is
proposed in the other character areas which include trees and low level planting. These
measures together with the proposed boundary treatments would reduce and mitigate
the proposed development’s impact on the landscape and is generally consistent with
the advice provided by the South of the M4 SPD.
43) The applicant has carefully considered the landscaping within the site masterplan.
Where possible existing trees are to be retained and there would be no loss of any
species considered significant by the Landscape Officer. Semi mature trees are
proposed within the site layout which would help soften the built form and provide a
verdant character along the areas of public open space. Where existing vegetation has
been lost, this has been established at the outline planning stage. The Landscape
Officer has assessed the planting strategy and is satisfied with the planting at this stage.
Further details in respect to planting can be secured by conditions 12-22 of the outline
planning consent.
Masterplan conclusion
44) The design approach taken to inform the layout and appearance of the buildings is
considered to respond well to the existing landscape features, context of the site and
surrounding area. The applicant has strongly demonstrated a comprehensive approach
to the delivery of the houses under consideration through the application of the
principles established in the design code within the layout and design choices. These
principles will be expected to be brought forward into the wider Shinfield West planning
unit when reserved matters applications are submitted for these development parcels.
45) Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not have a significant detrimental
impact on the character of the area and is broadly in accordance with the principles of

107

the relevant planning policies and supplementary planning advice.
Residential amenity: the impact upon existing neighbouring properties
46) Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high quality
of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land users.
Separation standards for new residential development are set out in section 4.7 of the
Borough Design Guide.
Nos 1- 5 Holder Close
47) There is between 22m and 28m back to back separation from Nos 1- 5 Holder
Close and plots 508-514. This is in line with or exceeds the back to back separation
standards outlined in the Borough Design Guide.
No 7 Holder Close
48) There is at least 16 m rear to flank relationship with plots 506 and 507. This is in
excess of the standards outlined in the Borough Design Guide
No 8 Holder Close
49) There is between 18 and 21m flank to flank separation from No.8 to plot 503, this is
well in excess of the standards outlined in the Borough Design Guide.
No21 Deardon Way
50) Whilst the Borough Design Guide does not have guidance for front to flank
relationships, it is considered reasonable to apply the rear to flank separation distance
as the relationship is in essence the same. There would be 12m front to flank
separation from plot 517 to the boundary fence of no 21. This is in accordance with the
12m rear to flank relationship outlined in the Borough Design Guide
Nos 2 - 4 Maddock Close
51) The relationship with plots 515 and 516 Maddock close means that there is a 22m
front to rear separation distance from the new houses to the main rear wall of Nos 2 and
4. Again although the borough design guide does not prescribe a distance for this
relationship, the maximum rear to rear separation distance has been applied.
52) In terms of the relationship with the houses backing onto No.4, there is 25m
separation to the flank elevation of No 4. This is well in excess of the standards
outlined in the borough design guide. With regards to plot 407, there is over 22m
separation from the rear of the new house to No.4. This is in excess of the 22m that
would be common for a back to back relationship. In addition views would be oblique
from the new dwelling to no.4.
Nos 1 – 5 Maddock Close
53) The houses here have a flank to front relationship. Again the Borough Design
Guide does not have a specific figure for this although it is reasonable to apply the rear
to flank separation distance as the relationship is in essence the same. From this there
is between 16m and 21m separation from plots 240 and 241 respectively to the
dwellings in Maddock Close. This combined with the level of the land which drops down
from Maddock Close to the development site is considered to be an acceptable

108

relationship.
No 7 – 9 Teal Grove
54) The new houses would have a front to front or front to flank relationship with these
dwellings. There is between 22m and 29m separation between the existing houses and
the new houses which is in excess of the guidance within the Borough Design Guide.
Stantons
55) There is sufficing separation between Stantons and plot 250. The borough design
guide calls for a 1 m flank to boundary separation and there is around 11m between
each flank wall. Stantons is now used as a nursery although this relationship would be
acceptable to a residential dwelling and would not prejudice the re use of the building as
a dwelling.
Hyde End Road
56) Much of the site is reasonably isolated from Hyde End Road although there is some
residential development located on the eastern boundary of the site on the other side of
Hyde End Road. The presence of High Moor Copse however means that there would
be at least 60m front to front separation from the proposed houses and existing
dwellings. This is well in excess of the guidance outlined in the Borough Design Guide
and the presence of High Moor copse will provide good screening for the existing
residents.
57) As outlined above the development is in accordance with the separation standards
outlined in the Borough Design Guide. Where there is no prescribed standard, a
comparable relationship has been applied. Given these factors and the onsite
conditions, it is considered that there would be no significant issues arising in terms of
loss of light, overbearing or overlooking. Planning conditions 12 - 16 will ensure that this
relationship remains in the future.
58) Given these relationships and the onsite conditions, it is considered that there would
be no significant amenity impacts to existing residents in terms of overlooking, loss of
light and overbearing.
Residential amenity – noise
59) Whilst it is acknowledged that there would be a greater level of activity in the area
arising from the delivery and future occupation of the housing, this would not be to an
extent that is unusual in a residential area. As the site has been identified as being
suitable for housing, the principle of residential development in this area has been
established. Construction activities would be temporary and in order to reduce the
impact for the surrounding residents, these can be controlled by conditions 11 and 12
attached to the outline planning consent. It is considered that the proposal would not
result in any significant harm to the amenity of the existing residents and is in
accordance with policies CP1 and CP3 and supplementary planning guidance.

109

Residential amenity: the amenity of future occupants of the development
60) The Borough Design Guide and MDD LP policy TB07 set out minimum thresholds
for private amenity space and internal space standards which new residential
development should be assessed against.
Private amenity space
61) The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. In terms of the
submitted masterplan, in nearly all cases, the proposed layout complies with these
requirements . In the cases where garden depths are under the 11m threshold, the
plots are wide which compensates for the shorter garden depth. In these cases the
gardens are generally 1m, short and the back to back relationships are maintained.
Overall, with these relationships, it is considered the development will provide
acceptable levels of private amenity space and privacy for the future occupants of the
dwellings.
Internal Space Standards
62) With respect to internal floor space of the units, the Borough Design Guide and
Policy TB07 of the MDD LP establish internal space standards for new dwellings,
setting standards for both the gross internal area (GIA) and the minimum combined
area of the living, kitchen and dining spaces for houses. All the proposed units either
meet or exceed the minimum internal space standards and the combined living, kitchen
and dining area specified in policy TB07. This will ensure an appropriate standard of
living and amenity will be enjoyed by future occupiers of the dwellings.
Security
63) The layout takes into account security and all of the communal areas of open space
are well overlooked by the proposed housing, as are the areas of parking. The layout
also means that there are back to back relationships which restricts access to private
amenity space.
Noise
64) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD LP Policy CC06 direct development away from
areas where noise would impact upon amenity and require mitigation where noise
cannot be completely avoided.
65) The Environmental Statement submitted for the outline planning permission
established that the main source of noise is Hyde End Road. The buffer provided
between the proposed houses from High Moor Copse ensures that the proposed
houses would be set well back from Hyde End Road and would be within Noise
Exposure Category A in the 2026 scenario. On this basis there should be no significant
impacts to the occupants of the proposed dwellings. In terms of noise within the
development, this would not be at a level that is unusual in a residential area.

110

Sustainable Design and Construction
66) Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy features and
minimising energy and water consumption. MDD LP policies CC04, CC05 and the
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010)
also emphasise this.
67) The Design and Access Statement makes a commitment towards sustainable
design and construction. In order to ensure that this is commitment is achieved and in
accordance with the requirements part L of the building regulations seeks to achieve on
site renewables and as such, it is not necessary to duplicate a condition .
68) As part of delivering sustainable development on the site, the Council expects
measures to reduce water consumption to be included within the development. In the
case of water, this can be achieved by the inclusion of aerated taps, shaped low
capacity baths, dual flush toilets, low flow rate showers and the provision of water butts.
Again building regulations covers this aspect and a condition is not required.
Access and movement
69) The outline planning permission for Shinfield West established the access points to
the site and was accompanied with a full Transport Assessment. This included
modelling the potential impacts of the development by using the Wokingham Strategic
Transport Model which included a review of this development site, the South of the M4
SDL and the wider Core Strategy development proposals. It was demonstrated that
there would be no significant harm caused by additional houses to both local and the
wider transport networks, subject to the delivery of the Transport Interventions that were
identified and secured through a legal process. The current reserved matters
application does not deviate from the established access points approved under the
outline planning application.
70) There has also been a detailed infrastructure planning application (ref number
160183) for Shinfield West, approved earlier this year in February 2016. This included
the details of the key highways within the developments and included:
 The main access roads to the north onto Hollow Lane and south at Hyde End
Road;
 The bus only link through the neighbourhood centre and onto the four arm
roundabout with Hollow Lane;
 The Neighbouhood Loop roads and the sustainable bus link that connects with
Spencers Wood;
 Cycle and pedestrian routes within and connecting with the development;
 Bus stops and bus service provision in a phased basis, associated with the South
of M4 SDL bus strategy.
71) As much of the transport infrastructure has been approved in terms of highways,
this application is mainly addressing the detailed layouts of the local access roads, car
parking and cycle parking. The primary infrastructure application will deliver easy
pedestrian and cycle routes to the surrounding area and is well linked to key access
points surrounding the site.

111

Access and movement - Site layout
72) As outlined above, the use of character areas ensures that there is a variety of
street hierarchy proposed for the site. The principal accesses to the site from the south
would be off Hyde End Road and from the north off Deardon Way in accordance with
the access agreed for the infrastructure consent. The Main Street has been designed to
be 6.1m wide and the corner area towards the north of the site is widened to allow for
two busses to pass simultaneously. In order to ensure good public transport to the site,
a public transport strategy is required by condition 47 of the outline planning consent
prior to the occupation of the development. Bus stops will also be located within the
site to ensure good connectivity for the development site with public transport.
Footpaths along the spine roads have been designed to be 2m wide on both sides in
order to separate pedestrians from traffic movements and the Avenue includes a 3m
footway and cycleway through the site.
73) The Neighbourhood Loop would provide the secondary access for the site. The
public transport strategy does not require busses to run through this part of the site and
accordingly the road width has been designed to be 4.8m wide. Pavements have been
provided on both sides of this road for good pedestrian access within the site and future
phases of development in the wider Shinfield West development parcel.
74) The Side Streets and Woodland edge would be served by a mixture of shared
surfaces and private drives. These areas of road are short in length and have tight
corners which will ensure low vehicle speeds within these zones. They have been
checked that the tracking is acceptable for refuse vehicles.
Access and movement - Car parking
75) In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP Policy
CC07: Parking, condition 40 requires reserved matters to incorporate car and
motorcycle parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards require allocated
parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking.
76) The application car parking numbers are summarised in the Table 1 below. This
shows a gross total of 1461 parking spaces, almost three per dwelling (2.83), although
this includes garages and visitor spaces. There are 1063 allocated spaces, 111 visitor
spaces and 287 garages. Some 55% of dwellings (282) have a garage, with 5 double
garages.
Table 2: Summary of Car Parking Provision

Total Visitor
Total Allocated
Total Garages
Total Allocate & Garages

111
1063
287
1350

ratio of
517
0.21
2.06
0.56
2.61

Total Visitor, allocated & garages
Total Tandem Parking

1461
303

2.83
0.59

nos

112

77) Average allocated parking per plot is 2.33 with garage parking assumed to be used
at 50%.This parking is in accordance with the WBC parking demand calculator (which
assumes that garage accommodation accounts for 0.5 spaces per dwelling) and the
amount of parking is proportionate to the size of dwelling that it is intended to serve.
The majority of parking is provided on plot with some designated parking spaces
provided in bays. The proposed allocated parking within bays is located in relation to the
dwelling it is intended to serve. Parking spaces on the driveways have been set out so
if an additional vehicle parks then footways are unlikely to be blocked. Visitor parking is
also well distributed through the development and this is provided in bays or shared
surface areas which are off-set from the carriageway to reduce the level of on
carriageway parking.
78) On this basis, the level of parking provided should limit demand for on street parking
throughout the development.
Access and Movement – Pedestrian & Cycle Access
79) The layout provides for pedestrian access with 2m footways on both sides of the
main access roads within the site. The side roads are either secondary streets which
include footways that connect to other Shinfield phases or shared surface for the minor
accesses. Connectivity is an important feature of Shinfield West with for example
vehicle cul-de-sacs having a through route for pedestrians. Safe routes to school are
identified which in this early phase will rely on a route out of the site along the
segregated shared pedestrian & cycle link or the 2m footway onto and along the
footway onto Hyde End Road to Shinfield village. In the longer term when the new
primary school is open then a pedestrian and cycle route through the other Shinfield
phases will be provided.
Access and Movement - Cycle storage
80) Consistent with Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6,
Managing Travel Demand, which expect development to make provision to support
sustainable travel, Condition 41 of the outline planning consent requires cycle storage in
line with the Council’s standards at the time. These are set out in MDDLP Appendix 2:
the requirement is for provision of at least one cycle space for dwellings with three or
fewer habitable rooms, two spaces for dwellings with four or five habitable rooms and
three cycle spaces for larger dwellings.
81) Cycle parking is provided on site either within garaging or sheds. The 282 dwellings
with garages are a minimum of 3.0 by 7.0m dimension to allow for cycle parking. At the
other 199 dwellings there are garden sheds of adequate size and a connection to a
gate. At the 3 flatted developments, totalling 36 units there are dedicated cycle storage
facilities. All dwellings have been provided with sufficient space for cycle storage /
parking in accordance with the above requirements.
Access and Movement - Access to public transport
82) A South of M4 Public Transport Strategy is expected to provide up to a 15 minute
each way frequency bus service that operates in a loop in and out of Reading along the
A327 or A33 corridors. This frequency of service combined with high quality bus stop
infrastructure and the bus priority that includes the bus only link between Shinfield and
Spencers Wood is expected to make the bus an attractive service for many

113

destinations.
83) Before the bus only link between Shinfield and Spencers Wood is completed an
interim bus strategy has been identified. Initially bus services will be accessed from
Hyde End Road for the southern part of Phase 1. For connection to this a new bus stop
will be placed on Hyde End Lane near to the site access. The northern part of the
development will be accessed with the bus diverted through the development at
Deardon Way. This service would be provided by initial service to Shinfield (starting this
September) that will return to the A327 via the southern area and northwards along
Deardon Way. The application has two pairs of bus stops located within the
development which are well within 400m of all the proposed houses on the site. With a
high frequency bus service, improved pedestrian and cycle connectivity and the delivery
of the Council’s My Journey Travel Planning initiative there are good sustainable
alternative modes of transport available to the new residents other than the private car.
Flooding and Drainage
84) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new
development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all
sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a sustainable
manner. These requirements are reinforced by South of the M4 SPD Design Principle
1c(ii) which requires provision of a comprehensive system for water management,
which takes account of existing features and includes proposals for effective sustainable
urban drainage (SUDS), measures to avoid flood risk and new ponds.
85) The site is entirely in Flood Zone 1 where the risk of flooding is low and all uses,
including more vulnerable residential uses and less vulnerable uses (the proposed
school, shops and community uses) are appropriate. Furthermore, the site was
allocated in the Core Strategy, which was subject to a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.
86) The outline application was supported by a Flood Risk Assessments which
assessed the impact of flooding on the application site. This identified flood risks across
the whole site and propose measures to manage surface water runoff including the 1 in
30 year and 1 in 100 year storm events (+30% for climate change) for the areas of
residential development.
87) In order to ensure that the increase in surface water runoff associated with the
additional built form is managed, a strategic approach to drainage has been approved
under 160183. This included 6 SUDs ponds in the strategic greenspace and 3 within
the site. These will not only attenuate storm water on site and control the discharge but
will also provide landscaping features.
88) The Flood Risk Assessment and proposed measures on site have been assessed
by the council’s Drainage Officer. They have raised no objection to the proposed
package of measures in terms of the impact to existing neighbouring residents and
future occupiers of the site. On this basis the proposals are considered acceptable.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
89) The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated under
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species. Core Strategy
policy CP8 establishes that new residential development within a 7km zone of influence
is likely to contribute to a significant impact upon the integrity of the SPA. The South of

114

the M4 SDL falls within this zone of influence and, in accordance with Core Strategy
policy CP17 and Design Principle 1c (vi), mitigation in the form of Suitable Alternative
Natural Greenspace (SANG) is being provided.
90) The development will be mitigated by the provision of the Loddon SANG which is
now open and available for public use. This has been designed to provide sufficient
space required to compensate for the growth in resident numbers associated with this
phase of the Shinfield West development and some of the other SDL developments.
Planning permission for the Loddon SANG has been granted under F/2010/1434 and as
such this meets the Natural England’s 'Guidelines for the Creation of Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace’ (SANG) (2008) in terms of having all the essential
features required to attract recreational users away from the SPA. Natural England and
the Biodiversity Officer are satisfied with this approach and the applicant has also
agreed to provide SAMM payments to provide an overall SPA mitigation strategy.
Ecology
92) Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design Principle
1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and biodiversity features,
together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise. The applicant has demonstrated
that there would be an adequate buffer zone from the proposed development to High
Moor Copse. The Biodiversity Officer has assessed the application and is satisfied that
there would no significant impact on ecology.
Archaeology
93) Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD LP Policy TB25 require the archaeological
impact of development to be taken into consideration. An Archaeological Assessment
for condition 35 was submitted which indicated that there is no evidence to support the
presence of significant archaeological remains on the application site and a low
potential for archaeological deposits on the site. Condition 31 relating to archaeology
was attached to the outline permission for a written scheme of investigation prior to the
commencement of development and this approach is supported by the Council’s
Archaeological Officer.
CONCLUSION
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the Council’s adopted policies
and guidance for development within the South of the M4 SDL. It is considered that the
applications will deliver high quality development in accordance with the Council’ spatial
strategy and vision and therefore can be recommended for approval.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

115

This page is intentionally left blank

117

This page is intentionally left blank

119

This page is intentionally left blank

121

This page is intentionally left blank

A0

NOTES
This drawing is the copyright of Thrive Ltd ©. All rights reserved.
Ordnance Survey Data © Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Licence No. 100007359. DO NOT scale from this drawing.
Contractors, Sub Contractors and Suppliers are to check all
relevant dimensions and levels of the site and building before
commencing any shop drawings or building work. Any
discrepancies should be recorded to the Architect.
Where applicable this drawing is to be read in conjunction with
the Consultants' drawings.
REV

DESCRIPTION

DATE

A
B

Planning Issue
26/05/16
SS.10-10:plots C422-428updated 06/06/16
SS.9-9:plots B357 and C405-421
A487-A488,B242 updated.

JA
AS

C

Metal railings added in line with
Boundary Materials Layouts.

JNW

16/06/16

AUTHOR

CHK'D

CW

CAD-O

Plot B260
HT.B353

Access road

Plot B261
HT.B359

Plot B357
HT.B412-1

ROYCE

Plot B358
HT.B427

Plot B359
HT.BC460

Plot B360
HT.B350

Plot B361
HT.B350

Plot B362
HT.B454

Plot B363
HT.B350

Plot B364
HT.BC360

Access road

Plot C401
HT.C411

Plot C402
HT.C404

Plot C403
HT.C402

Plot C404
HT.C402

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

DEVELOPER B PARCEL

Street Scene 9-9 (Main Street North)
scale 1:200
5m

10m

15m

0

Site Boundary

0

Plot C405
HT.C404

Plot C406
HT.C308

Plot C407
HT.C308

Access road

Plot C408
HT.C306

Plot C409
HT.C402

Bin/Cycle Store

Plot C410-C421
Block C

DEVELOPER C PARCEL
DE

VE

LO

PE

R

C

02
C4 4
ot 40
Pl .C
HT

PA

EL
RC

03
C4 2
ot 40
Pl T.C
H
0

sc

n
ce
tS
ee 200
Str ale 1:

04
C4 2
ot 40
Pl T.C
H

5m

e9

H)

-9

10

m

co

nti

ROYCE

e
nu

d

15m

(M

ain

05
C4 4
ot 40
Pl .C
HT

Str

R
60

LO

PE

T

ad

08
C4 6
ot 30
Pl .C
HT

E
R

31

3

B268

n/Cy

A499

A500

A501

A498

309

402+

202i
A477

202i

A478

410+

C403

C404

Site Boundary

404

2303

308

C431

C444

306

404

C429

3B5P

C427

2303

3B5P

308

C433
C426

2B4PA

2B4PA

3B5P

C460

C461

C455

Plot C423
HT.C306

Plot C424
HT.C306

Access road

Plot A487
HT.A306+

Plot A488
HT.A306+

Plot A489
HT.A308+A

Plot A490
HT.A308+A

2303

2303

308

C435

C439

C440

C441

C436

C437

C424

306

C463
C423

306

3B5P

2B4PA
2B4PA

DEVELOPER A PARCEL

C425

C462

C464

C422
402

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

308

C434

SUBSTATION

402

404

404

404

402

310

2303

G R E E N W A Y

5

40

7

43

3

5
43

C4
60

3

B329

B330

353

B333

B328
B327

308

E D G E

C385

2B4P

B

B

B370

8
30

C386

B
2B4P

C394

302

B372

B

2B4P

B373

C390

C408
C388

C379

3B6P

C387

C380
C381

2303

C409

308

353

B312

353

B325
B324

B319

B311

B323
353

B320
353

353
303
sp

303
sp

303
sp

359

B309

B321
353

B310

B322

ATTENUATION BASIN 6

359

A

C389

402

359
B331

C393
C392
C391

2303

2B4P

2B4P

3B5P

B371

C395

306

4PB

B
2B4P

B 2B

B

2B4P

306

2303

B332

B369

8

30
C396

C407

306

353

B326

C397

303
sp
B313

353

31
3
B
4B
6P

353

B334

B345

60

2303

302

2303

2303

2B4P

3B6P

2303

B374

3B5P

W

UE
EN
AV

308

C378

37 A
B2 4ot 45
Pl .B
HT

C377
C376
C375
C410-421

308

C465

M A I N

Greenway

Access road

Plot C422
HT.C310

Plot C428
HT.C404-A

2303

C453
C442

C438

Plot C427
HT.C308

2303

C443
C454

C406

ES

C428

BINS/BIK

2303

C456

3B5P

C3
3

S T R E
E T (N
O R T
H)

C457

306

B344

40

306

C445

353

C382

C430

C458

40

C398

C447
2303

C459

2

C399

C384
C383

C405

C432

353

B336
B335

B368

404

435

B343

2

40

303
sp

B318

359

454

B337

B346

C400

306+

A487

402

C446

31

9

306+

B315

B317

B342

B347

A488

402

C452

2B4PA 2B4PA

7

2
40

2
40

C451

2B4PB

42

C402

2
40

503i

C448

3B5P

45
B367

EXISTING UNDERGROUND
SURFACE WATER
STORAGE TANK

303
sp

B314

B341

B348

B366

7
42

4

40

A

404

C450

2B4PB

A

308+

C449

3B5P

C401

308+

A489

A486

2

A485

306+

41

306+

N E I G H B O U R H O O D
L O O P
3B5P

5
43

B365

1

B316

B339

A490

404

402+

404

30

404

3B5P

41

A484

A469

0

C36

353

359

B338

B349

B364

9
35

353

B340
B353

9

30

B363

504i

A483

353

P
353

9

30

B350

3
35

A491

O

303
sp

303
sp

B285

C4
60

A476

A475

9

30

60

B246
A482

A471

A470

B287
B286

30

9

C3

202i
A468

O

353

B362

0

35

4PA
A 2B

2B4P

B290
B288

0

B247

410+

L

B354

A481

306+

A474

D

2

C4
60

A479

202i

B291

7

30
9

A

306+

B 2B

4P
B 2B

2B4P

B289

O

B355

0

3B

4PB

B278
B284

O

PW

A472

H

B283

0

35

6P

7

40
42

35

B361

45

B248

309

6P

3B
P

6
3B

6P
3B

B292

R

B298

B282

60

B356
B360

4

A492

B297
B296
B295
B294

B279
B293

3B
5

A467

B352

31
3

410+

41

B359

4
45

B249

A480

402+

U

B300
B299

3
30
sp

60

C4

B301

B277

3
30
sp

B280

0

B351
0

35

A502

306+

C4

O

45

5

0
35

A473

B

B357

B358

43

A493

202i

7
4

7
42

B245

A494

A495

H

6P

3B
B302

B263

0

6
C4

A496

A497

503i

A466

B303

B276

3
30
sp

B262

B261

0
45

404

B264

B260

IG

2

B244

404

506+

6P
3B
B275

9
30

60

503i
404

404

306+

9

E

41

404

B

4P

2B

B304

B274

30

B281

35

412

B243

B
4P

2B

B273

9

B265

45

N

B241

B242

306+

B258

35

42
-C
10
C4 k C
oc
Bl

1

45

M

4A

ot

9

sp

S T R E E T

404

B

4P

2B

B306

7
42

42

Pl

A515

2B

B307

5

e
ry

da

A504

305

407

B

4P

B308
B272

43

or

un

404

306+

A L
E R N
I N T

B266

B259
313

Bo

404

5

60
C4

B239

B238

410+

404

45

A

St

te

Si

306+

B257

IN

cle

410+

A505
A503
506+A

4

43

402+

404

Plot C426
HT.C308

42

S

Bi

410+

410+

402+

Plot C425
HT.C308

7

T

09
C4 2
ot 40
Pl .C
HT

313

A507

B
4P

2B

B267

B305

B237

A510

A508
A506

B271
B256

B240

A516

3

31

40
7

RC
PA

ro

E

B255

O O D
B O U R H
N E I G H

C

EL

ss

A509

A514

A513

A512

A511

B270

3
31

L O O P

R

ce

506+

B269
B253

B254

30
3
sp

VE

Ac

A517

B251
B252

10

404

303
sp

C3

(N

DE

15m

07
C4 8
ot 30
Pl T.C
H

10m

B250
313

O

h)

06
C4 8
ot 30
Pl T.C
H

5m

427

C3

tN
ee

ort

123

0

435

T

Street Scene 9-9 continued (Main Street North)
scale 1:200

308

308
38
B2 05sp
ot
Pl T.B3
H

308

ad

ss

Ro

ce

ed
6x1b ed
6x2b

CK
BLO

Ac

C
EL

42
B2 12
ot
Pl T.B4
H

UE
EN
AV

R

B

PA

RC

PE
LO

DE

VE

Site layout Plan (Not to Scale)
43
B2 50
ot
Pl T.B4
H

44
B2 5
ot
Pl .B43
HT

10 9

Street Scene 10-10 (Main Street North)

45
B2 54
ot
Pl T.B4
H

scale 1:200

CAD-O

0

5m

10m

15m
46
B2 9
ot
Pl .B35
HT

h)
ort

tN

ROYCE

d

ue
tin
on

90
A4 A
ot 8+
Pl .A30
HT

89
A4 A
ot 8+
Pl .A30
HT

EL

RC

R

A

ain
(M

Str

ee

m

15

0c

e

n
ce
tS
ee 200
Str ale 1:

-1
10

10m

5m

sc

PA

0

PE

LO

DE

VE

88
A4 6+
ot 30
Pl .A
HT

87
A4 06+
ot
Pl T.A3
H

ss
ce

ad
ro

Ac

PLANNING

architects
Romsey Office
Building 300, The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, SO51 0AE
t: 01794 367703
f: 01794 367276
www.thrivearchitects.co.uk
PROJECT

Shinfield West
CAD-O
ROYCE

Plot B246
HT.B359

Plot B245
HT.B454

Plot B244
HT.B435

Plot B243
HT.B450

Plot B242
HT.B412

Access Road

Plot B238
HT.B305sp

Plot B237
HT.B454-A

Shinfield
For : Consortium Works

DEVELOPER B PARCEL

DRAWING

Street Elevations Phase 1
Street Scene 10-10 continued (Main Street North)
scale 1:200
0

Northern Parcels A3, B1 & C3
Sections 9, 10

5m

10m

15m

SCALE

DATE

AUTHOR CHK'D

1:200 @ A0

May 2016

AS

JOB NO.

DRAWING NO.

REV

CONS150427

SE.08_PH-1

C

CLIENT REF.

CW

This page is intentionally left blank

A0

NOTES
This drawing is the copyright of Thrive Ltd ©. All rights reserved.
Ordnance Survey Data © Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Licence No. 100007359. DO NOT scale from this drawing.
Contractors, Sub Contractors and Suppliers are to check all
relevant dimensions and levels of the site and building before
commencing any shop drawings or building work. Any
discrepancies should be recorded to the Architect.
Where applicable this drawing is to be read in conjunction with
the Consultants' drawings.

Plot A1
HT.A503i-1

access road

Plot A2
HT.A202i

Plot A3
HT.A202i

Plot A4
HT.A306+2

Plot A5
HT.A302+

Plot A7
HT.A404-A1

Plot A6
HT.A302+

access road

Plot C146
HT.C414

Plot C128
HT.C404-1

Plot C129
HT.C404-1

DEVELOPER A PARCEL

Plot C130
HT.C404-1

Plot C131
HT.C310

REV

DESCRIPTION

DATE

AUTHOR

CHK'D

A

Planning Issue

26/05/16

JNW

CW

B

Plots A1,A4,A5,A6,A7,A152,
A153,A154,A164-A175
updated.

07/06/16

JNW

CW

C

Metal railings added in line with
Boundary Materials Layouts.

16/06/16

JNW

CW

access drive

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

Street Scene K-K (Greenway Edge)
scale 1:200
5m

0

10m

15m

Plot C93
HT.C411

rear garden

access road

Plot C103
HT.C402-A

Plot C104
HT.C402-A

Plot C105
HT.C308

Plot C106
HT.C308

Plot C107
HT.C308

Plot C108
HT.C308

Plot C109
HT.C3B6P

Plot C111
HT.C2B4P-B

Plot C110
HT.C3B6P

Plot C112
HT.C2B4P-B

Plot C113
HT.C3B6P

Plot C114
HT.C3B6P

Plot C115
HT.C3B6P

access road

Plot C144
HT.C308

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

Street Scene L-L (Neighbourhood Loop)
scale 1:200
5m

10m

15m

Site Boundary

Plot C145
HT.C402

Plot C146
HT.C414-2

access drive

public open space

Plot A152
HT.A403iCT-1

access drive

Plot A153
HT.A306+

Plot A154
HT.A306+

Plot A155
HT.A2B4PA

Plot A156
HT.A2B4PA

Plot A157
HT.A4B6P

access road

DEVELOPER A PARCEL

Street Scene L-L (Neighbourhood Loop)
scale 1:200
0

5m

10m

15m

PLANNING
Plot
HT.A A155
2B4P
A

Plot
HT.A A156
2B4P
A

Plot
HT.A A157
4B6P

N
M

EI
G

H

BO

U

Plot
HT.A A152
403iC
T-1

H

K

3x1B
9x2B F
F

A

L

R

BLOC

O

3B6P

A182

O

D

BINS
BIKE /
S

**

acce

ss drive

4B6P

4B6P

**
*

A164-175
spac

e

2B4P
A 2B
4PA

publi

c open

A163
A162

2B4P

4B6P

acces
s drive

A160

A2

A176

Plot
HT.C C146
4142

A177

p)
d Loo
15m

A

A46

A154

K

310

C128

414

NE
IG
HB
OU
RH
OO
D

C145

E

C142

G

2303

D
E
Y

308

A

306

2303

W
E

N

C115
C117

3B6P

C116

C114

E

C113

R

402

3B6P

*
*
*

G

C112

2B4P
B
LTH

C111

2303
C118

C119

C110

C120

C104

308

C105

308

410

IG

H

A40

C79

410

C78

413-A

402+

A20

Shinfield

A44

2B4PA
LTH

2B4PA
LTH

2B4PA
LTH

A53

A56

A57

*
A1
*

A50

FOG

*

A45

*

40

For : Consortium Works

4

A49

**
3B5P

3B5P

A54
A55

3B5P

3B5P

*
*

A48

2B

4P

**

A

2B

4P

A47

E

*
G

A63
C73

30

D

6+

306-A

202i

202i

202i

6+

A59

A60

A61

N

C71
A58

A62
A65
40

L

4

C70
A66

Street Elevations Phase 1

O

A67
C69

306

DRAWING

30

202i

D

202i

E

A64
C72

410

306

Shinfield West

50

30

6+

A52

410

15m

A22
A35

O

C80

501+

M A I N

C1

A34

A43

A37

410

PROJECT

306+

3i

3B

410

T H)
T (S O U
S T R E E

410

C81

A23

A

D
N
LA
O
W

C82

306+

A42

A

C85

404A
410+

A26

6+

A41

A39

410

402-A

410+

A31

504i

C74

Building 300, The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, SO51 0AE
t: 01794 367703
f: 01794 367276
www.thrivearchitects.co.uk

404

402-A

C83

306+

303+

30

2+

410

C84

K

A24

402+

A38

A51

C90

A18

202i

A29

A33

30

306-A

501

202i

2i

413-A

410

P

O

302+

C75

414

202i

A21

A36

C91

306+

202i

20

C76

402

202i

2i

410

C88

A16

403C
Ti

402+

C93

C92

C89

A19

A15

D

D
E

1

41

Romsey Office

A2
A14

A25

404
C87

A3
A13

20

2+

L

503i

A12
A10

A27

30

C86

A1

A11

D

302+

C77

C94

D

E

202i

A4

A30

W

G

N
C96

E

A28

202i

5P

410

O

R

A

501+A

W

E

410

B

U

O

O

H

308+

architects
202i

A5

A32

O

L

308
308

402-A

A

A6

3B

C103

A 30
8+

A17

6P

402-A

C95

A8

6P

3B

C106

404
404

ED
G

A9

202i

**

C102

404

AY

303+

202i

404

A220

308+
503i

306+

A

C109
C108

414

A219

302+

302+

*
*

2B4P
LTH B

2303

C107

404

308+

202i

C122
C121

A218
A217

302+

3B6P

C100

202i

A221

A7

303+

2303

402

202i

A222

A228

A216

404A

308+A

C144

C125

C123

RE
EN
W

C143

308

C101

A223

A226

A227

402+

G

402

C141

306

C97

access road

A225

3B6P

ATION

SUBST

2B4PA

A224

A215

306

306

2B4PA

A230

A231

404

306

C1

3B6P

202i

A214

404

C126

2303

202i

A213

E

414

C98

A233
A232

A211

C138

306

202i

A234

2B4PA

A212

ED
G

C137

306

202i

A235

A210

404A

AY

404

C124

202i

A236
A209

A229

C130

2303

404

***

302+

3B6P

C136

2303

O

2B4PA

408A

2303

C99

10m

Pumping Station

****
302+

404

402

5m

4B6P

A207
A208
408A

C132

404

C127

0

2B4PA

408A

Ti

C131

306

414

2B4PA

408A

403C

C140

scale 1:200

S

4B6P

4B6P

4B6P

IKE

A152

RE
EN
W

C139

Street Scene M-M (Neighbourhood Loop)

S/B

404

DEVELOPER A PARCEL

**

BIN

306+

G

306

Plot A164-A175
Apartment Block A

*
*

306+

306

Plot A163
HT.A4B6P

**

2B4PA

A153

306

Plot A162
HT.A4B6P

A206

A205

A201
A200

306+

A151

503i

C146

Plot A161
HT.A2B4P_A

A204

A203

A202

A

2B4P

C129

Plot A160
HT.A2B4P_A

A185

A186

A187

A188-199

LO
OP

ourhoo
10m

(Ne
ighb
5m

A179

1:20

et Sce
ne L-L
0

2B4P
A155

A180

A181

C135

Plot A159
HT.A2B4P_A

3B6P

A184

A156
A149

A147

202i

scale

Site Boundary

Stre

202i

A148

C134

Plot A158
HT.A4B6P

M

4B6P

A157

A150

A178

303+

404A

Plot A157
HT.A4B6P

308+A

306+

A158

202i

202i

202i

202i

C133

access road

308+A

P

A159

302+

S

A183

O

**

A

A161
302+

*
*
*

3B6P

LO

6x1B
6x2B F
F
BLOC
KB

DEVEL

OPER

A

Plot
HT.A3A154
06+

PARCE

L

N

E

Plot
HT.A A153
306+

W

0

125

0

C68
413-A

N D
D L A
W O O

Southern Parcels A1, A2 & C1

E
E D G

Sections K, L, M

Site layout Plan (Not to Scale)

SCALE

DATE

1:200 @ A0

19/05/2016 JNW CW

JOB NO.

DRAWING NO.

REV

CONS150427

SE.09_PH-1

C

CLIENT REF.

AUTHOR CHK'D

This page is intentionally left blank

A0

NOTES
This drawing is the copyright of Thrive Ltd ©. All rights reserved.
Ordnance Survey Data © Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Licence No. 100007359. DO NOT scale from this drawing.
Contractors, Sub Contractors and Suppliers are to check all
relevant dimensions and levels of the site and building before
commencing any shop drawings or building work. Any
discrepancies should be recorded to the Architect.
Where applicable this drawing is to be read in conjunction with
the Consultants' drawings.
DESCRIPTION

DATE

AUTHOR

A

Planning Issue

26/05/16

MWP

B

SS11-11:PlotsA469,A475,A485, 07/06/16
A487,A477-478 updated;
SS12-12:Plot C428 updated;
SS13-13:Plot B291-292 updated
SS14-14:Plot B373-374 updated

AS

C

Metal railings added in line with
Boundary Materials Layouts.

JNW

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Site Boundary

REV

CHK'D

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

16/06/16

CW

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Access road

Plot A469
HT.A410+1

Plot A470
HT.A404

Private drive

Plot A471
HT.A404

Plot A475
HT.A402+

Plot A476
HT.A404

Plot A477
HT.A306+

Access road

Plot A478
HT.A306+

Plot A485
HT.A503i

Plot A486
HT.A404

Plot A487
HT.A306+

DEVELOPER A PARCEL

Street Scene 11-11 (Neighbourhood Loop)
scale 1:200
0

5m

10m

15m

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Site Boundary

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk

©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Access road

Plot C428
HT.C404A

Plot C429
HT.C404-1

Plot C430
HT.C2303

Plot C431
HT.C2303

Access road

Plot C432
HT.C2303

Plot C447
HT.C402

Plot C448
HT.C402

Private drive

Plot C449
HT.C3B5P

Plot C456
HT.C2B4PA

Plot C457
HT.C2B4PA

Plot C458
HT.C3B5P

Access road

Plot C459
HT.C3B5P

DEVELOPER C PARCEL

Street Scene 12-12 (Neighbourhood Loop)
scale 1:200
0

5m

10m

15m

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

127
©
Smartblocks.co.uk

Smartblocks.co.uk

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk
©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©
Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Plot B261
HT.B359

Access road

Plot B262
HT.BC460

Plot B263
HT.B427

Access road

Plot B283
HT.BC360

Plot B284
HT.B309

Plot B285
HT.B359

Plot B286
HT.B353

Plot B287
HT.B353

Plot B288
HT.B353

Plot B289
HT.B353

Plot B290
HT.B353

Plot B291
HT.B303sp

Plot B292
HT.B303sp

Plot B293
HT.B2B4PA

Plot B294
HT.B2B4PA

Plot B295
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B296
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B297
HT.B2B4PB

DEVELOPER B PARCEL

Street Scene 13-13 (Neighbourhood Loop)
scale 1:200
5m

10m

15m

Site Boundary

0

CAD-O

CAD-O

Plot B245
HT.B454

Access road

Plot B364
HT.BC360

Plot B365
HT.B427

Plot B366
HT.B427

Plot B367
HT.B309

Plot B368
HT.BC360

Access road

Plot B369
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B370
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B371
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B372
HT.B2B4PB

Plot B373
HT.B2B4PA

Plot B374
HT.B3B5PW

Access road

PLANNING

DEVELOPER B PARCEL
HT

.B

4P

Smartblocks.co.uk
©

Pl
HT ot B2
.B2B

95
4P
B

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Pl
HT ot B2
.B2B 94
4P
A

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

A

Pl
HT ot B2
.B 96
2B
4P
B

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

Smartblocks.co.uk ©

2B

Pl
HT ot B2
.B2B 97
4P
B

Street Scene 14-14 (Internal Streets)
H)

scale 1:200

T

435

R

427
B250

O

313

303
sp

C3

(N

15m

60

30
3
sp

T
E
E

3
31

R
404

506+

60
C4

A498

14

B245

A494

A495

43

A493

A502

309

306+

402+

A482
35

A484

A469

306+

C403

308
C428

C431

C444

306

404

C429

C456

3B5P

3B5P

C427

2303

3B5P

308

C433
C426

2B4PA

2B4PA

3B5P

C460

C461

2303

C443
C455

C454

2303

308

C434
C425

C453
2303

C442

2303

308

C435

C462

C438

C439

C440

C441

C436

C437

C424

306

C463
C423

306

3B5P
2B4PA

C464

C422
402

2B4PA

SUBSTATION

402

404

404

404

402

310

C406

2303

42
5
43

7
42

4

5

7
40
60

3

353

B333

3
31
B328
B327

E D G E

8
B

2B4P

C396

C385

B

2B4P

C386

B

2B4P

C394

B372

C392

2B

B373

C390
A
2B4P

C389
C388

C379

3B6P

C387

C380

402

B331

4PB

C391

302

2303

359

2B4P

2B4P

C393

C408

2303

4PB
B 2B

3B5P

B371

C395

306

306

4PB
B 2B

B370

8

30

306

12

353

B332

B369

30

C381

2303

C409

308
C378
C377

308

2303

2303

2303

303
sp
303
sp

Shinfield

B312
353

B325
B324

B319

B311

B323
353

B320

353
353
303
sp
B321

353

303
sp

303
sp

B310
B309

359

For : Consortium Works

B322

ATTENUATION BASIN 6

359

B374

3B6P

Shinfield West

353

B313

353

31

B330

B326

C397

C407

DRAWING

Street Elevations Phase 1
Northern Parcels A3, B1 & C3
Sections 11, 12, 13, 14

W

3B5P

14

UE
EN
AV

SCALE

DATE

AUTHOR CHK'D

1:200 @ A0

May 2016

MWP CW

JOB NO.

DRAWING NO.

REV

CONS150427

SE.10_PH-1

C

C376
C375
C410-421
308

C465

G R E E N W A Y

2303

302

308

S

306

353

B334

B329

3

404

2303

306

C445

B344

B345

C382

2303

C430

12

C3
60
40

C432

C457

40

C398

C405

2303

C458

2

C399

C384
C383

C447

C446

45
0

B368
C404

353

B335

B346

2

40

404

353

B343

C400

2

402

C452

2B4PA 2B4PA

4

40

C448
2B4PB

B347

306+

A487

C451

2B4PB

11

A488

402

B342
B336

02

435

B337

B

404

C450

3B5P

2
40

B315

B318

359

454

4B
6P

503i

B367

7

42

C402

C449

3B5P

4
40

EXISTING UNDERGROUND
SURFACE WATER
STORAGE TANK

303
sp

B314

B341

B348

B366

7
42

308+
A

N E I G H B O U R H O O D
L O O P

11

308+
A

A489

A486

306+

C401

2

306+

A485

41

404

402+

9

404

A490

30

404

5

43

B365

1
41

PROJECT

0

C36
B316

B317

B338

B349

B364

9

35

Building 300, The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, SO51 0AE
t: 01794 367703
f: 01794 367276
www.thrivearchitects.co.uk

353

353

B339

B363

504i

Romsey Office

B 2B

303
sp

359

9

60

A491
A483

202i

A478

2B4P

353

30

B353

9
30

B350

3

202i

A477

A
2B4P

B340

C4

A476

A475

353

5P

A471

A470

410+

P

60

A468

353

9

9
30

60

B246

303
sp

B285

B362

0
35

C3

202i

B286

30
9

O

30
B354

B247

O

B355

A481

306+

A474

A

2B4P

B290

B287

C4

A479

202i

L

0

A

306+

D

35

35
0

B291

B288

B356

B361

B278

B289

O

2

B352

B360

4
45

B248

309

B283
B284

O

6P

3B

6P

2B
4PB

B292

H

architects

6P

3B
P

6
3B

3B

4PB

7

41

B359

B293

7

42

R

13

B294

B279

40

W

A472

45

B351

0

35
0

35

A492

402+
A467

4

B249

A480
A473

202i

5

3

A499

A500

A501

U

B298

B282

60

45
0

31

503i

C4

O

B357

B358

B297
B296
B295

B263

B

0
45

404

A496

A497

H

B301
B300
B299

3
30
sp

60
C4

B280

B262

O O D
B O U R H
N E I G H

404

404

C459

45

43
7
42

B244

404

306+

IG

2

P

6
3B

B302
B277

3
30
sp

L O O P

503i

B303

B276

3
30
sp

B281

B260

41

B242

306+

6P

3B

B261

412

B243

B

B275

30

B264

3B

402+

E

4P

2B

B304

9

B259

35
9

N

B241

404

3B5P

30

C4

407

A515

sp

S T R E E T

A L
E R N
I N T

A504

305

2B

B274

9

B265

5
306+

B

4P

B306
B273
B305

60

404

B
4P
2B

B307

7

C3

306+
404

3B5P

C

B

2B

B272

0
46

42

B258

313

404

410+

B266

4P

B308

B238

410+

404

410+

B257

35

A503

A466

5
43

43

B239

402+

A505
506+A

4
45

40
7

410+

B

4P

2B

B267

7

T
410+

410+

B271
B256

S
A506

3
31

B268

IN
313

A516

B270

3

31

B255

M

45

B237

A510

A508

404

13

B240

A507

B269
B252
B253

B254

3

A509

A514

A513

A512

A511

B251

A

506+
4A

A517

BINS/BIKE

10m

S T R E
E T (N
O R T
H)

5m

M A I N

0

308

ed
6x1b ed
6x2b

CK
BLO

308

308

Site layout Plan (Not to Scale)

C

UE
EN
AV

CLIENT REF.

This page is intentionally left blank

129

This page is intentionally left blank

131

This page is intentionally left blank

133

This page is intentionally left blank

Planning observations – 23 May 2016
161144
Proposal
Planning Officer
Comment

260 Hyde End Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1DL
Full planning application for the proposed erection of two dwellings
Daniel Hay
Comments by
27 May 2016
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application as presented, as it is overdevelopment
of a small site. There is, in our opinion, insufficient parking to provide for three
properties, as there are already five or so vehicles regularly using the existing dwelling.
Additionally, there is very little amenity space and the development is not in keeping with
the surrounding properties. The parish council would consider supporting a single
dwelling on this site.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161154
44 Century Drive, Spencers Wood, RG7 1PE
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a single storey side extension to
dwelling.
Planning Officer
Dariusz Kusyk
Comments by
07 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161166
2 Askew Drive, Spencers Wood, RG7 1HG
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a two storey side extension, singe
storey front extensions with new pitched roof over all including existing garage, part rear
single storey extension to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Charlie Snell
Comments by
31 May 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161182
Little fields, Croft Road, Spencers Wood, RG2 9EX
Proposal
Householder application for proposed erection of a single storey side extension to
dwelling.
Planning Officer
Rosie Rogers
Comments by
27 May 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161189
Land West of Shinfield, West of Hyde End Road and Hollow Lane, South of Church Lane,
Shinfield
Proposal
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline planning permission VAR/2014/0624
(Pursuant to O/2010/1432) for the erection of 517 dwellings including access roads,
garages, parking spaces, open space and landscape treatment of Phase 1, Shinfield West.
(Access within the site, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to be considered).
Planning Officer
Christopher Howard
Comments by
unknown
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that there is a footpath which exits the ‘southern’
portion of the phase 1 development straight out onto Hyde End Road, on a section where
there is no pavement along on this side. Residents intending to go to Shinfield Infant and
Nursery School will be required to cross the road, walk along the southern side of Hyde
End Road, and cross again to reach the school. This is not a safe or sustainable walk to
school and will discourage people from walking. Poor walking routes will lead to excessive
use of private motor vehicles.
The Parish Council requests that this phase only proceeds once sustainable travel routes
that avoid conflict with the existing road network are designed and approved.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161190
21 Ryhill Way, Earley, RG6 4AZ
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a first floor side and single storey
rear extensions to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Graham Vaughan
Comments by
31 May 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application based on the detrimental impact on the
street scene of development over one half of the linked garages.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161191
Great Lea Farm, Great Lea , Pingewood, Three Mile Cross, RG7 1JL
Proposal
Conversion of Unit A to provide a single storey building; demolition and redevelopment of
Unit B to provide a two storey building; demolition and redevelopment of Unit C to
provide a two storey building ; conversion and extension to Units D and E to provide
single storey buildings and single storey extensions to form new court yard; conversion of
Unit F to provide a single storey building; demolition and redevelopment of Unit G to
provide a two storey building ; conversion of Unit H to provide a two storey building;

135

CPH

conversion of Unit J to provide a single storey building; part demolition and conversion of
Unit K to provide a single storey building; conversion of Unit L to provide a single storey
building and part demolition and conversion of Unit M to provide a single storey building
(with the inclusion of a mezzanine floor) to create 2,335 sqm (measured internally) of
B1(a) floor space . Creation of on-site vehicle and cycle parking areas (including provision
of disabled parking) and internal site roads; provision of new vehicle, pedestrian and cycle
access to Great Lea; provision of detailed on and off-site landscaping, boundary
treatments and other associated works
Planning Officer
Laura Callan
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council supports this application to provide a range of employment sites
within the parish.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161193
32 Clares Green Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1DY
Proposal
Householder application for a single storey extension to the rear and side of the property
Planning Officer
Charlie Snell
Comments by
01 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application on the basis of overdevelopment of the
site.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161250
Sports Centre, Hyde End Lane, Ryeish Green, RG7 1ER
Proposal
Full application for the proposed construction of a new full sized fenced and floodlit
artificial grass pitch and associated access and car parking improvements.
Planning Officer
Christopher Howard
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that the parking identified for the artificial pitch has
an alternative use until at least July 2018, as a site for temporary classrooms for the new
Shinfield West School (planning application submitted and currently pending). The parish
council requests that further consideration is given for alternative parking options which
will not be to the significant detriment of residents along Hyde End Lane.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161266
Land and Madjeski Stadium, Shooters Way, Reading,
Proposal
Consultation from Reading Borough Council for the following proposal: Outline
application for residential development (Blocks 1-6 only) to provide up to 430 residential
units, comprising predominantly 1 and 2 bedroom apartments (Use Class C3) along with
associated landscaping and car parking. And application for residential and mixed use
development comprising: 203 residential units, convention centre and ice rink, 246
bedroom hotel and up to 102 serviced apartments, decked car parking within convention
centre, flexible ancillary retail space, multi storey car park, public open space, associated
access, landscaping, cycle parking, transport interchange and related
infrastructure/engineering works, ancillary facilities, access and demolition of existing
indoor training facility and enhancement of existing RFC Garden of Remembrance.
Planning Officer
Andrew Chugg
Comments by
30 May 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned over the impact of Reading developments on local
school places within Wokingham borough and request further information on the
intended provision of school places specifically for these developments. The parish
council is also concerned about the impact on the local highways network of additional
development at Green Park and Junction 11.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161284
209 Hyde End Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1BU
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of front and rear single storey
extensions to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Katie Herrington
Comments by
08 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161314
Woodcote Cottage, Beech Hill Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1HY
Proposal
Consultation from West Berkshire Council for the following proposal: Section 19:
Variation of Condition 6 - Brickwork, 10 - Roofing, 11 - Drainage, 12 - Plumbing, 13 Staircase details, 14 - Windows and Doors Details, 15 - Fireplaces and bread ovens
cleaning/repairers, 16 - Window and Door Openings and 19 - Pointing, of planning
permission reference 12/00949/LBC2 (Conversion to a single dwelling, alterations and
improvements).
Planning Officer
Stefan Fludger
Comments by
01 June 2016
Comment
No comment
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

136

Late items:
160453
Proposal

Land at 44 Falcon Avenue, Shinfield, RG2 8EL
Full application for proposed erection of three bedroom end of terrace dwelling with
alterations to access.
Planning Officer
Pooja Kumar
Comments by
Unknown
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council supports this application provided that materials used are in
keeping with the adjoining frontages.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------160955
62 Ryhill Way, Earley, RG6 4AZ *Adjoining parish consultation*
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed conversion of garage to create habitable
accommodation
Planning Officer
Stephen Thwaites
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161302
Land West of Beech Hill Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1FG
Proposal
Application to vary condition 12 of planning consent O/2013/1221 for the proposed
erection of up to 120 residential units, means of access and associated infrastructure.
Condition 12 relates to the mix and type of affordable housing to be provided.
Planning Officer
Laura Callan
Comments by
15 June 2016
Comment
No comment
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

137

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 1: Officer response comments from Shinfield Parish Council
The following comments were received from Shinfield Parish Council:
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that there is a footpath which exits the
‘southern’ portion of the phase 1 development straight out onto Hyde End Road, on a
section where there is no pavement along on this side. Residents intending to go to
Shinfield Infant and Nursery School will be required to cross the road, walk along the
southern side of Hyde End Road, and cross again to reach the school. This is not a
safe or sustainable walk to school and will discourage people from walking. Poor
walking routes will lead to excessive use of private motor vehicles.
The Parish Council requests that this phase only proceeds once sustainable travel
routes that avoid conflict with the existing road network are designed and approved.
Officer response:
The outline planning consent established the principle of access to the site both by
vehicular and pedestrian and cycle links. The application promoted links through the
development via the Local Centre access onto the Hollow Land Roundabout. School
trips will be catered for along the pedestrian and cycle links being provided through
the development to the new primary school located within the site.
The pedestrian access onto Hyde End Road from the southern area of the Phase 1
development is being promoted to improve accessibility to bus stops. The access
point was promoted at the time of the outline planning application when the extent of
necessary off-site highway mitigation measures, including improvements to
pedestrian networks in the area, was established.
The narrow verge width along the western side of Hyde End Road, coupled with the
proximity of the hedge and the ground level difference, precludes a footway being
provided along the western side of Hyde End Road. Instead, and in accordance with
the proposals approved at the time of the outline planning application, an advisory
crossing of Hyde End Road with tactile paving and dropped kerbs is being promoted
at the access to link to the footway along the eastern side of Hyde Road
Condition 46 of the outline planning consent also requires a walking and cycling
strategy which will take into account external linkages for the site. Details will be
required to be submitted and approved prior to the occupation of the first dwelling.

139

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 27.
Development
Management
Ref No
161250

No weeks on
day of
committee
10/13

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield South

Major

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Wokingham Borough Council
Sports Centre Hyde End Lane Ryeish Green
Postcode RG7 1ER
Full application for the proposed construction of a new full sized fenced
and floodlit artificial grass pitch and associated access and car parking
improvements.
Type
Full Application
PS Category Major
Officer
Chris Howard
FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Planning Committee on 20/07/16

REPORT PREPARED BY

Delivery Programme Director

SUMMARY
The application site is located at Ryeish to the south west of Hyde End Lane. The site
comprises a disused sports building, associated parking and existing football pitches.
The site is located within the South of the M4 Strategic Location and contributions have
been sought to improve facilities from developers within the SDL for sports uses.
The application is for a new artificial grass pitch (AGP) to serve as a football field (full
size) together with floodlighting (6 columns), a storage (shipping) container and
perimeter fencing (4.5m high). The application also proposes to improve parking
capacity for the site to 80 spaces which will ultimately be used when the sports centre is
re-opened.

PLANNING STATUS
 South of M4 Strategic Development Location (Core Strategy Policy CP19)
 Shinfield CP
 Borough boundary
 Nuclear Installation Consultation Zone
 Burghfield Zone C: 5km
 Nuclear Installation Consultation Zone Burghfield Zone B: 3km
 Modest Development Location
 Countryside
 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 5km – 7km Zone (Officer Note:
this is not an issue in this case as the proposal does not involve residential
development).
 Affordable Housing ThresholdsPublic Open Space

141

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
Conditions and Reasons
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
received by the local planning authority on 06/05/16. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. The fencing, floodlighting and container shall be delivered in accordance with the
details submitted within the application documents unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping,
which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs
to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06 for garden development)
5. Prior to the commencement of development, details and the location of the
Sheffield Stands for bicycles shall first be submitted for approval by the local
planning authority. The stands shall be provided in accordance with the
approved details prior to the use of the Artificial Grass Pitch unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To encourage sustainable travel. Relevant policy Core Strategy policy
CP6
6. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local
Planning Authority. Any subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works

142

deemed necessary by the LPA shall be carried out to agreed timescales and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. If no contamination is
encountered during the development correspondence confirming this fact shall
be submitted to the LPA upon completion of the development
Reason: To ensure that any contamination on the site is remediated to protect
the existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land
7. The floodlights hereby permitted shall not operate other than between the hours
of 08:00 to 22:00.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 and CP6

PLANNING HISTORY
33947- ERECTION OF SPORTS AND COMMUNITY CENTRE – Approved

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Previous land use(s)
Proposed floorspace of each use(s)

2.27ha
Sport, recreation and parking
106m x 70m Artificial Grass Pitch
(AGP),
The parking area is currently fenced
off
80 – initially the use of the Artificial
Grass Pitch will be served by the duel
use of 16 spaces (including 2
disabled)

Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
WBC Landscape and Trees
WBC Environmental Health
WBC Biodiversity Officer
WBC Highways Officer
WBC Parks, Open Space
and Green Issues
WBC Property Services
WBC Sports Development
(Places and
Neighbourhoods)
WBC Drainage
Sports England

Shinfield Parish Council

No objection recommends condition 4
No objection recommends condition 6
No objection subject to the lighting strategy being
implemented
No objection recommends condition 5
No Comment
No Comment
No Comment

No objection
No objection recommends a condition in respect to the
community use of the site. Officer note, the AGP will
remain in the management of Wokingham Borough
Council. As such a management plan is not considered
necessary
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that the parking
identified for the artificial pitch has an alternative use
until at least July 2018, as a site for temporary

143

classrooms for the new Shinfield West School (planning
application submitted and currently pending). The parish
council requests that further consideration is given for
alternative parking options which will not be to the
significant detriment of residents along Hyde End Lane.
– Officer Note: see report below paragraphs 3-4

REPRESENTATIONS
Local Residents:
1 letter of comment in respect to:
Access – Officer note see report below paragraphs 11-13
Impact of flood lights on adjacent development – Officer note see report below
paragraph 9 and condition 7 controls lighting hours

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework 2012
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
South East Plan 2009
Saved policy NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies:
CP1 - Sustainable Development
CP2 - Inclusive Communities
CP3 - General Development Principles
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand
CP7 - Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP10 - Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)
CP19- South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development
Locations
Managing Development Delivery Document (Local Plan) (adopted February 2014)
CC01 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 - Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 - Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05 - Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 - Noise
CC07 - Parking
CC09 - Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10 - Sustainable Drainage
TB21 - Landscape Character

144

TB23 - Biodiversity and Development
SAL05 - Delivery of Avoidance Measures for the Thames Basin Heath Special
Protection Areas
Emerging Shinfield Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan:
The Draft Shinfield Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the Borough Council in
January 2016. It was considered by Executive on 31 March 2016, publicised for a 6
week statutory consultation and it is currently being examined by an independent
examiner. It is expected that a referendum will take place later this year.
Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 41-007-20140306 of the NPPG states:
‘Planning applications are decided in accordance with the development plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. An emerging neighbourhood plan may be a
material consideration. Paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets
out the weight that may be given to relevant policies in emerging plans in decision
taking. Factors to consider include the stage of preparation of the plan and the extent to
which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures
that the community has the final say on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into
force, decision makers should respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum
when seeking to apply weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation
statement submitted with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and
effectiveness of the consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all
representations on the proposals should have been submitted to the local planning
authority by the close of the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the
decision maker in each case to determine what is a material consideration and what
weight to give to it’.
Considering that the Neighbourhood Plan is in the process of examination and it has not
yet gone through a referendum, it is considered that the Plan carries very limited weight
at present.
Supplementary Planning Documents
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
The Council’s parking standards as set out within appendix 2 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan and referred to in para 4.38 of the Core Strategy
PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development
1. The application site is located at Ryeish on the existing sports facility immediately
within the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location. Core Strategy policy
CP11 (Proposals outside Development Limits) establishes the principle for
outdoor sport or countryside recreation providing the scale, form, design and
character are appropriate to the location. The site is already in recreational use
and therefore the principle of the development is considered acceptable in this
case.
Site Description / Site Background
2. The application site is located to the south west of Hyde End Lane and is
currently used for sport and recreational use. There are existing buildings on the
site which used to serve as a gym/tennis facilities although these are currently

145

disused. There are aspirations for these to be brought back into use and upgrade
these and this is currently subject to a feasibility study to establish the extent of
the facilities that could be supported by the community. The parking
improvements would facilitate the delivery of the sports centre.
3. It should be noted that a concurrent application from Children’s Services for a
temporary primary school is currently under consideration by the Council (ref
161091). This would utilises the existing car park (which has not been in use
since the closure of the leisure centre) and site modular buildings for 2 years
after which it is expected that one of the two schools identified in the SDL and
benefiting from outline planning consent would be opened. The planning
department has worked closely with Childrens Services to ensure that the layout
of the school has parking facilities that can be duel use and does not
compromise the development on their site. These will be segregated from the
school complex and serve the needs of the demand generated by the AGP.
Since demand for the pitch is likely to be in the evenings and on weekends, it is
considered that this arrangement would be acceptable as demand for the AGP
will be outside of primary school hours.
4. Once the temporary school is relocated, the intention is to implement the
permission for the larger parking area proposed by this application and undertake
works to bring the leisure building back into use. The level of parking for the
new car park has been designed to accommodate the needs of the future reuse
of the leisure facilities.

Impact on the Character of the Area:
5. The application is for a new artificial grass pitch (AGP) to serve as a football field
(full size) together with floodlighting (6 columns 15m high), a storage (shipping)
container and perimeter fencing (4.5m high). The application also proposes to
improve parking capacity for the site to 80.
6. In terms of the AGP and associated infrastructure, it is proposed to site the
facilities on existing recreation pitches set away from residential development.
Although the proposal would increase the built form within the countryside, policy
CP11 establishes that the intended use is an acceptable form of development.
Given that the recreational use is established and that the site is not in a
sensitive landscape area, introducing the new pitch would not cause a significant
harm to the site. In addition, the fencing would be open so would retain a sense
of openness and the colour of this and the container is green which would help
these to blend in with the countryside.
7. In terms of the car parking, while this would increase the level of hardstanding, it
is to be located on an area of previously developed land. The parking
incorporates landscaping which would soften the impact of the car park and this
can be secured by condition 4.
Impact on Residential Amenity:
8. The AGP is located on the existing Ryeish sports pitches. The nearest
residential development is located at the front of the site at Hyde End Lane which
is around 160m from the AGP. Other houses are located on the east side of
Hyde End Lane around 200m from the AGP. The main potential impacts arising

146

from the application is the lighting and noise associated with the use of the pitch
and vehicle movements from the site. The remote location of the application site
means that there would be no harm in terms of visual amenity, overlooking,
overbearing or loss of light
9. With regards to the floodlighting, the applicant has provided a lighting scheme
which shows the level of lighting (lux levels) generated by the proposed lights.
The lights have been designed to aim the light downwards towards the AGP to
limit the level of overspill. The light contour plans show that the light overspill
from the development decreases rapidly from the floodlights to a level of 5 lux
within 25-30m of the boundary of the AGP. No significant impacts will occur to
any residential dwellings.
10. With regards to noise, the existing pitches have an established use. Whilst the
floodlighting and AGP could potentially increase the level of use of the site, the
remote location of the site compared to existing residential development would
limit the level of noise that would travel to houses. It is however considered
reasonable to impose a condition for the lights to be turned off at 10pm to ensure
that outdoor activities are controlled to a reasonable hour.
Access and Movement:
11. The existing leisure centre is accessed from Hyde End Lane. As previously
discussed the site had a former use as a leisure centre. The proposal seeks to
use the existing access arrangements and no changes to this are proposed.
12. In terms of parking, as outlined above, initially the AGP would be served by the
duel use of the parking proposed for the school. This proposes 18 spaces
including 2x disabled spaces that would serve the AGP outside the hours of the
school. Once the school is relocated, the parking plan proposed by this
application would be implemented. This would be satisfactory for the needs of
the AGP and future re use of the leisure centre.
13. In terms of the wider highway network, although the use of the site will attract
more trips, the highways officer is satisfied that there is sufficient capacity in the
area.

Trees and Landscape Issues:
14. A small number of trees would be removed to facilitate delivery of the new car
park. These are small trees and are not considered to be significant by the
landscape officer. The proposal would also provide additional planting in the
parking area. Subject to condition 4, the landscape officer is satisfied that there
would be no significant impacts on landscape or trees by either the car park
improvements or the AGP
Biodiversity Issues:
15. The proposal includes the use of floodlighting within an area of open space
however the lux level plan shows the light spillage reduces quickly from the AGP.
As such impacts to ecology will be limited and the lights will be turned off by
22:00hrs. As such there are no significant impacts to ecology within the local
area.

147

CONCLUSION
The proposal will provide enhanced facilities at Ryeish which will benefit the residents of
Wokingham and help accommodate demand generated by the new housing being
delivered in the South of M4 SDL. There are no significant impacts in respect to
character to neighbouring resident’s amenities or to local ecology. For these reasons
the proposal is considered acceptable.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

148

149

This page is intentionally left blank

151

This page is intentionally left blank

153

This page is intentionally left blank

Planning observations – 23 May 2016
161144
Proposal
Planning Officer
Comment

260 Hyde End Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1DL
Full planning application for the proposed erection of two dwellings
Daniel Hay
Comments by
27 May 2016
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application as presented, as it is overdevelopment
of a small site. There is, in our opinion, insufficient parking to provide for three
properties, as there are already five or so vehicles regularly using the existing dwelling.
Additionally, there is very little amenity space and the development is not in keeping with
the surrounding properties. The parish council would consider supporting a single
dwelling on this site.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161154
44 Century Drive, Spencers Wood, RG7 1PE
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a single storey side extension to
dwelling.
Planning Officer
Dariusz Kusyk
Comments by
07 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161166
2 Askew Drive, Spencers Wood, RG7 1HG
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a two storey side extension, singe
storey front extensions with new pitched roof over all including existing garage, part rear
single storey extension to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Charlie Snell
Comments by
31 May 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161182
Little fields, Croft Road, Spencers Wood, RG2 9EX
Proposal
Householder application for proposed erection of a single storey side extension to
dwelling.
Planning Officer
Rosie Rogers
Comments by
27 May 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161189
Land West of Shinfield, West of Hyde End Road and Hollow Lane, South of Church Lane,
Shinfield
Proposal
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline planning permission VAR/2014/0624
(Pursuant to O/2010/1432) for the erection of 517 dwellings including access roads,
garages, parking spaces, open space and landscape treatment of Phase 1, Shinfield West.
(Access within the site, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to be considered).
Planning Officer
Christopher Howard
Comments by
unknown
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that there is a footpath which exits the ‘southern’
portion of the phase 1 development straight out onto Hyde End Road, on a section where
there is no pavement along on this side. Residents intending to go to Shinfield Infant and
Nursery School will be required to cross the road, walk along the southern side of Hyde
End Road, and cross again to reach the school. This is not a safe or sustainable walk to
school and will discourage people from walking. Poor walking routes will lead to excessive
use of private motor vehicles.
The Parish Council requests that this phase only proceeds once sustainable travel routes
that avoid conflict with the existing road network are designed and approved.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161190
21 Ryhill Way, Earley, RG6 4AZ
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of a first floor side and single storey
rear extensions to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Graham Vaughan
Comments by
31 May 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application based on the detrimental impact on the
street scene of development over one half of the linked garages.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161191
Great Lea Farm, Great Lea , Pingewood, Three Mile Cross, RG7 1JL
Proposal
Conversion of Unit A to provide a single storey building; demolition and redevelopment of
Unit B to provide a two storey building; demolition and redevelopment of Unit C to
provide a two storey building ; conversion and extension to Units D and E to provide
single storey buildings and single storey extensions to form new court yard; conversion of
Unit F to provide a single storey building; demolition and redevelopment of Unit G to
provide a two storey building ; conversion of Unit H to provide a two storey building;

155

conversion of Unit J to provide a single storey building; part demolition and conversion of
Unit K to provide a single storey building; conversion of Unit L to provide a single storey
building and part demolition and conversion of Unit M to provide a single storey building
(with the inclusion of a mezzanine floor) to create 2,335 sqm (measured internally) of
B1(a) floor space . Creation of on-site vehicle and cycle parking areas (including provision
of disabled parking) and internal site roads; provision of new vehicle, pedestrian and cycle
access to Great Lea; provision of detailed on and off-site landscaping, boundary
treatments and other associated works
Planning Officer
Laura Callan
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council supports this application to provide a range of employment sites
within the parish.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161193
32 Clares Green Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1DY
Proposal
Householder application for a single storey extension to the rear and side of the property
Planning Officer
Charlie Snell
Comments by
01 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council objects to this application on the basis of overdevelopment of the
site.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161250
Sports Centre, Hyde End Lane, Ryeish Green, RG7 1ER
Proposal
Full application for the proposed construction of a new full sized fenced and floodlit
artificial grass pitch and associated access and car parking improvements.
Planning Officer
Christopher Howard
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned that the parking identified for the artificial pitch has
an alternative use until at least July 2018, as a site for temporary classrooms for the new
Shinfield West School (planning application submitted and currently pending). The parish
council requests that further consideration is given for alternative parking options which
will not be to the significant detriment of residents along Hyde End Lane.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161266
Land and Madjeski Stadium, Shooters Way, Reading,
Proposal
Consultation from Reading Borough Council for the following proposal: Outline
application for residential development (Blocks 1-6 only) to provide up to 430 residential
units, comprising predominantly 1 and 2 bedroom apartments (Use Class C3) along with
associated landscaping and car parking. And application for residential and mixed use
development comprising: 203 residential units, convention centre and ice rink, 246
bedroom hotel and up to 102 serviced apartments, decked car parking within convention
centre, flexible ancillary retail space, multi storey car park, public open space, associated
access, landscaping, cycle parking, transport interchange and related
infrastructure/engineering works, ancillary facilities, access and demolition of existing
indoor training facility and enhancement of existing RFC Garden of Remembrance.
Planning Officer
Andrew Chugg
Comments by
30 May 2016
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council is concerned over the impact of Reading developments on local
school places within Wokingham borough and request further information on the
intended provision of school places specifically for these developments. The parish
council is also concerned about the impact on the local highways network of additional
development at Green Park and Junction 11.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161284
209 Hyde End Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1BU
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed erection of front and rear single storey
extensions to dwelling.
Planning Officer
Katie Herrington
Comments by
08 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161314
Woodcote Cottage, Beech Hill Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1HY
Proposal
Consultation from West Berkshire Council for the following proposal: Section 19:
Variation of Condition 6 - Brickwork, 10 - Roofing, 11 - Drainage, 12 - Plumbing, 13 Staircase details, 14 - Windows and Doors Details, 15 - Fireplaces and bread ovens
cleaning/repairers, 16 - Window and Door Openings and 19 - Pointing, of planning
permission reference 12/00949/LBC2 (Conversion to a single dwelling, alterations and
improvements).
Planning Officer
Stefan Fludger
Comments by
01 June 2016
Comment
No comment
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

156

CPH

Late items:
160453
Proposal

Land at 44 Falcon Avenue, Shinfield, RG2 8EL
Full application for proposed erection of three bedroom end of terrace dwelling with
alterations to access.
Planning Officer
Pooja Kumar
Comments by
Unknown
Comment
Shinfield Parish Council supports this application provided that materials used are in
keeping with the adjoining frontages.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------160955
62 Ryhill Way, Earley, RG6 4AZ *Adjoining parish consultation*
Proposal
Householder application for the proposed conversion of garage to create habitable
accommodation
Planning Officer
Stephen Thwaites
Comments by
09 June 2016
Comment
No comment
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------161302
Land West of Beech Hill Road, Spencers Wood, RG7 1FG
Proposal
Application to vary condition 12 of planning consent O/2013/1221 for the proposed
erection of up to 120 residential units, means of access and associated infrastructure.
Condition 12 relates to the mix and type of affordable housing to be provided.
Planning Officer
Laura Callan
Comments by
15 June 2016
Comment
No comment
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

157

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 28.
Development
Management
Ref No
161091

Parish

Ward

Listed By

Shinfield

Shinfield South

Council’s own
development

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Wokingham Borough Council
"Former Ryeish Green School", Hyde End Lane, Ryeish Green
Full application for the proposed installation of two modular
classrooms and associated play areas on existing car park;
Formation of new car park access; Refurbishment of form 6th form building to
provide staff accommodation.

Type
PS Category
Officer

Full application
1
Sophie Morris

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee
20/07/16
Planning
Committeeonon
20/07/16
Delivery
Programme
Director
Delivery Programme Director

SUMMARY
The application is for the erection of two single storey modular buildings and associated works
to layout an area located within the curtilage of the former Ryeish Comprehensive school site in
connection with its use as a temporary primary school for a temporary two academic year
period.
The need for a primary school in this area was identified within the Primary School Planning
Strategy 2016-2018, approved by the Executive at the end of January 2016. It identified 3
hotspot areas in Wokingham which require additional primary school places for September
2016. The area analysis in the Strategy concluded that there are 3 areas which should be
classed as priority areas, for which new places are needed for September 2016, these being
Earley, Woodley and South West. The application site falls within the identified South West area
and whilst two new primary schools are planned within this area, they will not be available until
2018 at the earliest, therefore a temporary solution is required.
The site is situated within the curtilage of the former Ryeish Green Comprehensive School
which is accessed off Hyde End Lane, Shinfield. A large part of the site is now occupied by the
existing Oakbank Free School. The site is located within the South of the M4 Strategic
Development Location (SDL).
The site was previously occupied by Ryeish Green School, a mixed 11-18 comprehensive. The
school closed in 2010 and the current Oakbank School opened as a free school in September
2012. A number of buildings on the site are no longer in use, including the former 6th form
building which is included within the current application site.
The proposal involves the use of the site for a temporary school for 2 academic years. After this
period, it is anticipated that the permanent primary school within Shinfield will be completed in
order to open in September 2018. The proposed temporary provision will include an intake of 30
children in September 2016, and a further 30 in September 2017, with a maximum of 8 staff for
the 2016 intake, rising to a maximum of 11 for the September 2017 intake.
The majority of the works included within this development proposal are considered not to
constitute development for which planning permission is required, or are permitted development
by virtue of the General Permitted Development Order (2015). The two proposed modular
buildings do require planning permission, however, their location and impact upon the

159

surrounding area, including their use in connection with the proposed temporary school use are
considered acceptable and would not result in demonstrable harm to the existing surrounding
area, including the adjacent school, the nearest residential properties or to the local highway
network, given the scale of development and its temporary nature. As such, the proposal is
recommended for approval.

PLANNING STATUS
 South of M4 Strategic Development Location (Core Strategy Policy CP19)
 Shinfield CP
 Borough boundary
 Nuclear Installation Consultation Zone
 Burghfield Zone C: 5km
 Nuclear Installation Consultation Zone Burghfield Zone B: 3km
 Modest Development Location
 Countryside
 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 5km – 7km Zone
 Affordable Housing Thresholds
RECOMMENDATION
A. That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:
Plans
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA or where those details
are altered pursuant to the requirements of the conditions of this planning permission:
Location Plan: K2731 – 04A; Location Plan K2731 – 05A; Proposed Site Plan K2731 –
02 I; Elevations L07340/C; Module Elvations 020 Rev B; Proposed single classroom 01
Rev 01; Double Classroom Q21805 Rev 02
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
2. The two modular buildings hereby permitted shall be removed following cessation of the
use or by September 2018 (whichever date occurs first) unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Council.
Reason: To ensure the temporary nature of the site for use as a school in the interests of
highway safety and convenience in accordance with Core Policies CP3 and CP6, and
the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (October 2011).
3. Prior to the commencement of the use of the site as a temporary primary school, the
cycle, scooter, car parking and access measures shall be laid out as indicated on
approved drawing ‘Proposed Site Plan K2731 – 02 I’ and shall be maintained thereafter
for the duration of the use of the site as a temporary primary school.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience in accordance with Core
Policies CP3 and CP6, and the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location
Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011).
4. Prior to commencement of the use of the site as a temporary primary school, the
proposed school hours of use shall be agreed in writing in conjunction with the school
operator. The school shall only operate within these hours unless on parents evenings or

160

at other times to be agreed in writing by the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience in accordance with Core
Policies CP3 and CP6, and the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location
Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011).
Informatives
1.
You are advised, in compliance with The Town & Country Planning (General
Development Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2000, that the following policies and/or
proposals in the development plan are relevant to this decision:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10, CP11, CP13
CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7.
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) adopted February
2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10, TB05, TB07, TB08,
TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05.
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011; Infrastructure
Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations adopted October
2011; Sustainable Design and Construction SPD adopted 2010
2.

Mud on Road
Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information contact
Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302.

3.
Noise
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control of
Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition sites.
Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made to the
Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.
4.
Thames Water
In respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure that storm flows
are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network through on or off site storage.
When it is proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be
separate and combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not
permitted for the removal of Ground Water. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a
public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. They can
be contacted on 0845 850 2777.
5.
Environmental Permits
Licences, consents or permits may be required for work on this site. For further information on
environmental permits and other licences please visit
http://www.businesslink.gov.uk/bdotg/action/layer?r.s=tl&r.lc=en&topicId=1079068363
6.
Local Labour
The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers within the borough
commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This should include:
•
•
•

Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;
Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;
Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.

161

7.
Construction Noise
The applicant or the operator is advised to submit to the Council’s Environmental Health Team a
‘prior consent’ application under s.60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974.
8.

Travel Plan

The applicant is advised that in the interests of encouraging sustainable travel patterns to and
from the temporary school, a travel plan is produced within the first academic term of the school
opening, which should identify measures which will encourage sustainable methods of travel to
and from the school.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
There is a concurrent application within which part of the application site falls (application ref:
161250) That application is for the proposed construction of a new full sized fenced and floodlit
artificial grass pitch and associated access and car parking improvements.
SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site area:

Approx 1ha

Previous Land Use(s):

Car park and sixth form building in connection with former school

Proposed floorspace
of each use(s):

Total floorspace of modular buildings: 207sq.m

Existing parking spaces:

The parking area is currently fenced off

Proposed parking spaces:

16 spaces (including 2 disabled)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Wokingham Borough Council Consultees
WBC Highways:

WBC Building
Control:
WBC
Environmental
Health:
WBC Waste
Services:
WBC Drainage:

Parking/Cycle and provision acceptable; safe walking route from Hyde
End Road important; staggered start times with existing school would
help mitigate potential parking issues
No comments

No comments
No comments
No comments

External Consultees
Sport England:

No comments

Parish/Town
Council:

Supports the application; consideration needed for how the site could
be expanded if additional classrooms are required for the 2017 intake.

162

Oakbank Free School: Object
spaces
in order
to accommodate
the access
Object to
tothe
theremoval
removalofof6 6parking
parking
spaces
in order
to accommodate
the access in to the school car park
Local Residents:
Local Members:

No comments received
No comments received

PLANNING POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10, CP11, CP13
CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7.
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) adopted February
2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10, TB05, TB07, TB08,
TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05.
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011.
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations adopted
October 2011.

PLANNING ISSUES
1.

Development Proposal:

1.1

The application site is situated within the grounds of the former Ryeish Green
Comprehensive School. The school closed in 2010 and in 2012, Oakbank Free School
opened on the site, although a number of the former school buildings on the site are not
currently in use by the existing school.

1.2

Part of the school site has been identified by WBC Education Department as an
appropriate location for a temporary primary school to accommodate 30 children
(September 2016 intake) and a further 30 in September 2017, as a result of an identified
priority need in the area for such provision until such time that the new Spencers Wood
primary school is completed and ready for its first year intake which is currently
scheduled for September 2018. The area identified for the temporary use is redundant
and not currently used by the Oakbank school.

1.3

The proposal involves the installation of two single storey modular buildings with access
ramps, associated play area, together with the refurbishment of an existing 2 storey
building on site for staff; the formation of a new car park access in connection with the
use as a temporary school for two academic years commencing in September 2016.

1.4

Access to the site would be via the access to the existing school site located on Hyde
End Road.

1.5

Part of the application site falls within the red line boundary of the application which is
under consideration for “Full application for the proposed construction of a new full sized
fenced and floodlit artificial grass pitch and associated access and
car parking improvements” (ref: 161250). Although it is anticipated that (subject to
planning permission being granted), works to implement that scheme are likely to
commence in the autumn 2016, the temporary school layout and use will not impede this
proposal coming forward, and a dual use of the car park in association with both uses is
considered acceptable.

163

2.

Principle of Development:

2.1

The temporary primary school will be located within part of the curtilage of the former
Ryeish Green Comprehensive school which is not used by the existing Oakbank School.
The lawful use is considered to fall within class D1 (non-residential institutions) of The
Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) which (amongst other uses) includes schools,
day nurseries, and creches etc. As both primary and secondary schools fall within Class
D1 of the Use Classes Order, the proposed use of the application site as a primary
school is not considered to require planning permission as it will not result in a change of
the lawful use of the site.

2.2

The elements of the application which therefore fall to be considered are those relating to
the installation of the modular buildings, together with the laying out of the car park and
play area, and the refurbishment of the former 6th form block.

2.3

Whilst the two modular buildings require planning permission, the works to mark out
parking bays within the existing car park; the laying out of the play area and the
refurbishment of the former 6th form block are not works which would constitute
development for which planning permission is required. Given the former lawful use of
the 6th form building for educational purposes, the proposed use for staff facilities would
also not require planning permission.

2.4

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 also
permits a number of the proposed works to be carried out as permitted development,
such as creating the access point in to the car park, and the installation of the perimeter
fence, which is proposed to be 1.8m high.

2.5

The proposed modular buildings are single storey, and the larger of the two (measuring
22.2m x 6m) will provide 2 rooms as well as associated facilities to accommodate
teaching requirements i.e. wc’s, store room, medical room etc. The smaller modular
building (measuring 12.5m x 6m) will provide a separate breakout space where pupils
can go to eat lunch or where other indoor activities can take place.

2.6

The scale and appearance of the two buildings, and associated covered bicycle store are
considered appropriate for their intended use and will not appear at odds with the
existing scale and appearance of other buildings within the wider school site.

2.7

Since the application was originally submitted, the proposed layout has been amended
and now provides a better configuration of the modular buildings and pedestrian access
to them. The car park area will be separated from the school area by a fence, which is an
improvement on the original design.

3.

Highways and Transport:

3.1

Although the use of the site as a temporary school is not considered to be development
requiring planning permission, consideration needs to be given to associated highways
and transport issues.

3.2

The existing Oakbank School on the adjacent site does not permit parents to drive into
the school to drop their children off and access is managed by the caretaker. Therefore,
parents that drive either park on Hyde End Road or use a ‘park and stride’ facility that is
provided by the Six Bells pub on Church Lane. This and other measures help to
encourage the reduction in volumes of drop-off/pick up activities on Hyde End Lane.
However, this facility is located around 1 mile away which is considered too far for the
school children who would be attending the primary school to be expected to walk. This
is particularly so given the younger age than those attending the Oakbank Secondary

164

school.
3.3

Given the age of the primary school children, parents will need to park up and walk their
children in and out of the school, rather than just drop them to walk in alone. The primary
school use will therefore undoubtedly result in a number of additional vehicle trips to drop
off and collect children from the school. However, due to the low numbers of pupils and
staggered timings the vehicle movements associated with the primary school are not
expected to have a serious impact upon the existing situation on the highway network.

3.4

There is some availability for on-street parking along Hyde End Lane and there is also a
SANG car park located near the northern end of Hyde End Road which is approximately
400 yards from the school. Both of these areas can be used by parents wishing to park
and walk their children in to school. However, it is acknowledged that this could
potentially clash with parents arriving to drop off or pick up children attending Oakbank
school, or indeed a parent with pupils in both.

3.5

At present, the Oakbank School is open to pupils from 0745 with registration
commencing at 0825 and finishing at 1600. From September 2016, the school day will
finish at 1500 on Monday and Friday and at 1600 on Tuesday to Thursday. Therefore, in
order to minimise potential impacts upon the start and finish times of the existing school,
the proposed temporary school start and finish times Monday to Friday have been
suggested to the provider to be 8.55am to 3.30pm. This is half an hour clear both at the
start and end of the day of the school hours of the Oakbank school and should help
mitigate any impacts. A condition is proposed in order for the hours to be agreed in
liaison with WBC, the provider and Oakbank School.

3.6

WBC Highways officer has confirmed that the scooter (12 spaces) cycle (12 spaces) and
parking layouts (18 spaces including 2x disabled) are considered acceptable given the
scale of the school.

3.7

A consultation response letter was received from Oakbank school objecting to the
removal of 6 car parking spaces which would be necessary in order to accommodate the
access point in to the primary school car park. However, although the area where the 6
spaces would be lost are marked out as car parking spaces, they are not located in an
officially designated car park. The area serves as the access road through the site and
on to the (now closed) leisure centre. It is therefore not considered that this would be a
justified planning reason to withhold planning permission, particularly given that creating
the access point into the car park are considered to be works which are permitted
development. However, the spaces would become available again once the school use
ceases.

3.8

The proposals include a footway between Hyde End Lane and the Primary School
through the existing car park as shown on Drawing K2731-05A. There is also a separate
pedestrian gate. These facilities will help to ensure a safe pedestrian route between the
Primary School and Hyde End Lane.

3.9

Given the scale of the temporary school, and the proposed staggered start and finish
times, the parking and highway layout and improved access proposals as discussed
above, the application is considered to be satisfactory in terms of highways and
transport.

4.

Impact on the Character of the Area:

4.1

Given the existing educational use of the wider site, and the fact that the modular
buildings will not be visible from public vantage points outside of the site, the proposal is
considered to be in keeping with the character of the area.

165

5.

Impact on Landscape:

4.1

It is considered that the proposed modular buildings will have a minimal visual impact
when considered in the context of the wider school site, and surrounding area, and will
therefore not be harmful to the surrounding landscape.

6.

Impact on Neighbours:

5.1

It is not considered that the location, scale and appearance of the modular buildings on
the school site, together with the use as a temporary primary school would result in
harm to the existing residential amenities of surrounding residential occupiers given that
the nearest residential properties are located some distance away on Hyde End Road.
Although an increase in vehicles arriving and departing from Hyde End Road is likely to
occur, for the reasons set out elsewhere in the report, this is not considered likely to be
demonstrably harmful to the existing residential amenities of nearby residents.

CONCLUSION
It is considered that the proposed modular buildings and associated works in connection with
the use of the site as a temporary primary school would provide an acceptable solution to an
identified priority need for primary school places in the area. The use of the site would not result
in harm to surrounding existing residential amenities or to the surrounding highway network. As
such, the proposal is considered acceptable and is recommended for approval.

NB All reports seek to identify environmental, community safety, customer care and
equal opportunities implications. Consultation with residents and organisations which
has or is about to take place, will also be reported
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Development
Management

Telephone
0118 974 6451

Email
development.control@wokingham.gov.uk

166

Existing
pedestrian
crossing.

Existing school car
park / access route.
New vehicle
entrance.

12No. cycles in
covered storage.

Ramp
(notional).

Vehicle exit
(existing)

Dis.
W.C.

Staff facilities

Parking, Access &
Vehicle circulation.
(existing asphalte pavings)

Staff office
accommodation.

167
Soft Informal / Social Area
(Existing grass area)

Existing car
park perimeter.
Refuse & recycling
bin storage area.
Car parking

8

Rev.I: Cycle store revised&
refuse area indicated.5/7/16

SHINFIELD WEST
TEMPORARY PROVISION
PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Jan.'16

Rev.H: Modular 2 added.22/6/16
Rev.G: Parking bays 3-14 adjusted.17/6/16
Rev.F: Pedestrian routes amended.14/6/16
Rev.E: Client changes.8/6/16
Rev.D: 4No.car parking spaces added. 20/5/16
Rev. C: Client changes. 31/3/16
Rev. B: Scooter store added. 30/3/16
Rev. A: Additional cycle parking/reduced car parking. 24/3/16

9

1:200 @A3

13 12 11 10

scale:
Date:

14

This page is intentionally left blank

New
pedestrian
gate.

New
pedestrian
access.
New
vehicle
access.
Dropped
kerbs.

169
REV.

.

DATE

.

.

CLIENT:

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
PROJECT:

SHINFIELD WEST
TEMPORARY PROVISION

DRAWING:

LOCATION PLAN

SCALE:
DATE:

Rev. A. Layout updated & pedestrian route added. 30/6/16.

1:500
Apr.'16

@A1
DRAWN:

DAS

Drg.No.K 2731 - 04 A

CHKD:

This page is intentionally left blank

171
1000

2000

3000

SCALE 1:100

CLIENTS APPROVAL
Signed by:

Company:

Position:

Date:

No work will commence on this project until we receive a signed copy of the drawing indicating
approval of layout. Any costs or time delays arising from changes after drawing approval will be
chargeable to the client.

4000

5000 mm

This page is intentionally left blank

173

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 29.
Development
Management
Ref No
153247

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
30
Wokingham
Town

Ward

Listed by:

Norreys / Hurst

Major
Development

Applicant

The Keephatch Beech Consortium

Location

Keephatch Beech, North Wokingham

Proposal

Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning Permission
O/2014/2435 (Development comprising 300 residential dwellings, up to
800 square metres of restaurant / public house (use class A3 and A4),
public open space and landscaping, allotments, acoustic mitigation,
surface water drainage, foul water pumping stations, land reserved for
park and ride and a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs)
at Stokes Farm) granted on 27/03/2015. Detailed matters of access,
layout, landscaping, scale and appearance to be considered.
Permission is also sought to discharge conditions of planning permission
O/2014/2435, as follows: 3 (phasing strategy), 5 (materials), 6 (levels),
17 (earth mounding), 18 (bats), 19 (ancient woodland), 20 (hedgerows),
21 (veteran trees), 22 (Landscape and Ecological Management Plan),
25 (air quality), 26 (cycle parking), 32 (vehicle tracking), 43 (Code for
Sustainable Homes), 44 (energy strategy), 45 (water consumption), 46
(water butts/composting), 47 (refuse storage), 51 (noise bund), 57
(affordable housing), 58 (open spaces and SANG), 59 (SANG access)
and 62 (allotments).

Type

Reserved Matters Application

PS Category 1
Officer

David Smith

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Planning Committee on 20th July 2016

REPORT PREPARED BY

Strategic Delivery Manager

175

SUMMARY

The application relates to the Keephatch Beech development site; a site comprising
21.25 hectares, which is situated 2km to the east of Wokingham town centre, directly
adjacent to the A329 (M).
Outline planning permission for the development of the site for 300 dwellings, up to
800sqm of restaurant/pub floorspace and a park and ride facility was granted under
planning application O/2013/0565 on 27/03/2015. At the time it determined the planning
application, WBC accepted and established the principle and quantum of development
on the site. The current application is a reserved matters application submitted pursuant
to the original outline consent. The purpose of this application is to provide further detail
in respect of the layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access. The application
follows the general parameters established and approved under the outline planning
consent. Details of the scheme are included in appendix A.
The application site sits within the development Plan allocated North Wokingham
Strategic Development Location (SDL). The overarching vision for the SDL is to provide
a coordinated approach to the delivery of infrastructure and services ensuring that
developments are of a high quality and are sustainable. This includes the provision of
schools, community facilities, good quality open space and appropriate local transport
and links. The development contributes it’s ‘fair share’ towards the provision of
infrastructure identified as necessary to facilitate the SDL development through both on
site provision and contributions towards off-site facilities; matters of which were secured
in the conditions and S106 agreement of the outline consent.
This development would be a sustainable urban extension to the existing settlement
whereby residents would have good access to services and facilities. The development
is well designed having regard to the constraints and requirements of the site. In
accordance with the parameters set out at the outline stage, the development would not
have a significant detrimental impact upon either the character of the area or the
amenity of existing residents. The proposal would also provide for an adequate level of
amenity for the future occupants of the dwellings without detrimental impact on ecology,
flood risk, traffic and highway safety.
In design terms the proposals meet all the council’s standards, including internal space,
garden depths and parking.
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission. This is a sustainable development that offers
substantial public benefit in meeting the housing needs of the community and delivering
on Wokingham’s development aspirations for the North Wokingham SDL. The
application will deliver high quality development in accordance with the Council’ spatial
strategy and there are no other material planning considerations of significant weight
that would dictate that the application should nevertheless be refused. Officers are
therefore recommending the application for approval, subject to the conditions listed.
PLANNING STATUS





Within North Wokingham Strategic Development Area
5KM Thames Basin Heath SPA
Tree Preservation Order

176

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the Head of Development Management to GRANT
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
Approved Drawings and Delivery
1. This permission is in respect of plan no's listed below. The development hereby
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and documents
listed unless otherwise agreed pursuant to the requirements of the attached conditions
or otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.


FULL LIST OF PLANS TO FOLLOW VIA AN ADDENDUM – at the time of
writing, the applicant was undertaking further minor amendments to the scheme
in line with requests from WBC’s Transport Planner.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 27/03/2020.
Reason: To comply with condition 2 of the outline consent.
3. The development hereby approved shall be commenced and developed in one phase
only unless an alternative phasing strategy is first submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure comprehensive planning of the site within the wider North
Wokingham Strategic Development Location, to ensure the timely delivery of facilities
and services and to protect the amenity of the area in accordance with Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CPS, CP6, CP17 and CP20 and
the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (October 2011).
Materials
4. The materials of the external elevations of the development hereby approved shall be
constructed using the materials identified on drawings 2367-C-1014B and 2367-C1015C, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a high quality development in accordance with Wokingham Borough
Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3, Borough Design Guide, CC04 and CC05 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014) and the North Wokingham
Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011).
Ecology
5. The Bat Mitigation Strategy, The Ancient Woodland Mitigation and Compensation
Strategy, the Hedgerow Mitigation and Compensation Strategy, and the Veteran and
near-future Veteran Tree Mitigation Strategy set out in the hereby approved Ecological
Monitoring Report (Ethos Planning: Updated April 2016) shall all be implemented in
accordance in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise approved in

177

writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In order to mitigate and compensate for the impacts of the development upon
the ecology of the site and in the interests of the visual amenity in accordance with
NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and CP7 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB 23 and the North Wokingham Strategic Development
Location Supplementary Planning Document (2011).
6. The Landscape and Environmental Management Plan (LEMP – Ethos Environmental
Planning January 2016) hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure appropriate mitigation of the
impact upon hedgerows during construction and in the long term in accordance with
NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and CP7 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21 and the North Wokingham Strategic Development
Location Supplementary Planning Document (2011).
Air Quality
7. The scheme of measures to protect proposed sensitive receptors from poor air
quality set out in the Air Quality Assessment (Redmore Environmental, 2nd October
2015, Ref: 1029r1) hereby approved shall be implemented prior to first occupation of
the relevant building and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that sensitive receptors are not subject to poor air quality as a result
of the development in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1.
Cycle Parking
8. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, no occupation of the
development shall occur until such time as details of cycle parking serving the relevant
part of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the
approved details and thereafter permanently retained.
Reason: In order to ensure the development contributes towards achieving a
sustainable transport system and to provide parking for cycles in accordance with
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6, the Parking Standards
Study within the Borough Design Guide 2010 and the North Wokingham Development
Location Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011) and CC07 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
Sustainability and Energy
9. The measures to fulfil the Energy Strategy outlined in the Sustainability and Energy
Statement (BlueSky Unlimited, November 2015) hereby approved shall be installed and
functional before first occupation of the buildings they are intended to serve. No
installation of any photovoltaic panels shall occur nor occupation of any dwelling shall
be commenced until such time as the details of the location, size and design of the
photovoltaic panels to serve the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

178

Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable forms of developments and to ensure
that the PV panels are installed without detrimentally impacting on the aesthetics of the
development. Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1, and CC04 and CC05 of
the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014), the Sustainable Design
and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2010) and the North Wokingham
Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011).
10. No occupation of the development shall occur until such time as a water butt of an
appropriate size installed to maximise rainwater collection and space for composting
has been provided for the relevant use in accordance with details that have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; unless it is
demonstrated that it is not practicable to accommodate it within the curtilage of the
building.
Reason: To reduce refuse and enable the efficient use of water in accordance with
NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, the Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan Policy CC04, the Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Document (2010) and the Environmental Impact Assessment
and the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (2011).
SANG detailed design
11. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, use of the SANG shall
not commence until such time as the access from the highway to the car park of the
SANG has been provided with a combined security gate and height barrier in
accordance with details which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the car park is adequately secured.
12. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, use of the SANG shall
not commence until such time as notice boards relating to the SANG have been
provided in accordance with details (including content, number, size, mounting and
location) which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure avoidance measures are implemented to avoid recreational
pressure on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area in accordance with
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CPS and CP20.
13. Prior to their construction, full details of the lining of the SANG ponds shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The ponds shall
thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details and completed prior
to the first use of the SANG.
Reason: To ensure avoidance measures are implemented to avoid recreational
pressure on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area in accordance with
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policies CPS and CP20.
INFORMATIVES:

179

1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted development
plan and there are no material considerations which warrant a different decision being
taken.
2. This permission should be read in conjunction with the outline planning permission
and associated Section 106 legal agreement.
3. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to
adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense, then
full engineering details must be agreed with the Corporate Head of Environment at the
Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to
commence development until such details have been approved in writing and a legal
agreement is made with the Council under S38 of Document marking - Unclassified the
Highways Act 1980.
4. Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer, whether
they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined under
Section 87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public
highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street
Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order
to secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the
highway network in Wokingham.
5. Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in liaison
with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189 746302).
This must take place at least three month in advance of the works and particularly to
ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are coordinated to take
place wherever possible at the same time.
6. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and
demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works,
can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.
7. Licences, consents or permits may be required for work on this site. For further
information on environmental permits and other licences please visit
http://www.businesslink.gov.uk/bdotg/action/layer?r.s=tl&r.lc=en&topicId=107906 8363
8. with regards to the condition relating to the lining of the SANG ponds, Wokingham
Borough Council do not favour the use of liners in publicly accessible ponds and would
prefer to see these ponds lined with a layer of puddled clay if required.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
O/2014/2435
Hybrid Planning Permission APPROVED 27/03/2015:
Outline permission (All Matters Reserved) for a development
comprising of up to 300 residential dwellings, up to 800 square
metres of restaurant / public house (use class A3 and A4), public

180

open space and landscaping, allotments, acoustic mitigation
comprising an earth bund and acoustic fence, surface water
drainage, foul water pumping stations, land reserved for park and
ride and a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs) at
Stokes Farm (7.91 ha).
Full permission for the Eastern section of the full Northern
Distributor Road including proposed junctions with London Road
and Binfield Road.
161093

160667

160702

152382

PENDING CONSIDERATION: Submission of details to comply
with the following conditions of planning consent O/2014/2435: 12.
Details of boundary walls and fences 13. Landscaping 15. Tree
protection
PENDING CONSIDERATION: Submission of details to comply
with the following conditions of planning consent O/2014/2435: 37.
Flooding and Drainage 39. Impact Studies 40. Drainage Strategy
PENDING CONSIDERATION: Submission of details to comply
with the following condition of planning consent O/2014/2435:
9. Construction Management Plan
APPROVED: Submission of details to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent O/2014/2435: 48 Archaeology 61
SANG Archaeology

CONSULTATION
The application has been advertised twice; first following receipt of the original
application and secondly following receipt of the amendments made in response to
comments made following the first consultation.
In both instances the application was advertised by way of site notices and press
adverts.
Consultations have been undertaken with internal departments within the Council and
external bodies; in accordance with national and local requirements.
Letters of notification were also sent to circa 700 neighbouring property addresses in the
vicinity of the site.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Wokingham Borough Council Consultees
WBC Archaeology
WBC
Children’s
Services
WBC Listed Buildings
and
Conservation
Areas Officer

No objection.
No objection.

WBC SANG

No in principle objections, subject to the recommended

No objection. The scheme is unlikely to cause harm to the
significance of any nearby listed buildings or Conservation
Areas.

181

conditions regarding detail.
WBC Ecology
Accepts that there would be no significant impact on ecology.
WBC Environmental No objections.
Health
Has reviewed and is satisfied with the Air Quality Assessment
(submitted under outline condition 25) and the noise bund
details (submitted under outline condition 51). Discharge is
therefore recommended for both conditions.
WBC Flood Risk
On the basis of the submitted information, is confident that the
development can proceed without increasing flood risk on or off
site and thus recommends discharge of conditions 37 and 40
of O/2014/2435.
WBC Highways
At the time of writing, further minor amendments to the scheme
are being prepared including:
 Repositioning of the bus stops along the NDR;
 A reduction in the footpath along Binfield Road and the
provision of pedestrian links into the existing open space
on Binfield Road;
 Closing off the eastern access between plots 45 and
116 to vehicular traffic and re-positioning the NDR
pedestrian island in the vicinity of the public right of way;
 Details of gates on the pumping station access from
London Road; and
 Submission of an adoption plan.
Subject to these amendments, no objection is raised.
WBC
The landscaping scheme submitted has responded to all
Landscape/Trees
comments made from WBC’s Landscape Officer.
WBC Public Rights of Would like to take opportunity to realign Public Right of Way
Way
inside of the noise bund
WBC
Waste
and No objection
Recycling
WBC
Affordable Satisfied with the provisions given that the applicant is
Housing
actioning the requirements of the S106.
External Consultees
Environment Agency

Sport England
Historic England
Natural England

Highways England

Advise that from the 1 January 2016 they are no longer
responding to surface water reserved matters and discharge of
conditions consultations. These consultations should be
directed to the Lead Local Flood Authorities who have had the
responsibility for providing pre-application and planning
application advice on surface water drainage since April 2015.
Do not wish to comment
Do not wish to offer any comments on this occasion
No objection – subject to the production of a SANG
Management Plan, to completion and transfer of the SANG to
WBC and to payment of the Strategic Access Management
and Monitoring (SAMM) Contribution – all matters of which are
secured under the S106 agreement.
No objection

182

Thames Water
Scotia Gas Networks
(SGN)
Network Rail
The Woodland Trust

No observations to make
No objection

No objection or further observations to make
The Woodland Trust strongly objects to the planning
application. They believe the ancient woodland and associated
habitats affected by the development to be of significant
importance to the character of the area. Any direct loss and
damage to ancient woodland and notable/veteran trees as a
result of the development is highly inappropriate and entirely
unacceptable.
[Officer Comment: The loss of part of Pebblestone Copse is
necessary to facilitate the delivery of the NDR (not the
housing), which is a key strategic piece of infrastructure for the
North Wokingham SDL. The loss was detailed and assessed
as part of the EIA undertaken for the outline consent; wherein
WBC accepted the loss when it granted planning permission,
subject to the ancient woodland compensation strategy to be
secured under condition 19 of the outline consent.]
Crime
Prevention No response received
Design Advisor;
Thames Valley Police;
South West Trains;
Royal Berkshire Fire
and Rescue;
NHS Wokingham;
Fields In Trust; and
Berks, Bucks and
Oxfordshire
Wildlife
Trust.
Other Local Authorities
Bracknell
Council

Forest No response

REPRESENTATIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND PARISH COUNCILS
Wokingham Town Council (WTC):
Generally supportive of this application and would recommend it’s approval by the
Borough Planning Committee. The scheme provides a mix of accommodation types,
well balanced with green space and good transportation infrastructure. Access to the
new SANG area to the North of the A329M via a foot bridge is seen as being a
particularly strong feature of this scheme.
WTC do make the following recommendations in terms of the final approved design:
1/ The three story apartment blocks are of a scale and mass inappropriate for a
development of this nature (Plots 29 – 27, 52 – 57, 58 – 66 & 206 – 214). [Officer Note:
The height parameters of the development were established when WBC approved the
outline planning permission. That said, the applicant has made further amendments to
the facades of the blocks in question by way of the introduction of mini gables where
appropriate. These additional design features, whilst small, act to reduce the perceived

183

bulk and massing of the development.]
2/ The park and ride area should only be used for transport into Wokingham Town
Centre and Wokingham Railway station should it be constructed. Additionally, if the site
is not used as a park & ride, the land should be used only to provide additional green
space or sports facilities for the community. [Officer Note: The land is safeguarded for a
park and ride facility only and for no other use. It will be for WBC if and when it brings
the facility forward where it will serve. If WBC do not bring the park and ride forward
before the end of the plan period, the safeguard falls away and the land remains with
the owner. This matter is not for consideration under the remit of this Reserved Matters
Planning application]
3/ WTC are concerned that the parking facilities for Flat Block C, Plots 29 – 37 & Flat
Block E, Plots 58 – 66 appear to show that access is provided directly onto the southern
section of Northern Distributer Road. It is our understanding that as part of the core
design concept for the NDR, no direct access from residential properties would be
permitted so as to minimise the potential of traffic congestion. Hence we would request
that parking access for this area is modified so as to adhere to this design principal.
[Officer Note: WBC Transport Officers have reviewed the scheme and raise no
objections to the arrangements in terms of highways function or safety].
4/ The drainage and impact study described in 160667 would appear to be well thought
out and detailed, we would however urge the borough planning committee to satisfy
itself that the high level scenario planning described in section 2.4 is adequate in terms
of the events described and provides sufficient mitigation for current forecasts of climate
change impact. [Officer Comment: WBC Drainage Officers have reviewed the submitted
details of drainage and are satisfied that sufficient measures have been provided to
ensure that the surface water run-off generated up to and including the 1 in 100 plus an
allowance for climate change critical storm will not exceed the run-off from the
undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall event.]
WTC will in time be taking over management and maintenance responsibilities for the
allotments. They are therefore please to note that all of the provisions/ requirements of
their Amenities Committee have been incorporated into the drawing set-up.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
No. of letters sent No. of objections
Circa 700
13

Support
0

Comments
3

The following OBJECTIONS have been received [Officer Comments in brackets]:




Materials proposed for plots facing existing houses (plots 174-179 and 180-183)
do not provide a high quality development. In terms of facing materials, the use
of white render will ‘stand out like a sore thumb’ compared to the facing brick and
will not have the same longevity. In terms of roof materials, the Forticrete Gemini
concrete interlocking is inferior in quality to traditional plain tiles and the red and
slate grey colours proposed are drab compared to a nice brown tile. – [It is
considered that the proposed materials are robust in quality and provide an
acceptable palette consistent with other development in the area and other
developments approved across the SDL. The various elevational finishes will
provide mixture in colour, texture and design that will act to provide variety and
contribute to a high quality neighbourhood.]
For safety reasons, the Binfield Road leading up to the roundabout will need to

184














be raised by 2 meters above the present level, presumably requiring the portion
of the existing road to be ramped accordingly. No detail of how this will be
accomplished is shown, particularly, how the existing trees and hedgerows on
either side of the road will be protected/retained – [The finished level of the
proposed Binfield Road roundabout is between 100-200mm above the existing
carriageway. As Binfield Road is on a raised embankment about 2 metres high
the extreme east and west of the roundabout is about 2 metres above the
existing site levels at those points. The application submissions include both
levels plans (showing existing and proposed levels) and landscaping details
(showing which existing vegetation is to be retained and where new planting is
proposed). Officers are satisfied with the details provided.]
No detail is shown about provisions being made to screen the new NDR when
viewed from the existing public open space on Binfield Road and Beanoak Farm
(Binfield Road). – [In this area, existing trees have been retained where possible
and further tree planting is proposed including three Oaks and a Wild Service
tree. Full details of this are included in the submissions made under application
161093 pursuant to condition 13 of the outline consent.]
Too many houses and not enough green spaces, leading to parking congestion
on the proposed Northern Distributor Road and in neighbouring streets, light
pollution & air pollution and additional pressure on local services and
infrastructure – [The number of dwellings on the site was approved at the time of
the determination of the outline planning permission; wherein the Environmental
Statement and application submissions demonstrated that, subject to the various
conditions and S106 obligations, the housing numbers could be delivered on this
site without unacceptable impact upon the environment, existing infrastructure
and the amenity of existing residents].
No on site play area / recreation space for younger children, that would otherwise
use the playpark in Carina Drive (currently utilised by 180 homes). The access
point from Keephatch Beech directly to the Carina Drive play area should be
removed to avoid over-crowding at busy times – [At the time of determination of
the Outline Planning application it was established that the development would
provide a play area for older children (as is included) and could rely on existing
play spaces in the area (including the facility at Carina Drive) to serve the needs
of families with younger children. In this context the S106 secured a specific
contribution towards either the enhancement of existing offsite facilities or the
provision of new ones. The strategy for play space provision was therefore
established under the outline consent and the Reserved Matters application now
presented follows those established parameters.]
No visibility of the survey's that have been carried out on the protected ancient
woodland that is impacted and a protection plan for the Keephatch Beech Nature
Reserve – [All surveys/documents required to support both the outline application
and this Reserved Matters application are public documents and available for
viewing on the Council’s website].
The two new access points in the Foundry Court development should be
removed to avoid on-the-road parking (e.g. for the pub) and these being used as
an un-necessary thoroughfare through the private estate which is currently
maintained financially by the residents. – [These have now been removed]
There should be the addition of several small retail units including a convenience
store with Post-Office plus Pharmacy – [There is no requirement under the
outline planning permission to provide such facilities].
The Park and Ride should be replaced by a community facility – [The land is
safeguarded under the original outline permission for a park and ride facility and

185















not for a community facility. There are therefore no plans or requirements on the
developer to provide a community facility here].
Impacts upon and insufficient existing Infrastructure to cope with the new
population, including GP’s surgeries – [Matters of infrastructure impact were
given full consideration under the determination of the outline planning
application, wherein a raft of contributions were secured in the S106 agreement
towards upgrading of existing services. Those matters do not fall to be
reconsidered under this current Reserved Matters application, which deals only
with matters of layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access].
Impacts on Wokingham’s road network and existing congestion in Wokingham
Town Centre – [Not relevant to the determination of this Reserved Matters
Planning Application]
The upgrading of the town centre is not apparent, the lack of decent shops is not
a reason to want to shop in Wokingham – [Not relevant to the determination of
this Reserved Matters Planning Application]
The green areas around Wokingham are being stripped away – [The principle of
the development on this site is already accepted under the outline planning
permission and does not fall for reconsideration under this Reserved Matters
application].
There is not enough industry in the area to be able to offer jobs to all these new
house residents – [Not relevant to the matters under consideration as part of this
Reserved Matters planning application]
There also isn't adequate pedestrian access to the SANG across the motorway –
[Pedestrian access across the motorway is being provided along Binfield Road]
Landscaping details submitted under application 161093 has a tree
(“Amelanchier Lamarc” which grow to approximately 15m at full maturity) that is
to be planted too close to 3 Columba Gardens such that the roots could impact
the foundations and it will ultimately block light into their en-suite. – [The
applicant has reviewed the landscaping details and removed the offending tree
from the proposals]
Plot 80 will stand 1.6m above 3 Columba Gardens and the first floor windows will
look down into their bedroom windows at the front of their property and the
ground floor windows will overlook their front garden. Further tree planting is
required in the rear garden of plot 80 to prevent this. – [The applicant has
acceded to the request and provided two additional trees to the rear of plot 80].
Loss of privacy to the rear of 3 Columba Gardens as a result of locating public
open space there rather than the privately owned open space as it is now. –
[Whilst the nature of the space to the rear of 3 Columba Gardens will
undoubtedly change with the development, significant tree planting is proposed
around the outside of the open space and along the boundary with 3 Columba
Gardens. This tree planting will provide a buffer between the useable areas of
the open space and the boundary and will therefore reduce the impact of the
development upon the privacy and security at the rear of 3 Columba Gardens.
This space was always identified for public open space under the parameter
plans secured under the outline planning permission]

The following COMMENTS have been made in respect to the application [Officer
Comments in brackets]:


There should be no night time working, no burning on the site and proper fencing
and height barriers should be erected to minimise construction impacts. There
should be restrictions on build/machinery in use on site after 5pm and at

186









weekends - [Condition 9 of the outline permission requires the submission of a
Construction Environmental Management Plan, whereas condition 10 restricts
the hours of construction activity. In policing these conditions WBC will ensure
that the impacts during construction are minimised as far as is practicable]
There was originally an undertaking that all construction traffic would access the
site via the new Distributor Road, as it is progressively built-out. This should be
adhered to. [The CEMP submitted pursuant to condition 9 of the outline consent
(not for consideration here but registered separately under application reference
160702) proposes that all construction traffic would access the development site
from London Road.]
The application should include a conservation plan for the wildlife on and around
the site – [Pursuant to conditions 18-22 of the outline consent, the application
includes sufficient measures to protect and enhance the ecological and biodiversity value of the site].
There should be commitment to plant screening and trees at the start of the build
and to be held accountable for a detailed planting plan which articulates exact
trees and plants – [Matters of landscaping, including a detailed planting plan and
an implementation timetable, will be agreed/secured under condition 13 of the
outline planning permission].
The pedestrian access along Binfield Road should be extended along Binfield
Road as far as Carina Drive (as a minimum) to provide reasonable access to the
SANG for residents of Norreys Ward. – [Whilst it is not possible to extend the
footpath along Binfield Road as far as Carina Drive without significant loss of
existing trees, pedestrian linkage is to be provided through the existing area of
Public Open Space / SANG which was created as part of the Bellway Homes
Carillons development. This is considered to provide an acceptable level of
connectivity.]

PETITIONS
Two petitions have been received in response to the application, as follows:
 The first was created on change.org and has, at the time of writing, 215
supporters. It was set up because “The plans are only available on line (and
there are hundreds of them). No provision has been made for these to be
available to be seen in public places like the library or the Town Hall (unlike those
for Peach Street developments). Similarly there are no public meetings planned
or more Developer evenings so the key people involved in the planning can talk
to the public.” – [Officer Comment: It is not WBC’s adopted practice to make
plans available in the library or Town Hall. The plans are available for viewing on
the Council’s website and at the Council’s offices during working hours. Since the
setting up of the petition, WBC has also organised two community forums; the
first on 10/03/2016 where the initial development proposals were presented and
the second on 18/05/2016 following receipt of the amendments].
 The second is a petition from the residents of Columba Drive who, following the
first consultation, objected to the 2 pedestrian accesses shown from the new
development – [Officer Comment: These accesses have now been removed from
the scheme].
PLANNING POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10,
CP11, CP13 CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7.

187

Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) adopted
February 2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10,
TB05, TB07, TB08, TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05.
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011.
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations
adopted October 2011.
Wokingham Borough Council Design Guide: Borough Guide Design SPD June 2012
Affordable Housing SPD adopted June 2011.
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD adopted 2010
The councils parking standards as set out within appendix 2 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014) and referred to in para. 4.38 of the
adopted Core Strategy.

PLANNING ISSUES
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY
1) The application site forms part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy as the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location
(SDL). Core Strategy Policy CP20 anticipated the phased delivery of 1,500
dwellings within the North Wokingham SDL. The Keephatch Beech site itself was
not allocated for residential development during the development plan period;
only for the Northern Distributor Road (NDR) delivery and the Park and Ride
facility.
2) Despite this, in March 2015 Wokingham Borough Council approved outline
planning permission for the development under application O/2014/2435. In
making that determination WBC gave careful consideration to the benefits of
bringing this site forward at this time weighed against the impacts of the
development to local residents, the highway network and the environment. These
benefits included: certainty over the timing and delivery of the NDR from London
Road to Kentwood Farm; provision on the site for the Park and Ride; installation
of noise mitigation along the A329(M); contributions for improved services and
infrastructure locally; and the provision of additional open space / SANG within
the local area (linking this to Amen Corner SANG to provide large amenity / park
area).
3) The outline consent included an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal
agreement. The legal agreement secures either specific delivery or contributions
towards delivery of the infrastructure identified as necessary to support this and
the wider SDL development. Amongst other matters, the S106 obligations
included the specific delivery of the NDR through the site, together with
contributions towards off-site infrastructure and services such as roads,
education, sports facilities, community facilities and green infrastructure. It also

188

secured affordable housing delivery on the site.
4) The approved outline consent (O/2014/2435) has established the principle of this
residential development as an urban extension that contributes towards the
progression of the SDL. The principle of the development on this site and the
alignment of the NDR are not for reconsideration under this Reserved Matters
planning application.
5) The current Reserved Matters application concerns matters of layout,
appearance, scale and landscaping only. Layout plans and a selection of street
scenes are included at appendix A.
SITE DESCRIPTION
6) The application site comprises 21.25 hectares and is situated 2km to the east of
Wokingham town centre, directly adjacent to the A329 (M). The site consists of
open fields, ditches, hedgerows and a mixture of trees of varying age and type.
The topography of the southern parcel falls from the A329(M) towards to the
southwest while the northern parcel is more flat.
7) The development site is bisected by Binfield Road, the eastern and northern
boundary is made up by A329(M), beyond which is open countryside. The
western boundary is formed by existing developments (Kentwood East) while the
southern boundary is formed by London Road. The existing residential
developments adjacent to the site comprise mostly two storey family housing.
8) Directly to the north of Binfield road there is an existing area of Public Open
Space / SANG area that was created as part of the Bellway Homes Carillons
development. Some of this area would be lost to facilitate the NDR delivery.
AFFORDABLE HOUSING
9) The affordable housing delivery requirements of the development were
established at the time of the outline planning permission. In accordance with the
provisions secured under the S106, the development will provide 75 (25%)
affordable houses on site (including Social Rented, Shared Ownership and
Intermediate/Affordable Rented Housing) and a financial contribution towards offsite provision or regeneration of Affordable Housing in lieu of the provision of a
further 10% of the dwellings as Affordable Housing on the Application Site.
DWELLING MIX AND STANDARD OF RESIDENTIAL ACCOMMODATION
10) MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential development should
provide an appropriate density and mix of accommodation reflecting the
character of the area. The quantum of development was approved under outline
permission. The mix of dwellings proposed is as follows:
Market
1 bed flat
2 bed flat (including 34
FOGs)
2 bed house
10

189

Affordable
13
19

Total
13
53

24

34

3 bed house
4 bed house
5 bed house
Totals

87
86
8
225

17
2
75 (25%)

104
88
8
300

11) The Borough Design Guide, the Affordable Housing SPD and Policy TB07 of the
MDDLP sets out internal space standards for new dwellings, setting standards
for both the gross internal area (GIA) and the minimum combined area of the
living, kitchen and dining spaces for houses. All of the dwellings exceed the
minimum size standards set out. In addition, pursuant to condition 49 of the
outline consent the dwellings will be constructed to achieve appropriate internal
ambient noise levels. It is therefore considered the development will provide
acceptable levels of amenity for future occupants.
12) The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. The proposed
layout complies with these requirements with all houses meeting or exceeding
the minimum threshold. In addition, permitted development rights of the
properties have been removed by condition 7 of the outline permission so as to
restrict unacceptable encroachment into these important garden spaces.
13) It is therefore considered that the development will provide a good mix, balance
and quality of dwelling types, tenures and sizes so that a wide range of housing
needs can be met. This will ensure that the development is sustainable in
meeting the housing needs of the community. The development therefore
accords with the relevant policies of the development plan in this regard.
DETAILED DESIGN
14) Core Strategy Policies CP1 (Sustainable Development) and CP3 (General
Principles for Development) requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03 (Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping) and TB21 (Landscape Character) and the North
Wokingham SDL SPD.
Layout and Scale
15) The site has been broken down into 4 constituent parts for the purposes of the
submission. The Southern and Central sections are located between London
Road and Binfield Road; are bounded to the west by existing residential
development; and include the majority of the housing, the public house and the
land safeguarded for the park and ride facility. The Northern Site is located
between Binfield Road and the Kentwood Farm Development site and includes
the allotments, a smaller parcel of housing and Pebblestone Copse (Ancient
Woodland). Finally, the SANG is located on a separate site to the other side of
the A329(M); accessed directly from Binfield Road.
16) The proposed layout and scale, in terms of road layout and general position of
buildings, follows the indicative masterplan plan approved through the outline
permission. The total number of dwellings remains the same. The dwellings
provided along the western boundary of the site (i.e. adjacent to the existing
residential areas) are all two storey in height; whilst taller buildings up to three
storeys in height would be provided along the route of the NDR. The parameter

190

plans submitted for the outline planning application and Design and Access
Statement carefully considered the relationship with the existing built form
surrounding the site and were thus secured through the decision notice issued at
that time. The masterplan now submitted retains these principles, responding
positively and appropriately to the constraints of the site.
17) The layouts of the Southern, Central and Northern sections of the development
are premised around the delivery of the NDR as a central spine through the site,
with secondary streets and courtyards radiating off. The NDR, referred to in the
submissions as ‘the Boulevard’, will be a tree lined route with grass verges and
segregated pedestrian/cycle ways - in accordance with WBC’s design aspirations
for this important piece of infrastructure and with the design specifications being
achieved for the NDR on other sites. The actual alignment of the NDR was fixed
on determination of planning permission O/2014/2435; wherein the NDR was
granted full planning permission.
18) The accommodation either side of the Boulevard is generally 2.5 to 3 storeys in
height. A feature along the Boulevard is the provision of small groups of up to five
houses and a flat over a driveway serving a parking courtyard. The courtyards
are large enough to allow vehicle turning so cars do not have to reverse onto or
off of the NDR; whilst the groupings are sufficiently large enough to provide a
sense of community/ownership over the spaces. They also meet the WBC
Design Guidelines which suggest parking courts should not serve more than 6
dwellings.
19) The secondary roads radiating off of the NDR provide access for 2 storey
detached, semi-detached and terraced housing. On the southern section of the
site along the western boundary, properties have been positioned and orientated
to provide back to back garden relationships with existing residential properties;
except in relation to plot 10 which presents its flank to the adjacent property at
398 London Road in order to provide important address to London Road. On the
central and northern sections of the site the new access roads and public
landscaping has been provided along the western boundaries to provide physical
separation from the existing dwellings to the west.
20) The layout includes large areas of open space as per the arrangements secured
under the S106 of the outline planning permission. Boundary hedgerows and
trees are retained wherever possible for their aesthetic and ecological value and
extensive tree and vegetation planting is proposed to supplement the quality of
the landscaped spaces. The spaces look to retain existing trees and vegetation
where possible, often as focal points in landscape spaces. In accordance with
the S106 these spaces will be provided by the developer, maintained by them for
a period of 1 year and then transferred across to WBC for management and
maintenance thereafter. These spaces play an important role in softening the
built environment and reducing the outward impact.
21) The development provides a play area for older children in the form of a bike
track. The route runs through existing trees on site and includes a range of
features selected from a Mountain Bike Trail Architrail booklet. At the time of
determination of the Outline Planning application it was established that the
development would provide a play area for older children (as is included) and
could rely on existing play spaces in the area to serve the needs of families with

191

younger children. The bike trail has been designed in consultation with WBC’s
open space officer pursuant to the requirements for delivery set out in the S106
of the outline consent. WBC will in time become responsible for the management
and maintenance of the facility.
22) The layout works with the contours of the land and accommodates the drainage
requirements of the site. Of particular importance the layout accommodates the
noise attenuation bund required along the north eastern boundary to mitigate the
noise from the A329(M) – required under condition 51 of the outline planning
permission as a prerequisite of the development. Plots in close proximity the
noise bund/barrier have been successfully orientated in a manner to reduce the
potentially overbearing impact of the structures.
23) In addition, the layout safeguards the existing public rights of way across the site.
WBC’s PROW Officer has requested that the opportunity to realign the public
right of way across the southern section of the site inside of the noise barrier be
explored further. This is entirely possible with the proposed layout and will be
within WBC’s control to implement when it takes transfer of the public open
spaces of the site.
24) The layout also suitably safeguards the land and access to the future Park and
Ride site; as is required under the S106 agreement of the outline permission.
25) It should be noted that the Access and Movement Parameter Plan approved
under the outline planning permission did include two further pedestrian
accesses into Columba Gardens. Those were shown in the initial Reserved
Matters submissions but have subsequently been removed in response to a
petition received from the residents of Columba Gardens. The removal at this
Reserved Matters stage does not substantially alter the outline consent or dilute
the design quality of the development to a degree that would warrant refusing the
application. Such linkages can still be made from the existing public right of way
and a proposed new pedestrian access between existing/proposed open spaces
to the south and north of Columba Gardens respectively. The removal of the
pedestrian accesses into Columba Gardens also allowed for minor changes to
the alignment of the secondary road in this area and the orientation of plot 179 to
provide a better neighbourly relationship with the closest property in Columba
Gardens – again in response to a comment received following consultation on
the initially submitted drawings.
Appearance
26) The design style of the dwellings generally takes on a modern traditional
character. Throughout the site, a high quality range of housing types and styles is
provided, creating a development with a distinctive urban form influenced by the
character of existing Wokingham neighbourhoods. The palette of materials has
taken reference from the local vernacular and comprises a mix of brick (Red,
Red/Brown and Dark Red), tile hanging and white render facing materials, with
red or grey roof tiles. Along the NDR the scheme includes brick bandings to the
lower floors of the buildings to provide a continuity of design along this important
boulevard.
27) The range of housing types and styles ensures that there is diversity in the built

192

form and a range of housing for future occupants. The diversity in terms of the
style of the dwellings is achieved through the detailing such as heights, design
and roof form. This helps to provide a clear and legible neighbourhood.
28) The pub/restaurant is not overtly commercial in appearance, utilising a similar
design language to that used across the development. As a result it is considered
that it will sit comfortably adjacent to the residential buildings on this importance
entrance into the site from London Road.
Landscaping
29) The applicant has carefully considered the landscaping within the site
masterplan. Where ever possible, existing trees and hedgerows are to be
retained as integral features of the development and extensive additional tree
planting is proposed. In accordance with condition 22 of the outline permission, a
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan has been submitted with the
application. A hedgerow mitigation strategy has also been submitted in
accordance with condition 20.
30) An extensive area of the application site is to be landscaped as public open
space in accordance with the parameters secured under the outline consent.
These measures, together with the proposed boundary treatments, will act to
soften the built environment and would reduce and mitigate the impact of the
development upon the landscape. The landscaping provisions add significant
quality to the residential environment.
31) Under condition 13 of the outline consent, full details of landscaping need to be
submitted to and approved by the LPA prior to the commencement of
development. Those details have been submitted under cover of application
161093; together with details of boundary treatments and tree protection
pursuant to conditions 12 and 15 respectively. The details include proposed
finished levels, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and
pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials, details of the
bike track, a planting plan, specification (including cultivation and other
operations associated with plant and grass establishment), and a schedule of
planting (noting species, planting sizes and proposed. This Reserved Matters
application therefore presents an overarching approach to the landscaping of the
site, with detailed matters to be considered and secured under application
161093. Since initial submission, further discussions have been had with the
applicant who has responded positively to all comments made by WBC’s
landscape officer in terms of species etc. Officers are therefore confident that the
details of landscaping included in this Reserved Matters application are sufficient
to facilitate delivery of a high quality scheme through application 161093.
32) The open space within the development, including the dry attenuation basins, will
be delivered and maintained for a year by the developer before being transferred
to Wokingham Borough Council for management and maintenance thereafter.
This arrangement is set out within the S106 agreement of the outline planning
permission.
The SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace)

193

33) The SANG is required under Core Strategy Policies CP7 and CP8 to mitigate the
impacts of the development upon the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area (SPA); together with a Strategic Access Managing and Monitoring (SAMM)
contribution which was secured under the S106 of the outline permission. The
location and size of the proposed SANG was accepted under the outline
application; subject to the WBC’s agreement on the detailed layout and
landscaping as is now presented for consideration.
34) The layout of the SANG has been amended since initial submission. The
proposed footpath and surface treatment now proposed are now better designed
to meet the practicalities of short term management and to meet Natural
England’s requirement for a 2.3km walk. The up-dated masterplan also now
includes a perimeter fence which will ensure visitors feel safe to allow dogs to
exercise off their leads. A pedestrian access point and link to the Amen Corner
SANG are also marked on the plan so that the facilities may link in the future.
35) For the car park, the drawings show a security gate without a height barrier. A
height barrier is necessary to restrict taller vehicles accessing the site to fly tip.
This matter can be dealt with by the recommended planning condition.
Furthermore, notice boards will be required for the SANGS; full details of which
will also need to be secured by condition.
36) Both WBC’s SANG Officer and Natural England have reviewed the submissions
and, subject to securing the alternative security gate, are satisfied with the detail
of layout and landscaping proposed for the SANG. The SANG needs to be
completed in advance of the occupation of any of the dwellings. Following
completion the SANG will be transferred to WBC who will then be responsible for
managing and maintaining the facility thereafter – such arrangements as are
secured in the S106 agreement of the outline consent.
NEIGHBOURING RESIDENTIAL AMENITY
37) Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land
users. Separation standards for new residential development are set out in
section 4.7 of the Borough Design Guide.
Use
38) The development would not be introducing of a use or uses inappropriate to this
location. The proposed uses (residential, public house and park and ride) have
already been established as acceptable in the locations shown under the
determination of the outline planning permission.
Outlook, Daylight, Sunlight and Privacy
39) It was established at the outline application stage that the development, subject
to the land use distribution and height parameters approved at that time and
brought forward here, would not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity
of occupiers of neighbouring residential properties.
40) All dwellings on the site are sufficiently distant from all neighbouring properties

194

and have been designed such that they would not introduce unacceptable
relationships of overlooking and loss of outlook, daylight, sunlight or privacy.
Separation distances to existing dwellings to the west of site, where the new
development would be closest to existing properties, would all achieve rear to
rear/flank to rear separations in excess of the standards set by WBC’s Borough
Design Guide.
Impacts During Construction
41) Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the construction period can be
managed and minimised as far as is reasonable through good practice and
through the existing conditions and S106 obligations attached to the outline
planning permission. In particular condition 9 of the outline permission requires
the submission (for the Council’s approval) of a Construction Environmental
Management Plan, whereas condition 10 restricts the hours of construction
activity. These matters do not fall for consideration under this Reserved Matters
planning application.
Amenity Conclusions
42) For the reasons set out above, in terms of its impact upon neighbouring
residential amenity the development need not fail against the relevant policies of
the Development Plan; namely Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and policy
CC06 of the MDD.
ECOLOGY AND BIODIVERSITY
43) Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise.
44) The application is accompanied by an Ecological Monitoring Report to satisfy the
requirements of conditions 18 (Bat Mitigation Strategy), 19 (Ancient Woodland
Mitigation and Compensation Strategy), 20 (Hedgerow Mitigation and
Compensation Strategy) and 21 (Veteran Tree and Near-Veteran Tree Mitigation
Strategy). The Reserved Matters development broadly follows the principles
established under the indicative plans of the outline consent and Wokingham’s
Biodiversity Officer has assessed the application and is satisfied that subject to
the implementation of the various strategies there would be no significant impact
upon ecology.
TRANSPORT AND HIGHWAYS
45) The planning application established at the outline stage the principles of the
access points to the site and was accompanied with a full Transport Assessment.
It was demonstrated at that time that there would be no significant harm caused
by additional houses to both local and the wider transport networks, subject to
the delivery of the Transport Interventions that were identified and secured
through a legal process. The current reserved matters application does not
deviate from the established access points approved under the outline planning
application.

195

46) The layout of the development site was agreed in principle at the outline stage.
The NDR is designed to be a route through the new residential areas, operating
a 30mph speed limit. The NDR will take the majority weight of the new traffic in
addition to existing development traffic. The NDR will provide an attractive tree
lined route with segregated pedestrian and cycle routes; as per the aspirations
set out in WBC’s Executive report. The cross section of the NDR will provide for
two landscaped verges either side of the road separating the road from the
pedestrian/cycle paths. The segregated pedestrian and cycle ways will improve
pedestrian and cyclist safety and encourage and promote usage of those routes;
thus seeking to reduce dependence upon car in favour of more sustainable
modes of transport and also integrating the new developments better with the
existing residential areas through permeable and navigable neighbourhoods with
good linkages. Cyclist priority will be provided at minor junctions to encourage
cycling.
47) The Reserved Matters application is supported by a number of documents,
including vehicle tracking, visibility splays and details of servicing which
demonstrate the safety and functionality of the highways provisions. At the time
of writing, in response to discussions had with WBC’s Highways Officer further
minor amendments to the scheme are being prepared including:
 Repositioning of the bus stops along the NDR;
 A reduction in the footpath along Binfield Road and the provision of
pedestrian links into the existing open space on Binfield Road;
 Closing off the eastern access between plots 45 and 116 to vehicular
traffic and re-positioning the NDR pedestrian island in the vicinity of the
public right of way;
 Details of gates on the pumping station access from London Road; and
 Submission of an adoption plan.
48) Subject to the receipt of the above mentioned amendments/information, no
objection is raised to the layout of the development in as far as that relates to the
function and safety of the highways network. Officers will up-date Members by
way of addendum.
49) Under condition 34, full detailed design and a delivery schedule for the A329
London Road/NDR junction works, Binfield Road/ NDR junction works and the
SANG traffic calming works are required in advance of any development. The
layout of the junctions are shown on the submitted drawings and are sufficient for
the purposes of this Reserved Matters planning application. Full detailed design
will follow.
Car parking
50) In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP
Policy CC07: Parking, condition 27 requires reserved matters to incorporate car
and motorcycle parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards
require allocated parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking. The
application submissions demonstrate that parking will be provided in accordance
with the WBC parking demand calculator and that the amount of parking is
proportionate to the size of dwelling that it is intended to serve. The majority of
parking is provided either on plot or within courtyards located in relation to the

196

dwelling it is intended to serve. The parking spaces are protected against
alternative uses by condition 29 of the outline consent. The level of parking
provided should therefore limit demand for on street parking across the
development.
51) The front of house floorspace for the pub is 257sqm, which would require 51
spaces in accordance with WBC’s current standards for such uses. 49 spaces
are shown. Notwithstanding, the parking requirement has been planned in
conjunction with the likely operator of the pub and they have confirmed it meets
their requirements. The layout plans show provision for MTW parking (within the
car park) and cycle parking (to the front of the pub).
52) In accordance with condition 28, a parking management strategy is required in
advance of first occupation of the development. Through that condition the LPA
will be able to ensure that the development makes suitable provision for visitor
parking whilst appropriately discouraging indiscriminate parking practices.
Cycle storage
53) Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6 expect development to make provision to
support sustainable travel. Condition 26 of the outline planning consent requires
the provision of cycle storage in line with the Council’s standards; as currently set
out in MDDLP Appendix 2. The requirement is for provision of at least one cycle
space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable rooms, two spaces for dwellings
with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle spaces for larger dwellings. It is
proposed that cycle parking is provided on site both within garages and sheds.
All dwellings have been provided with sufficient space for cycle storage / parking
in accordance with the above requirements.
Sustainable Travel
54) Bus stops are to be included along the route of the NDR; positioned to facilitate
both local and more strategic services. With the bus services, improved
pedestrian and cycle connectivity and the delivery of the Council’s My Journey
Travel Planning initiative, there would be good sustainable alternative modes of
transport available to the new residents other than the private car.
FLOODING AND DRAINAGE
55) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk
(from all sources) by managing surface water in a sustainable manner.
56) Surface water run-off will be managed using a Sustainable Drainage System
(SuDS) including attenuation in cellular storage crates, swales, pipelines and
attenuation basins, before being discharged at the greenfield run-off rate to the
watercourses along the boundaries of the site. Sufficient evidence, including
micro drainage calculations, have been provided and demonstrate that the
surface water run-off generated up to and including the 1 in 100 year storm event
(plus an allowance for climate change) will be accommodated on site so that it
will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding
rainfall event. The development therefore will not exacerbate flood risk over its

197

lifetime. WBCs Flood Risk and Drainage Advisor has reviewed the drainage
strategy for the site and is satisfied with the details. The drainage strategy, whilst
submitted to support the Reserved Matters Application, will in due course need to
be formally agreed under separate application 160667.
LAND CONTAMINATION
57) The site is agricultural in use and low risk in terms of land contamination. Matters
of contamination will be considered and mitigated pursuant to the requirements
of conditions 23 and 24 of the outline permission and do not need further
consideration under this Reserved Matters Planning Application.
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION
58) Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. MDD LP policies CC04,
CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (May 2010) also emphasise this.
59) The development has been designed to meet the requirements of condition 43 of
the outline permission. The submitted Sustainability and Energy Statement
evidences that the dwellings have been designed to meet Code for sustainable
Homes Level 3 and that the Public House has been designed to BREEAM
'Excellent' certification.
60) In terms of the energy strategy proposed, the philosophy used in the design of
the development follows the energy hierarchy; Be Lean, Be Clean and Be Green.
It is proposed to enhance the fabric standards of the homes and to install a fluegas heat recovery system into each home – resulting in a 5.54% reduction
against current building regulations. In addition, it is proposed to install a total of
32, 327W photovoltaic panels to the site – resulting in a further 10.1% reduction.
These provisions will satisfy the requirements of condition 44 of the outline
consent. A condition is recommended on the Reserved Matters consent so as to
ensure that the PV panels are installed without detriment to the aesthetics of the
development.
HERITAGE ASSETS
61) Policy TB24 of the MDD sets out that the Borough Council will conserve and
seek the enhancement of designated heritage assets in the Borough and their
settings. There are no designated or undesignated heritage assets within the
site. Furthermore, it was established at the outline application stage that the
development, subject to the land use distribution and height parameters
approved at that time and brought forward here, would not have a detrimental
impact upon the special interest or setting of any neighbouring Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas. There is nothing within the current plans that would
alter that conclusion.
62) Conditions 48 and 61 of the outline planning permission dealt with matters of
Archaeology. Pursuant to those conditions, WBC have already agreed a
programme of archaeological work for the site.

198

CONDITION DISCHARGES
63) In addition to the Reserved Matters, the application also seeks written consent in
respect to a number of the conditions imposed against the original outline
planning permission. Under the Council’s delegated powers, such applications to
discharge conditions are not normally referred to the Council’s Planning
Committee for a decision. However, a number of the submissions provided
pursuant to the conditions are either required with the Reserved Matters
application and/or help to inform, or are intrinsic to, this officer recommendation
for the Reserved Matters.
64) Submissions have been made in respect to conditions: 3 (phasing strategy), 5
(materials), 6 (levels), 17 (earth mounding), 18 (bats), 19 (ancient woodland), 20
(hedgerows), 21 (veteran trees), 22 (Landscape and Ecological Management
Plan), 25 (air quality), 31 (cycle parking), 32 (vehicle tracking), 43 (Code for
Sustainable Homes), 44 (energy strategy), 45 (water consumption), 46 (water
butts/composting), 47 (refuse storage), 51 (noise bund), 57 (affordable housing),
58 (open spaces and SANG), 59 (SANG access) and 62 (allotments).
65) Appendix B includes details of the conditions, the information submitted, the
relevant consultation responses against the submitted information, and an Officer
summary of the position.

CONCLUSION
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission. This is a sustainable development that offers
substantial public benefit in meeting the housing needs of the community and delivering
on Wokingham’s development aspirations for the North Wokingham SDL. The
application will deliver high quality development in accordance with the Council’ spatial
strategy and there are no other material planning considerations of significant weight
that would dictate that the application should nevertheless be refused. Officers are
therefore recommending the application for approval, subject to the conditions listed.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management

APPENDICES:
A. APPLICATION DRAWINGS
B. CONDITIONS SUBMISSIONS/DISCHARGE

199

This page is intentionally left blank

201

This page is intentionally left blank

203

This page is intentionally left blank

205

This page is intentionally left blank

207

This page is intentionally left blank

NOTES:
Based upon the Ordnance Survey map with permission of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery
Aspect Landscape Planning Ltd, West Court, Hardwick Business Park, Noral Way, Banbury OX16 2AF.
Licence 100045345
Copyright reserved

0m

10m

40m

20m

KEY:
SANG Site Boundary

5244 / ASPD011 Detail 01
Timber Post and rail fence with pig netting

5244 / ASPD011 Detail 05
DRB PS1barrier controlling
access to the car park

Existing Trees
Existing Vegetation Structure

5244 / ASPD011 Detail 02
Tarmac surfaced car park

Informal Mown Grass Pathways

Proposed pedestrian route / link to
SANG from development.
Proposed asphalt finish car park
area.

Drain

Drain

Proposed Hoggin Footpath 2m wide,
with dust binder to stabilise surface and
timber edging. Colour: Buff

Proposed vehicular access point in
accordance with Odyssey Markides
details.

Proposed timber 3 bar fence 1200mm
high with wire mesh pig netting.
Proposed Vmex Secuirty fence
1800mm high, green finish.

5244 / ASPD011 Detail 05
Kissing gate controlling
access from car park

5244 / ASPD011 05
Kissing gate location

Dra
in

Proposed area for 'Pond Scrape' in accordance
with Ethos Specification.
5244 / ASPD011 Detail 03
Natural Hoggin Footpath

Proposed pedestrian access point
subject to levels information and in
accordance with Odyssey Markides
details.

Proposed Metal litter bin
Broxap: Derby E Slimline Litter Bin
BX45 2596-E-90

Proposed area for 'Pond Scrape' in accordance
with Ethos Specification. Silo

209

Pedestrian link provided to
development to include new footway
adjacent to road in accordance with
Odyssey Markides details.

Proposed Vmex perimeter mesh fence, green finish
1800mm high around SANG boundary (as agreed
with owners of neighbouring farm to north) installed to
manufacturers specification.
A

Proposed Timber Bench Seat
Hatton Rustic 4 Slat Seat BX17 4055

32

9(

M

)

Co

R

t&

C

Co
ns

Proposed pedestrian Kissing Gate
Centrewire:
Oxford - Medium Mobility Gate

W

ar

d

Bd
y

Mown Grass Footpath
Dra

in

Proposed perimeter timber fence with
wire mesh / pig netting around SANG
boundary to replace existing fence and to
ensure dogs can not acces main road.
A

32

9(

Proposed Vehicle Entrance Gate
DBS PSI barrier two lane access and
security gate with 150x150mm mesh
attached onto the gate.
Colour: Dark Green

Proposed area for 'Pond Scrape'
in accordance with Ethos Specification.

M
)

5244 / ASPD011 Detail 05
Potential location
for a Kissing gate

5244 / ASP3

(detail reference no.)

Hoggin path

(description of detail)

Refer to drawing 5244/ASPD011 for hard works details and
drawing 5244/ASPD012 for detailed planting information
associated with the SANG.

B
01.04.16 Updated to LPA officer comments & feedback.
A
26.11.15
Finalised for submission
REV
DATE
NOTE

CW
CJ
CW
CJ
Drawn Chk'd

REVISIONS

TITLE
AD

S

Keephatch Beech, North Wokingham
SANG Detailed Hard Works Plan

NF

IE

LD

RO

S

BI

Co
S

Co

ns

S

S
S

t&

S

S

CR

CLIENT

W

ard

Keephatch Beech Consortium

Bd

y

SCALE

1:1000 @ A1
DK
DK

PC

DK

DK

ROAD 1

DK

DRAWN

JAN 2015 JM

DRAWING NUMBER

5244/ ASPD010/ SANG/ HWP

CHK'D

AM

REVISION

B

1

in

4

PC

DATE

DK

DK

Based on McBains Cooper Architects drawing no. 56379-SK14

This page is intentionally left blank

211

This page is intentionally left blank

213

This page is intentionally left blank

215

This page is intentionally left blank

217

This page is intentionally left blank

219

This page is intentionally left blank

221

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 30.
Development
Management
Ref No
160765
Applicant
Location
Proposal

Type
PS Category
Officer

No weeks on
day of
committee
Ext

Parish

Ward

Listed By

Wokingham

Emmbrook /
Norreys

Major

Bovis Homes Thames Valley Region (C/O Savills)
Land at Matthewsgreen Farm, Matthewsgreen Road, Wokingham
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline planning consent
O/2014/2242 for Phase 2a development involving the erection of 82 residential
dwellings, associated amenity space, access, garaging and parking, internal
roads, pathways, drainage and associated landscaping and provision of a
section of the streamside recreational park. Access, appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale to be considered.
Reserved Matters for major application
1
Sophie Morris

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20th July 2016
Delivery Programme Director

SUMMARY
1) The application is a reserved matters application by Bovis Homes/Thames Valley
Housing comprising 82 units which represents the second phase (2a) of development at
the Matthewsgreen development site. The application site is located around 2km to the
north west of Wokingham on land to the north of Matthewsgreen Road, west of Twyford
Road and east of Toutley Road. The site was allocated for development comprising 810
units, primary school and neighbourhood centre within the Council’s adopted Core
Strategy and Supplementary Planning Documents. It forms the main development site
within the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location, as identified within the
Core Strategy.
2) Outline planning approval was given for the phased development of up to 760 dwellings,
including 60 units of assisted living homes / older person accommodation, a local centre
(including retail), a primary school, community facilities and associated works and areas
of open space and drainage / attenuation in March 2015 (application ref: O/2014/2242).
As part of this approval, accesses from Twyford Road, Matthewsgreen Road and
Toutley Road were approved.
3) The site topography varies with the majority of the site sloping to the north, away from
Matthewsgreen Road towards the Ashridge watercourse. The Northern Distributor Road,
a key section of which will be provided by this development, dissects the site and will run
to the south of the phase 2a site. The NDR will form the access for traffic from this parcel
when constructed. Work on this section of the NDR has commenced following the
approval of the Reserved Matters application.
4) A Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) / open space will be provided on
land to the northwest of the Matthewsgreen development. Works for laying out of the
SANG / open space and improvements to the links from the development site to the
SANG comprising improved footpaths and bridges within the Emmbrook Vale park and
two new pedestrian crossings along Old Forest Road and Toutley Road have
commenced.
5) This application is the reserved matters associated with the Phase 2a scheme and
comprises details of appearance, landscaping and scale which are to be considered.
Conditions applications have also been submitted in parallel to the reserved matters

223

which will determine the details of the scheme.
6) It is considered that following amendments to the scheme, notably a revised design of
the two apartment blocks and reduction in their overall bulk, along with changes to some
elevations, and increased landscaping, the submitted proposals are acceptable and
accord with the parameters set out under the outline consent and the Council’s adopted
policies and guidance in terms of its scale, design and appearance and provides
appropriate levels of parking and amenity for future occupiers of the development. For
these reasons, the scheme is recommended for approval.

PLANNING STATUS
 Within North Wokingham Strategic Development Area
 7KM Thames Basin Heath SPA
 Archaeological Interest
 Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3 (mainly 1)
 Minerals Consultation Zone
 Contaminated Land Zone
 Ground Water Protection Zone
 Landfill Gas Protection Zone
 Minerals Consultation Zone

RECOMMENDATION
APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to the following conditions:
1. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions imposed by
planning permission O/2014/2242, which conditions shall remain in full force and effect
save in so far as they are expressly affected or varied by this permission.
2. Approved plans – details to be submitted as part of members update (awaiting revised /
updated plans)
3. Before the residential development is commenced (excluding access and ground works),
samples and details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external
surfaces of the buildings and footways / highways/ hard surfacing shall have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and Wokingham District Local Plan
policy WBE4.
4. The land within the visibility splays shall be cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6
metres in height and maintained clear of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height
at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant Policy: Core
Strategy policy CP6.
5. Prior to commencement of development, details of the proposed Twyford Road drainage
pond maintenance access including swept path tracking shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The access arrangements must be
constructed in accordance with the approved details and retained free from any
obstruction to use thereafter.

224

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and highway drainage in accordance with
NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and CP20 and the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC09 and CC10 and the North
Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (2011).
6. Prior to commencement of development a highways adoption plan, to include all service
and maintenance margins, turning heads and access to the Twyford Road drainage
pond shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the estate is constructed to a standard that would be suitable for
adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a functional,
accessible and safe development in accordance with Wokingham Core Strategy Policies
CP1, CP6, and CC07 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
7. Prior to the commencement of development of plots 27 to 43, details shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Council which demonstrate satisfactory mitigation
measures to alleviate the risk of flooding to the road at the north end of the site. The
submitted details shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council what impact (if any)
the proposed measures would have upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)
approved under the Outline consent O/2014/2242 (Compiled by Stuart Michaels
Associates ref: 4676/FRA&DS Issue Status 01). Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure no development will be located within the 1 in 100 year plus 20%
allowance for climate change flood extent to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed
development and future occupants. Relevant policies: NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core
Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and CP20 and the Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan Policy CC09 and CC10 and the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location
Supplementary Planning Document (2011).

Informatives
1. You are advised, in compliance with The Town & Country Planning (General Development
Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2000, that the following policies and/or proposals in
the development plan are relevant to this decision:
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10, CP11, CP13
CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7.
Managing Development Delivery Development Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) February
2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10, TB05, TB07, TB08,
TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05.
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011.
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations adopted
October 2011.
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD adopted 2010.
Wokingham Borough Council Design Guide: Borough Guide Design SPD June 2012.
Affordable Housing SPD adopted June 2011.
Supplementary Planning Documents:
Wokingham Borough Council Borough Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (June
2012)

225

Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New Development
(Revised 28th April 2010)
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May 2010)
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011)
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document ( 2 June 2011)
National Planning Policy:
National Planning Policy Framework (27 March 2012)
Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk - Practice Guide (7 December
2009)
2. The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers within the
borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This should include:




Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;
Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;
Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.

3. The applicant is informed that parking will need to be restricted along the main routes
(Northern Distributor Road and bus route) and on turning heads.
4. The applicant is informed that some of the visibility splays cut across residential properties
which will be outside of the highway authority’s control. As such, future occupiers of the affected
units needs to be made aware that the visibility spays will need to be maintained.
5. All the new dwellings should be built to ‘Secured by Design’ part 2 accreditation in the
interests of the safety, crime prevention and amenity of future occupiers of the development.
National sustained research proves that Secured by Design housing developments suffer at
least 50% less burglary, 25% less vehicle crime and 25% less criminal damage.
6. Work on Highway
The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham should be
contacted for the approval of the access construction details before any work is carried out
within the highway. This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an
access.
7. Mud on Road
Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the deposit of
mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information contact Corporate Head
of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302.
8. Highway Adoption
If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to adopt the
proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense, then full engineering
details must be agreed with the Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute
End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to commence development until such
details have been approved in writing and a legal agreement is made with the Council under
S38 of the Highways Act 1980.
9. Highway Management
Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer, whether they are
located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined under Section 87 of
the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public highway, shall be
coordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the
Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order to secure the expeditious

226

movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the highway network in Wokingham.
10. Utilities
Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those involving the
connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in liaison with Wokingham
Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189 746302). This must take place at least
three month in advance of the works and particularly to ensure that statutory undertaker
connections/supplies to the site are coordinated to take place wherever possible at the same
time.
11. Noise
The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control of
Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition sites.
Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made to the
Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.
12. Employment and Skills plan should be provided in accordance with the Council’s guidance.
The applicant is advised to contact Angela Torr, Economic Sustainability Team, WBC.
13. Notwithstanding the submitted plans showing indicative materials and landscaping, these
details will be required to be dealt as submissions under conditions 3 above (material samples)
and condition 14 pursuant to the Outline application (detailed landscaping).

PLANNING HISTORY
O/2014/2242: Outline application (access to be considered) for a phased development of
approximately up to 760 dwellings including 60 units of assisted living homes / older person
accommodation a local centre (including retail) a primary school community facilities and
associated areas of open space and drainage/ attenuation parking etc. Accesses from Twyford
Road, Matthewsgreen Road and Toutley Road. Development would also incorporate the
demolition of outdoor storage buildings in employment use and 2 x dwellings (Matters reserved
– layout, landscaping, scale, appearance) (Approved March 2015).
150093: Reserved matters for Phase 1 (100 units) approved Oct 2015
152649: NDR application – approved 17/03/2016
150036: Application to discharge conditions pursuant to outline approval (application reference
O/2014/2242 - 2/4/2015) for sub phase 1 of Matthewsgreen relating to Condition 3 (Subphasing Strategy), Condition 6 (Levels), Condition 12 (Design Statement), Condition 14
(Detailed Landscaping), Conditions 27 and 28 (Parking) and Condition 44 (Sustainable
Development) (Under consideration).
F/2014/1216: Proposed change of use of land from agricultural to form Green Infrastructure
incorporating informal Open Space with walkways and bridges across the Emmbrook.
Pedestrian access to be formed from Old Forest Road (Approved 04/09/14).
152579: Application to discharge conditions pursuant to O/2014/2242 for sub-phase 1 relating
to conditions 13. Boundary Treatments; 16. Protection of existing trees; 18.Earth Mounding and
contouring; 25.Contamination; 31. Construction details; 32. Vehicle turning; 34.Detailed junction
designs; 37.Flood risk assessment; 38&39. Surface water drainage system; 40&41.Existing
sewerage system improvements & impact studies; 51.Noise; 59. Affordable Housing –
conditions 25, 32, 51, 59 partially discharged
152642: Application to discharge conditions pursuant to O/2014/2242 for sub-phase 1 relating

227

to conditions: 5. Materials; 9.CEMP; 33. Construction Accesses; 64. Construction phasing
(NDR) – conditions 9&33 discharged 10/12/15; condition 5 discharged 29/02/16; condition 64
Of relevance;
O/2013/2295: Outline Application for the development of up to 225 dwellings and associated
works at Kentwood Farm West (Phase 2 of the North Wokingham Strategic Development
Location) (all matters reserved) (Approved 27/10/14).
O/2011/0699: Hybrid application, Phase 1 of the North Wokingham Strategic Development
Location.
A) OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR:
The development of 274 dwellings, garages, driveways, car ports (total 557 parking spaces),
internal roads, pathways, sub-stations, gas governor, the construction of a new access from
Keephatch road and two new access points from Warren House road with associated amenity
space, incorporating allotments (Matters for approval: Access and Layout).
B) FULLPLANNING PERMISSION FOR:
1) The laying out of an area of Public Open Space (informal) and a Suitable Alternative Natural
Greenspace (SANG) on land west of Warren House Road (to serve the proposal phase 1 and
future development at Kentwood Farm), including a car park (6 spaces), pathways, associated
landscaping and pathway features.
2) The construction of a 3.5 metre high landform (noise bund) and 2.5 metre fence for a
distance of 405 metres on the west side of Warren House Road and 635 metres on the East
side of Warren House Road, parallel with the A329(M).
3) The erection of a sewage pumping station with interim access from the present access from
Warren House Road.
This application was granted consent at appeal (ref: APP/X0360/A/11/2157754);
O/2010/0943; Hybrid application on the site which was refused. Under this proposal, outline
approval was sought for the development of 357 dwellings, garages and associated
infrastructure and landscaping, with two new access from Keephatch Road and Warren House
Road, the erection of a substation and gas governor and associated amenity space (matters
for approval access and layout). (REFUSED)
C/2013/2500 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Application for submission of details to comply with the following conditions of planning appeal
decision O/2011/0699 (Partial Discharge):
4) Strategy for sub-phasing of development.
11b) Landscape, ecology and open space strategy (in relation to sub-phase 1).
13) Landscaping and external works (in relation to sub-phase 1).
20) Archaeology.
29) Section 38 / section 278 details including 3 proposed site access points.
Note Condition 11b is referred to as 11 under appeal (duplication error – 11 Affordable Housing
provision)
C/2013/1161 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Application for submission of details to comply with conditions; 4, 7, 8, 11b, 13 & 23 of appeal
planning consent ref: O/2011/0699;

228

4) Strategy for the sub phasing of development.
7) Waste Management Strategy.
8) Detailed Design Code.
11b) Landscape, Ecology & Open Space.
13) Detailed scheme of landscaping.
23) Details of the measurements of the flows of watercourses.
RM/2013/1164 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning Consent O/2011/0699 for the
erection of 274 dwellings, garages, parking and carports (total 608 parking spaces) internal
roads pathways substations gas governor the construction of a new access from Keephatch
Road and two new access points from Warren House Road with associated amenity space
incorporating allotments (appearance, landscaping and scale to be considered) (Approved at
Committee 18th Sept).
VAR/2013/1162 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Application for removal of conditions 11a (affordable housing) and 35 (road junctions) of appeal
consent O/2011/0699 (amendment to S106 agreement includes these details) (Condition 11a –
Approved / Condition 35 – no longer being proceeded with).
NMT/2013/1171 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Application for non material amendment for minor alterations relating to condition 1 of planning
consent O/2011/0699 (approved layout for siting of dwellings). (Approved)
VAR/2014/1846 – Kentwood Farm East (Phase 1)
Application to vary condition 35 of planning consent O/2011/0699 for the erection of 274
dwellings, garages, driveways and car ports. Condition 35 relates to off-site junctions, the
variation proposes to delete this condition. (Approved)
O/2013/2295 – Kentwood Farm West (Phase 2)
Outline Application for the development of up to 225 dwellings and associated works at
Kentwood Farm West (Phase 2 of the North Wokingham Strategic Development Location) (all
matters reserved). (Approved)
F/2012/2031 – Erection of 30 dwellings with associated access, landscaping and car parking on
Land east of Buttercup. (Approved)
Land East of Buttercup Close (planning ref: F/2012/2035) for 65 Plough Lane (planning ref:
F/2011/0182 / appeal ref: X0360/A/11/2152037/NWF) for proposed erection of two 4 bedroom
detached dwellings with associated access, landscaping and parking.
Approved under planning ref: F/2013/2515 (30/05/14).
Scoping Opinion (ref: SO/2007/2997) was undertaken for 2500 dwellings, community centre,
medical centre, retail centre, nursery and primary school. This set out that an environmental
statement was required.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Thames Basin Heath SPA
Dwellings
School
Public Open Space
Children’s Play

(Overall area approx. 34 ha)
7km
82 (total site up to 760)
2.3 ha site
Approx. 8.5 ha
LEAP (800m2) and NEAP (1600m2) plus a
contribution for off-site provision

229

Allotments
Parking

1.34ha - Off-site provision
Dependant on Housing Nos. but in
accordance with parking standards

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Berkshire
Archaeology:

No archaeology issues with the application

Countryside Officer
(Biodiversity) and
Public Open Space:

No comments.

Environmental Health:

No Comments.

Environment Agency:

No comment provided. The proposed details comply with the planning
conditions we requested on the outline planning permission, together
with any advice provided previously.

Highways and
Drainage:

Parking and layout issues now addressed subject to amended
plans/conditions. Drainage plans submitted for the site considered
acceptable
No objection. To minimise any potential impacts to SRN, we would
strongly recommend that the promoters of the development seek
opportunities to encourage trips outside of the peak periods during both
the construction and operational phases of development. This might be
through a travel plan and a Construction Transport Management Plan
to support the proposal and would be conditioned.

Highways Agency:

Network Rail:

No objection.

Historic England:

Application should be determined in accordance with national and local
policy guidance, and on the basis of your specialist conservation
advice.

Housing:

Proposed mix of affordable units considered acceptable.

Landscape and Trees:

Revised layout and reduction of two units has created additional space
for a more positive relationship of the built development with the public
realm creating more opportunities for planting. Further required details
can be dealt with by conditions application.
Principle of development accepted.

Land Use and
Transport (Policy):
Natural England:

The advice provided in our previous response applies equally to this
application although we made no objection to the original proposal.
Advice provided for Phase 1 RM: No objection – SANG provided to
mitigate impacts on Thames Basin Heaths SPA; freehold of SANG
should be transferred to WBC with commuted sum to cover
management in perpetuity. NE would expect LPA to consider the
possible impacts upon local sites and local landscape character;
measures to enhance biodiversity of the site should be secured from
the applicant.

230

Royal Berkshire Fire
and Rescue Service:

Requirement for fire hydrants on the site.

Sport England:

The proposed development is not considered to fall either within our
statutory or non-statutory remit

Thames Valley Police
(RPS):

No comments.

Waste Services:

General guidance on waste and recycling services for new
development provided.

Access Officer:

No comments.

Scottish and Southern
Energy:

No comments.

Southern Gas
Networks:

Due to presence of low/medium/intermediate pressure gas main in
proximity to the site, no mechanical excavations to take place above or
within 0.5m of low pressure system, 0.5m of medium pressure system
and 3m of intermediate pressure system. Positions of mains should be
confirmed using hand dug trial holes.

Reading Borough:

No comments.

Bracknell Forest
Council:

No comments.

Thames Water:

Recommend partial discharge of conditions 38-41 (officer note – these
conditions are subject to a separate application).

REPRESENTATIONS
Local Residents:
No individual letters of representation have been received in response to the consultation
exercise
Emmbrook Residents Association – Combined response to reserved matters application and
conditions application (160914)
-

-

-

Development density: density figure of 22 dwellings per hectare is misleading given that
the open space and streamside recreational park is part of the open space provision for
the whole site. Consider the density to be nearer to 44dph. Officer note: Paragraphs 2629 refer.
Noise: Reference to the Technical Note on Noise stating that the dwellings located
nearest to Twyford Road and the NDR will suffer the worst levels of noise pollution,
requiring higher sound reduction index windows. ERA therefore question placing higher
density development beside such roads. The technical note noise modelling is based on
projected 2026 traffic figures and call for both blocks of flats and 13 houses to be fitted
with higher SRI windows together with noise barriers to protect some of the gardens –
this is an indication of how noisy the site will be. Officer note: Paragraphs 38-41 refer.
Appearance and layout: Architecturally the proposal offers nothing innovative or
interesting in the design of the dwellings; At odds with the Design Statement which
refers to the site having the “opportunity for a unique architectural style” and fails to
recognise the significance of this site being the “gateway” into the development; Layout
is dominated by roads and vehicle access ways in a manner that older style

231

-

-

-

-

developments are not – demonstrated by length of road per dwelling as being 5.5m
compared with around 6.3m on Joel Park development and 11.5m on Matthewsgreen
Road.
The design of the two 3-storey apartment blocks is particularly disappointing, given their
prominence and dominance at the main development gateway. Officer note: Paragraphs
5-15 refer.
Parking provision: The Design Statement states that the parking provision meets WBC’s
requirements, a number of driveways have a garage, plus two parking spaces which will
limit their usage given that residents will be reluctant to block a vehicle in with another –
this will lead to use of the visitor and unallocated spaces; Provision of visitor car parking
spaces is not evenly distributed throughout the site; Particular concern regarding parking
for the two apartment blocks, restricted to one space per property. Majority of the owners
of these units are likely to own 2 cars, however, only 2 visitor spaces in the vicinity;
consider the parking provision to be insufficient by around 15 spaces.
Refuse collection: Clear information has not been provided on refuse collection for the
site: the plans indicate a bin collection point opposite plot 34 on the northernmost cul-desac which would be unacceptable as the only refuse and recycling collection point for the
development; any alternative would involve the refuse vehicle stopping at points
throughout the development which would block egress to the development due to limited
widths of roads and access ways. Officer note: Paragraphs 48-54 deal with parking and
refuse collection.
Flatted developments: The small provision of amenity space for the 24 units is
inadequate; the noise profile shows that in both cases the green space adjacent to the
blocks will be heavily polluted by noise from the roundabout and the NDR. Officer note:
Paragraphs 30-36 deal with residential amenity; paragraphs 38-41 deal with noise.
A further letter dated 10th July 2016 has been received from the Emmbrook Residents
Association following a re-consultation on revised plans. The majority of the comments
made above remain. Summary of additional comments:

-

-

Note that the two 3 storey blocks have been designed to reduce their bulk and give a
more modern appearance. May be considered acceptable in themselves but do not sit
well with the more vernacular style of the adjacent houses.
Balconies have been included in the new design of the apartment blocks which will
suffer noise pollution as identified within Noise Profile

Wokingham Town Council – Combined response to reserved matters application and
conditions application (160914)
-

-

-

Layout and appearance: Major objection is positioning of Plots 69-80, 1-12 and 81-84,
which are the large three storey buildings adjacent to the NDR and main entrance vista
to the Phase 2 development – these buildings considered totally inappropriate in terms
of scale and mass and out of keeping with the immediately surrounding buildings and
countryside opposite; Flats seem to lack any amenity space contrary to policy;
Conditions of original outline permission stated that larger buildings would be located
toward the centre of the development away from key vistas; the buildings do not comply
with this – if they were located on the northern most boundary of the development they
would aid in the reduction of noise from the adjacent road network; Density of the
properties is likely to be above maximum recommended; Plots 69-80 overlook plots 67 &
68; not clear how refuse for plots 13-19 will be collected
The proposed buildings appear monolithic with little or no variation in design and
appearance; totally out of keeping with the properties approved for Phase 1; no quality of
design; uninteresting frontage with an odd mix of architectural styles. Officer note:
Paragraphs 5-15 deal with design issues; paragraphs 30-36 deal with residential
amenity and layout.
Internal Road Structure: Road narrows to 4.8m in a number of places – insufficient for a
refuse vehicle and car to safely pass each other, or a parked vehicle; Parking provision

232

-

-

-

-

-

insufficient; many driveways are not long enough to allow the garages to be accessed
whilst a car is parked in the drive – will result in parked vehicles protruding onto the
public highway; Consider the area of shared surface will remain unadopted and
adoptable standard is not possible given the density; Length of shared surface spine
roads is likely to be dangerous; Channel blocks on some of the roads is against current
guidelines for traffic calming; use of block paving on shared surface areas is often noisy
when driven across; inability for refuse, delivery, removal vehicles to safely access far
ends of shared surface areas is not acceptable – turning areas must be provided
Parking provision: Number of spaces stated in design statement does not match those
provided on the plans. Officer note: Paragraphs 42-54 refer
Gardens: Do not appear to meet Borough standards; number of plots seem to have no
external access to rear gardens. Officer note: Paragraphs 30-36 refer
Flood Plain: Plot 32, and parts of 33 & 31 are in the 1:100 yr projected flood area – the
road is the only spine road to have surface drainage rather than porous brick surfacing;
assume this is acknowledgement of higher flood risk.
Drainage: Drainage plans do not appear to detail any foul or surface water drainage to a
majority of the plots and appear incomplete
Attenuation ponds: The attenuation pond will become stagnant in dry weather; methods
should be found to keep water flowing in the pond or of water agitation to prevent buildup of odour gasses. Officer note: Paragraphs 57-63 refer
CEMP: Submitted as an addendum to the Phase 1 CEMP. The original contains useful
protections and initiatives to protect and inform residents, but too many clauses such as
‘where possible’ and ‘if practical’. Such protections carry little weight regarding
enforcement. Due to issues with Phase 1, recommend a new plan be issued removing
the clauses and providing an enforceable plan.
The addendum states construction work will start at 7am – totally against this and
request a new CEMP to be issued which is compliant with conditions applied to other
developments. Officer note: Paragraph 35 refers
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan: Provision of landscaping of areas for
recreation is welcomed; would like to know how any flooding of the area will be managed
once landscaping is carried out. Officer note: Paragraph 63 refers

Joel Park Residents Association – No response received.
The Wokingham Society – No response received
Berkshire, Buckinghamshire & Oxford Wildlife Trust – No response received

PLANNING POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework
Adopted Core Strategy: CP1, CP2, CP3, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9, CP10, CP11, CP13,
CP14, CP15, CP17, CP20 and Appendix 7.
Managing Development Delivery Development Plan Document (MDD Local Plan) adopted
February 2014: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04, CC05, CC06, CC07, CC08, CC09, CC10, TB05,
TB07, TB08, TB21, TB23, TB25 and SAL05.
Appendix 2 (Car Parking Standards).
North Wokingham Strategic Development Location SPD adopted October 2011.
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD for the Strategic Development Locations adopted
October 2011.
Affordable Housing SPD adopted June 2011.
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD adopted 2010
Wokingham Borough Council Design Guide: Borough Guide Design SPD June 2012

233

Affordable Housing SPD adopted June 2011.

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development
1)

The principle of development has been established by outline planning permission
ref: O/2014/2242; for up to 760 dwellings, primary school, neighbourhood centre,
community facilities, Northern Distributor Road and associated works including open
space. The application site is located within the North Wokingham Strategic
Development Location (SDL) (Policy CP 20) and forms part of the 1500 houses
allocated within North Wokingham. Therefore the broad principle of development at
this location is acceptable and remains consistent with Core Strategy policy CP20.

2)

The outline consent was subject to an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and s106 legal
agreement, which secured the coordinated delivery of the infrastructure necessary to
support the development. These included contributions towards off-site infrastructure
and services such as roads, education, sports facilities and health services and onsite provision of a SANG, affordable housing, allotments and open space in
accordance with the Core Strategy and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document (the Infrastructure SPD).

3)

The details approved under the outline planning consent established parameters for
the development including general site layout including location of the housing, open
space, density and general heights of buildings. The local provision of Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) was secured under a different consent (ref:
F/2014/1216)

4)

The transport network was also established, this included the route of the Northern
Distributor Road and other roads and paths within the development site, including
paths within the SANG area. The approach was set out within the Design and
Access Statement (DAS) and other supporting documents and plans.
Design, scale appearance and layout

5)

Condition 12 of the Outline consent requires a Design Statement to accompany all
applications for reserved matters. The Statement should explain how the proposals
conform to the approved Design and Access Statement (DAS). In accordance with
Condition 12 of the Outline application, a Design Statement has been submitted in
support of this reserved matters application which sets out the approach being
undertaken within this scheme. Appendix 1 of the Design Statement includes ‘The
Pattern Book’ which was also submitted as an appendix to the approved design and
access (DAS) submitted under the Outline consent.

6)

Policies CP1, CP2 and CP3 and Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy and the NW SPD
state that architectural design should be high quality and distinctive while considering
the prevailing character of the area which should be maintained and enhanced. The
submitted Design Statement accompanying this application seeks to demonstrate
how the proposal accords with the above relevant guidance and how it responds to
the Pattern Book contained within Appendix 1 of the approved Design and Access
Statement.

7)

In terms of the design approach within Phase 2a, the development would largely
comprise traditional residential houses, consisting of detached, semi-detached and
terraced properties of 2 to 3 storeys in height. The streetscene along the frontage
onto the NDR would comprise two 3-storey apartment blocks and two sets of 3
storey semi-detached properties. This is in line with the heights parameters plan

234

established at the outline application stage. There would also be a number of other 3
storey properties positioned on either side of the main spine road running up through
the site.
8)

The original design and appearance of the dwellings submitted under this application
were not considered to be acceptable. These were considered to be poorly thought
out and lacked design quality. The main concerns related to the appearance, scale
and bulk of the 2 apartment blocks, as well as the general wholly brick elevational
treatment of the dwellings throughout the site. The scheme has been revised to seek
to address concerns raised by both Council officers, Wokingham Town Council
(WTC) and the Emmbrook Residents Association (ERA).

9)

The internal street layout within the development has altered slightly from the
indicative arrangement shown at the outline stage. Within the outline application, the
main road through the site continued up and around to the east of the site. Within the
proposed scheme, the main road still comes off the NDR (in line with the outline) and
continues up through the site extending round at the top of the site, but terminates at
the north eastern corner of the residential area of the site. There are smaller cul-desac roads coming off the main road, and given they will not be through routes, they
are largely proposed to be shared surface roads.

10)

The proposed heights are considered acceptable and comparable with both the
heights permitted in phase one, and also with the indicative heights plan approved at
the Outline Stage for this phase. Officers note that WTC do not consider that the
taller buildings should be located along the frontage of the site. However, as
mentioned above, this is in line with the general heights plan considered at the
Outline stage. It is also considered usual for larger buildings to be positioned along a
main road within the street hierarchy of an area, with smaller scale properties located
along the secondary roads. It is also considered that the taller buildings proposed in
Phase 2a will be likely to be more compatible with other larger buildings which will
also be located adjacent to the site along the NDR, such as the primary school on
the neighbouring site to the west, as well as the neighbourhood centre further along
the NDR to the West, both of which will be the subject of future reserved matters
applications. Locating the smaller scale buildings to the north of the site also make
the relationship with the countryside beyond more appropriate.

11)

A key aspect to achieving high quality development in any location is the use of
materials and use of hard and soft landscaping incorporated within a development.
In this respect, the materials proposed for the houses are considered consistent with
the general character and appearance of Wokingham. The revised elevational
treatments would comprise a mixture of brick elevations, and combinations of brick
and render, similar to Phase 1. It is considered that the various proposed elevational
finishes would help to break up the overall colour, texture and mass of the
development and provide some variety to the general appearance within the
development. These combinations of materials are considered to be an improvement
upon the original submission which proposed wholly brick elevations throughout.
This detailing will help improve the overall appearance and character of the
development.

12)

The roof material to the houses would comprise grey artificial slate which is also
considered acceptable. Following the amendments to the scheme, it is now
considered that the overall approach to the design and external finishes would be
compatible and complementary with Phase 1, and also appropriate to the character
and appearance of the development and surrounding area and would now provide a
successful and well designed scheme.

13)

The two, three storey apartment blocks containing flats within the development have

235

been redesigned from what was proposed within the initial submission. This followed
comments from Wokingham Town Council, The Emmbrook Residents Association
and officers. The original design proposed 3 storey blocks with pitched roofs, with
wholly brick elevations and the units within the blocks had no private amenity
spaces. The applicant was advised that the proposed design was bland, appeared
excessive in scale and was therefore considered unacceptable and needed a
significant redesign. The revised design now takes on a more modern design
approach, however, the materials proposed are reflective of those being used on the
other properties across the development and will comprise a combination of brick
and render, along with rainscreen cladding around the larger windows on the curved
elevations. The roofs are now flat rather than pitched which reduces their overall
height and bulk, and combined with the introduction of balconies to these buildings to
provide private amenity space, they are considered to appear appropriate in scale,
bulk and appearance, in the context of their setting. They also set a separate
character for this part of the site which is important given the scale of the wider
development site for up to 760 units.
14)

An important aspiration of the SDL’s is to achieve good design which reflects the
existing styles and characters but does not simply replicate and copy the traditional
design. In this case, the overall design approach, that is the massing, scale and
appearance, is now considered to be successful, and while reflecting the character
of Wokingham, is also establishes its own character within North Wokingham,
providing a high quality scheme within NW SDL.

15)

The use of appropriate materials (i.e. bricks / render / slate, windows, soffits etc) is
key to the successful delivery of the appearance of any development, and it is
essential to ensure that the materials used are of high quality in appearance and
would weather well. The broad pallet of materials proposed (where brick / render and
in what combination) is now considered to be appropriate for this development,
however, samples of the materials will be required to be submitted and controlled by
condition 3 to ensure they are of an acceptable quality.

Landscaping, Ecology and SANG
16)

In accordance with Condition 2 of the outline, the applicant has submitted
landscaping details with this application. It should however be noted that landscaping
detail is being considered and dealt with in more detail under conditions application
(ref: 160914) in accordance with condition 14 of the outline consent.

17)

The revised layout and the reduction of two units on the site has created additional
space within the scheme for a more positive relationship of the built development
with the public realm and creating more opportunities for planting to improve the
visual amenity of the proposed development including the main access into the site.
It is considered that landscaping is key to the delivery of a successful scheme. The
location and type of street furniture, boundary treatments, hard landscape materials
and soft landscape planting are reflected in the concepts set out within the Design
Statement and other landscaping details submitted with this application with the
details of these being considered via the conditions application. However, this needs
to be balanced against the need to provide housing.

18)

The landscaping proposed within Phase 2a incorporates a section of the streamside
park which runs along the northern boundary of the site, and extends across the top
of the adjoining school site to the west. This will contribute towards the overall setting
of the development, providing green views through the site, but will also serve as an
open amenity area accessible for all future residents across the wider development.
There will be a surface water attenuation pond located within this section of the
streamside park. The eastern boundary of the site is also proposed to be planted to

236

provide a soft woodland edge to the development along its boundary with Twyford
Road. This area has been extended since the initial submission by moving the
western site boundary out by 5metres. It should be noted that this does not impact
upon the adjoining school site proposals, but has enabled further landscaping to be
introduced within the site, notably along the eastern edge, but also along both sides
of the main road running up through the site. The planting would represent a mixture
of native species throughout the development with a variety of planting types. The
details of this will be dealt with by condition 14 of the outline application which is
currently the subject of a separate conditions application.
19)

Across the rest of the development, the landscaping proposed for the immediate
setting of the housing would comprise sections of hedge or blocks of shrubs within
front gardens to run parallel with the highway/footway, thus creating a sense of
enclosure and creating a green corridor along the access roads. A number of street
trees are also proposed to be planted within larger front gardens at intervals along
the access roads and within the parking courtyards. This approach is considered
acceptable as it is important in terms of not only breaking down the hard landscaped
appearance of the roads but also in creating a pleasant residential environment for
future and existing residents. It is considered that the overall landscaping proposals
will ensure an appropriate setting for the development both visually, but also in terms
of the residential amenities of future occupiers. However, as previously mentioned,
the detailed landscaping proposals will be considered within the details submitted
under the conditions application. Detail such as boundary treatments, which also
play an important part to the overall setting and appearance of a new development,
will also be considered under a separate conditions application.

20)

There are two TPO trees on site, one of which is proposed to be removed due to
poor health, which is accepted, and the protected Oak (T8) will be retained. The
retention of this tree will require the section of the road adjacent to it to be of a no-dig
solution to reduce the impact of road construction on the roots to the eastern side.
However, this issue will be dealt with under details submitted under condition 16
which is being considered under conditions application 160914.

21)

Given the sites location within 7km of the Thames Health Basin Special Protection
Area (SPA), there is a requirement to provide SANG as part of any residential
development to mitigate its impacts upon the SPA. The proposed SANG associated
with this development has already been approved under planning application ref:
F/2014/1216. This is located off-site on land to the northwest of this site. The SANG
site provides sufficient SANG and open space to provide adequate mitigation for the
new residential development on the SPA. The SANG will need to be transferred to
the Council with a maintenance contribution which was secured as part of the s106
associated with the outline consent. The laying out of the SANG and works are
required before any occupation.

22)

The SANG comprises informal open space comprising mainly open grass areas,
planting, ponds and Emmbrook river (which will form a wetland) and a network of
informal public footpaths including two new bridges to form a circular walk. The
SANG area is intended to provide a local a natural landscape which promotes
ecology and will prevent people travelling to the SPA.

23)

No parking is required for this SANG given the proximity of the development site
however improvements to the paths linking the SANG site to the development site
are required (Emmbrook Vale park (completed) and pedestrian crossings on Toutley
Road and Old Forest Road).

24)

In relation to ecology on the site, Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD
DPD Policy TB23, requires appropriate protection of species and habitats of

237

conservation value. Design Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of
ecological habitat and biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts
that do arise. This was assessed as part of the outline scheme. Further ecological
details for this phase are dealt with under conditions application 160914 and include
details relating to condition 20 (Ecological Permeability) and 24 (Landscape and
Ecological Management Strategy (LEMS)) of the outline consent.
25)

The Council’s landscaping officer has reviewed the proposals and is generally
satisfied with the overall landscape proposals and approach being undertaken for the
site, that is, the proposed layout can accommodate landscaping. As such the
proposed areas for landscaping, open space and biodiversity promotion are
considered to be acceptable as part of the reserved matters submission. As advised
above the detailed landscaping and ecological details are being considered as part
of conditions application ref. 160914, which is being considered separate to this
submission.

Density of development and housing mix
26)

The Council under policies CP5, Wokingham District Local Plan Policy saved Policy
WH1, MDD DPD Policy TB05 and the North Wokingham SPD seek a mix and
balance of densities, dwelling types and sizes in all new developments.

27)

The outline application established an approximate density of 30 dwellings per
hectare (dph) across the site as a whole. This density is similar across adjacent
residential areas and is in accordance with that set out within the adopted Core
Strategy and SPD’s. At the outline stage, the indicative dwelling distribution plan
showed 84 dwellings located within the Phase 2a area. This application initially
included 84 dwellings, in line with the outline consent, however, this has
subsequently been reduced to 82 units in order to accommodate site layout
improvements. The site density has been raised both by Wokingham Town Council
and the Emmbrook Residents Association. However, whilst the density of Phase 2a
site when taken in isolation from the wider development site, is likely to exceed the
30dph figure (given the presence of the 2 apartment blocks) the dwelling numbers
remain within those identified at the outline stage, and therefore the overall density of
the wider Matthewsgreen development remains consistent with the Outline consent.
Furthermore, for the reasons set out within the remainder of the report, the number
of units as proposed is considered acceptable and will contribute to the delivery of
housing within the Borough, for which there is an identified need.

28)

There would be a range of dwelling types and sizes, proposing an overall mix of
dwellings broadly in line with the target mix set out in the Wokingham District Local
Plan. As advised, the majority of the properties proposed would be houses with two
larger blocks housing 12 apartments in each. The development would provide a
mixture of house types, detached, semi-detached, terraced as well as a mixture of
flats. The housing mix is considered appropriate and the different dwelling types help
to create different areas of character within the development and reflect the
residential nature of the development whilst providing variety to the appearance and
character of the development.

29)

With respect to affordable housing provision on the site, the outline application for
the whole of the SDL included 35% affordable provision, comprising 22% provision
on site and a commuted sum towards off-site provision. The affordable homes to be
provided on the site comprise the apartment block positioned on the corner of the
NDR and the access road into the site (6x1bed flats, 6x2bed flats), the terrace of 6
dwellings to the rear of the apartment block (6x2bed houses) and 4 other 3bed
houses located along the second cul-de-sac road in the development. There are no
objections to the level or quality of the affordable housing being provided and the

238

units accord with the Council’s standards as advised elsewhere in the report. The
design of this housing is tenure blind, in that it is similar in appearance to the market
housing.
Residential amenity and layout
30)

The NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP2 and CP3 and NW SPD seeks to ensure that
all new development should be high quality in design and does not cause detriment
to the amenities of adjoining land users or their quality of life. The Council within its
adopted Residential Design Standards reinforces this and sets out the minimum
standards it expects new developments to accord with in terms of garden sizes,
separation distances and internal floorspace standards.

31)

In terms of amenity areas, the proposed houses all include private rear garden areas
while the flats have balconies. Whilst there is limited communal amenity space
associated with the flats, it is considered that access to external amenity spaces in
the locality is good. Public open space is located close by and will be easily
accessible. The streamside park will be accessible to all residents, and there will
also be a Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play (NEAP) on the adjoining school and
community use site, as well as a Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) elsewhere
within the overall development. All of these spaces would be easily accessed by
future residents and therefore providing good levels of public accessible open space
on the site. These areas, together with linkages with the SANG / open space areas
are considered to be of good quality. For these reasons the approach to amenity and
open space is considered acceptable.

32)

The Borough Design Guide establishes minimum separation distances of 10m frontto-front across the street, 22m back-to-back and 12m back-to-flank and the revised
scheme complies with this guidance. The guide also sets out the standard for private
gardens and recommends that gardens should be minimum 11m in depth, roughly
rectangular in shape, receive direct sunlight for some of the day, be capable of
accommodating activities such as sitting, play, clothes drying and provide a secure
external access to provide access to outside storage including cycle stores. The
majority of the dwellings either meet or exceed the above guidance and although
some of the properties’ rear gardens are not 11m (maximum shortfall of 1m), and
some would not have direct external access, the overall positioning and layouts of
the gardens within the scheme are considered acceptable. Therefore, the identified
minor shortfalls are not considered to be justified reason to withhold the granting of
planning permission. This is particularly so when considering the acute need for
housing delivery in the borough and the fact that overall, the gardens broadly comply
with the Borough Design Guide’s criteria. It is therefore considered that the future
occupiers would be afforded sufficient levels of privacy and amenity.

33)

With respect to internal floorspace of the units, the Borough Design Guide, the
Affordable Housing SPD and the Policy TB07 of the MDD DPD establish internal
space standards for new dwellings, setting standards for both the gross internal area
(GIA) and the minimum combined area of the living, kitchen and dining spaces for
houses (the GIA requirements for market and affordable housing differ slightly). The
scheme has been designed in accordance with this guidance. These standards are
considered particularly important when assessing smaller units or flats where living
accommodation is more constrained. However, all of the units accord with the
required standards. Therefore it is considered that the quality of accommodation
proposed would provide good levels of residential amenity and as such is considered
to be acceptable.

34)

In terms of the security, the streets and parking areas would be overlooked.

239

35)

To minimise disturbance to residents, Condition 3 of the outline consent required
details of phasing while Condition 9 required approval of a Construction
Management Plan before development. Condition 10 controls the hours of work.
Whilst the Construction Management Plan (CEMP) for this Phase is being assessed
under conditions application 160914, Wokingham Town Council raised concern that
a 7am start time is referred to within the CEMP. Whilst the CEMP is not relevant to
the determination of these reserved matters, it should be noted that the reference to
starting at 0700 relates to movement of light goods vehicles/cars and not to
construction work commencing on site. This was also referred to within the approved
Phase 1 CEMP. A revised CEMP has, however, been requested to deal with the
submission being an addendum to the Phase 1 approved CEMP.

36)

In terms of light pollution, lighting is controlled by Condition 8 of the outline which
requires a lighting strategy to be submitted prior to installation. This will ensure
adequate lighting is provided without unnecessary harm to the local environment or
to residential amenity.

Relationship with nearby properties
37)

Given the location of the Phase 2 development in the north eastern corner of the
site, the nearest existing residential properties are located some distance away at
the entrance to Cantley Park. Therefore, the development will not cause detriment
to the amenities of the nearest residential properties. Separation distances are
adequate and the Design and Access Statement for the outline scheme advised that
the layout was developed in accordance with the layouts of neighbouring residential
developments and would meet the Council’s standards for spacing of development
and private amenity space as set out in the Borough Design Guide. As is shown the
reserved matters proposals do overall, achieve these. On this basis, it is considered
that the scheme will not result in significant harm from loss of light, overlooking or
overbearing issues to the existing neighbouring properties.

Noise
38)

Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policy CC06 directs development away
from areas where noise would impact upon amenity and require mitigation where
noise cannot be completely avoided.

39)

The main noise sources that affect this development site are A329(M), Toutley
industrial site, the NDR and Twyford Road. It should be noted that National Planning
Policy Framework does not expect noise to be considered in isolation, separately
from the economic, social and other environmental dimensions of proposed
development.

40)

The ES submitted with the outline application assessed noise impacts and
concluded that the majority of the site falls where noise is not a problem. This
included impacts upon existing properties from noise and also to proposed
properties adjacent to Toutley. However the ES does indicate that some properties,
those with facades facing onto the NDR could fall into areas where noise can be an
issue, particularly during the daytime. This is unavoidable.

41)

Within this reserved matters application, the properties potentially affected by the
NDR would be those located along the southern boundary of the site. The Twyford
Road also runs adjacent to the eastern side of the site. However, a condition was
imposed on the outline application which requires a scheme of works, to ensure the
protection of the occupiers of the development (including the residual
accommodation, open spaces and the school) from externally generated noise

240

for each sub phase (condition 51). This is being considered within the separate
conditions application 160914.
Access and movement
42)

Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP6 and MDD DPP Policies CC08 seek to manage
travel demand by a variety of measures CP10 and CP20 identifying specific
measures relevant to the North Wokingham SDL including provision of the North
Distributor Road, improvements to capacity along the A329 and A321 corridors,
improved provision for travel by means alternative to the private car. The travel
impacts of the development were considered at the outline stage (in line with the
Council’s modelling protocol) mitigation was secured through a combination of
conditions and the S106 legal agreement.

43)

It should be noted that this proposal merely looks at the internal layout of Phase 2a
and new accesses and not the wider highway issues. The section of the NDR
through the development falls outside of Phase 2a and accesses have already been
approved under the outline approval.

44)

Other local highway improvement works are also being constructed (including the
new access off Twyford Road) but these do not form part of this submission.

45)

The routes within the site will have a clear hierarchy, with the NDR providing an east
– west route. The roads on Phase 2a are clearly residential streets with on and offstreet parking and shared surface areas. All roads are designed in accordance with
Manual for Streets. It is considered that the overall approach of the routes are
considered acceptable.

46)

In the event that dwellings within this Phase commence occupation prior to the
completion of the NDR, access to local shops, services and the SANG by foot/cycle
or car will be possible from the east end of the NDR which connects to the newly
constructed Twyford Road roundabout.

47)

In summary the proposals are therefore considered acceptable for Phase 2a.

Parking
48)

In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6 and MDD DPD Policy CC07, the reserved
matters will incorporate parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards
require allocated parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking.

49)

The layout of the parking for this Phase has been revised since the initial
submission, in line with officers comments. Allocated parking is proposed on the site
by a combination of on-plot parking (drives, garages and carports), formally markedout parking bays within the public realm areas and communal parking areas serving
the flats and houses. On-street parking will also be incorporated as a means of
managing the flow of traffic and vehicle speeds thereby improving road safety and
preventing rat-running. Wokingham Town Council commented that the driveways are
not long enough to allow access to the garage whilst a car is parked on the drive and
may result in parked vehicles protruding onto the public highway. However, following
revisions to the layout of the scheme, this issue has been addressed. The
Emmbrook Residents Association consider that tandem parking on the drives will
limit their use as owners will be reluctant to block a vehicle in with another, leading to
inappropriate parking and use of the unallocated and visitor spaces. However,
Condition 29 of the Outline approval requires the submission of a parking
management strategy for the management of on-street parking to be submitted to
the Council for approval which will need to address issues such as those raised

241

above.
50)

The applicant has submitted a parking schedule which demonstrates that the overall
parking provision reflects the Council’s current standards and would total 195
spaces comprising 119 allocated, 34 garages, 9 carport spaces, 12 unallocated and
21 visitor spaces, which is considered acceptable, subject to a minor amendment
involving some visitor spaces being switched to unallocated spaces. Amended
drawings are anticipated in advance of committee and members will be updated by
way of an addendum.

51)

A number of the unallocated parking spaces are located adjacent to the affordable
housing and flat block to the west of the site and are considered to be generally well
located in relation to the units they are intended to serve. It should be noted that the
Registered Providers generally prefer this approach to parking as it reduces
management issues which may arise with allocated parking. Overall the amount of
parking is proportionate to the dwelling mix.

52)

Where communal parking is proposed, both for the affordable and private apartment
blocks, these would be overlooked by dwelling units and therefore offering security.
These are necessary to accommodate the level of development and parking
required within the development and as such the communal parking areas are
considered acceptable. The visitor spaces are now dispersed more evenly
throughout the site and are considered acceptable.

53)

Refuse bins for the two apartment blocks are located within designated stores within
the car parks. These are located close to the entrance of the car parks, for ease of
collection for refuse vehicles. WBC’s refuse team no longer favour designated
collection points within developments. Tracking information has been provided to
demonstrate a refuse vehicle will be able to collect waste from the development in
accordance with WBC guidance. The main spine road has also been widened since
the initial submission, such that a car would be able to pass a refuse/delivery
vehicle.

54)

As previously advised, no parking is required for the SANG given the proximity of the
development site

Cycle parking
55)

Condition 27 (Cycle Parking) of the outline consent requires details of cycle storage
and parking to be provided. The Council’s parking demand assessment recommends
provision of at least one cycle space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable
rooms, two spaces for dwellings with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle
spaces for larger dwellings. The reserved matters incorporate cycle storage in line
with the Council’s standards.

56)

Cycle storage is proposed within garages (3 x 7 metres internal dimensions) where
they are available and sheds will be provided for those properties that do not have
garages. There is also a cycle parking area provided for the larger flat blocks. For
the occupiers of the flat, separate cycle stores will be provided within the communal
parking area in order to provide secure storage of bikes. These need to be secure
and overlooked. This strategy is considered acceptable.
Flooding and Drainage

57)

Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD DPD Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk and
NW SPD generally requires provision of a comprehensive system for water

242

management, which takes account of existing features and includes proposals for
effective sustainable urban drainage (SUDS), measures to avoid flood risk and new
ponds.
58)

At the outline stage, the applicant undertook a Flood Risk Assessment which
determined that the residential part of the outline site is not located within areas
shown to be at risk of flooding, as indicated by Flood zone 1 on the Environment
Agency’s Flood map.

59)

Drainage was fully assessed at outline stage, the Council and the EA were satisfied
that the site has sufficient storage capacity and that the provision of SUDs, which will
incorporate flood attenuation ponds, can be accommodated on-site and will mitigate
the impacts of the development. The benefit of SUD’s over the existing field use is
that these should improve the current situation by preventing water from running off
the land too quickly. However, in order to ensure no harm occurs, a surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles is required to
be submitted for review as part of the conditions imposed (Condition 39). This is
being considered under the conditions application 160914.

60)

WTC raised concern that the submitted plans do not appear to detail any foul or
surface water drainage to a majority of plots and appear incomplete. As mentioned
above, drainage details have been submitted under the conditions application and
have been reviewed by WBC drainage engineer who considers the details to be
acceptable. Moreover, Thames Water have recommended partial discharge of the
site wide conditions relating to existing sewerage improvements and impact studies
(conditions 40 & 41).

61)

An attenuation pond is proposed within the streamside park and WTC raised
concern that this may become stagnant. However, the applicant has confirmed that
the pond is designed as a dry basin. WBC’s drainage engineer has reviewed the
submitted drainage information and also confirms this to be the case, in that the
pond will empty when water levels drop and would be unlikely to become stagnant.
Notwithstanding this, the future management of the pond will become the
responsibility of WBC when the Streamside park is transferred to the Council, and
should any problems arise, WBC will address accordingly. This is therefore
considered acceptable in this respect.

62)

A further issue raised relates to part of the road at the northernmost end of the site
being located within the flood zone line. The applicant has advised that in a 1:100
year flood event, water up to a depth of 80mm may occur on the road. Therefore, in
order to address this issue, a condition is proposed which will require the submission
of a scheme of mitigation which demonstrates how the flood risk to the northern
section of road will be alleviated (condition 7).

63)

Wokingham Town Council commented that they welcome the provision of
landscaping of areas for recreation but questioned how any flooding of the area
would be managed once the landscaping is carried out. As mentioned above, the
future management of the streamside park will become the responsibility of the
Council and as such, should any issues arise such as flooding, this will be dealt with
by WBC accordingly.
Sustainable Design and Construction

64)

Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy features
and minimising energy and water consumption. MDD DPD policies CC04, CC05 and
the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May

243

2010) also emphasise this.
65)

However, the Government has implemented a new approach for the setting of
technical standards for new housing. This has rationalised the pre-existing and many
differing standards into a simpler, streamlined system. The Government set out its
policy on the application of these standards in decision-taking and plan-making in a
written Ministerial Statement. The statement withdrew the Code for Sustainable
Homes. As the Code for Sustainable Homes has been withdrawn, WBC can no
longer require building to Code Level 4 as a condition to planning consent. However,
Part L of Building Regs effectively requires the equivalent energy efficiency as Code
Level 4. Given the Government’s new approach for the setting of technical
standards, Bovis have currently got an application in with the LPA for the removal of
condition 44 of the outline permission. Committee therefore need not consider this
matter further under this Reserved Matters planning application.
Archaeology

66)

Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD DPD Policy TB25 require the archaeological
impact of development to be taken into consideration. Condition 50 of the outline
consent required an archaeological written scheme of investigation to be completed
for each phase. This is being undertaken and will be submitted separately, however,
Berkshire Archaeology raised no objection to this reserved matters application.

CONCLUSION
Following revisions, the reserved matters are considered to be consistent with the principles and
parameters established by the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the
Council’s adopted policies and guidance for development within the North Wokingham SDL. It is
considered that the applications will deliver high quality development in accordance with the
Council’s spatial strategy and vision and therefore can be recommended for approval.

NB All reports seek to identify environmental, community safety, customer care and
equal opportunities implications. Consultation with residents and organisations which
has or is about to take place, will also be reported
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Development
Management

Telephone
0118 974 6451

Email
development.control@wokingham.gov.uk

244

245

This page is intentionally left blank

247

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 31.
Development
Management
Ref No
161595

Applicant
Location
Proposal

No weeks Parish
on day of
committee
7/8
Earley

Ward

Listed by:

Hawkedon

Applicants are
Borough
Councillors

Mrs Jorgensen C/O Sedgman Noble Architects
Planters Lodge, Cutbush Lane, Earley
Postcode RG6 4UU
Householder application for the proposed erection of a part two storey/
part first floor side extension to dwelling

Type
Other Householder
PS Category 21
Officer
Pooja Kumar
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20th July 2016
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is within a major development location in the settlement of Earley
which is a residential suburb. The original building was constructed in the 1880’s and
has a white render and timber beam external finish. The host dwelling is well screened
along all of its boundaries with a mix of 1.8 metre close boarded fencing and mature
trees and hedges.
The application is for two storey residential extensions to the north-east of the dwelling
which would infill the area between the dwelling and the detached garage and, extends
the length of the dwelling. The proposal includes the relocation of the existing front
porch and associated internal alterations. The number of parking spaces available on
the driveway would remain unaltered and would still accord with the Councils parking
standards.
The proposed development would be appropriate in terms of its size, scale and design
and would relate well to the existing dwelling. Due to the natural screening along the
site’s front boundary and the location of the proposed development, the extension would
largely be screened from public vantage points and would not detrimentally alter the
street scene. The proposed development would not detract from the character of the
original dwelling and is considered to be acceptable subject to the use of appropriate
conditions; and therefore is recommended for conditional approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major development location
 Sand and gravel extraction
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three

249

years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered PLJ/01; PLJ/02; PLJ/03; PLJ/04; PLJ/05PLJ/06; PLJ/07 AND; PLJ/08
received by the local planning authority on 31/05/2016. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
extension hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the
existing building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.
4. Those windows shown on the approved drawings as having obscured glazing in
part or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained. The window
shall be non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are
more than 1.7 metres above the finished floor level of the room in which the
window is installed and shall be permanently so-retained.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3.
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or similar
openings shall be constructed in the first floor level or above in the north-east
(side) elevation of the extension hereby permitted except for any which may be
shown on the approved drawing(s).
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3.
Informatives
1. Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development,
all works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s
ecologist contacted for further advice before works can proceed. All contractors
working on site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the
contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with
the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.

250

PLANNING HISTORY
10692
11499
16389
17494
18939
19411
F2003/0730

Two storey extension conditionally approved on 4th May
1979
Extension to existing stable block conditionally approved
on 25th October 1979
Outline application for bungalow and garage conditionally
approved on 22nd October 1981
Outline application for 4 detached houses and access road
conditionally approved on 3rd June 1982
Four detached houses and garages (land adjacent)
conditionally approved on 31st March 1983
Erection of detached double garage conditionally
approved on 2nd June 1983
Two storey rear garden room conditionally approved on
28th January 20014

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
0.091 hectares
Existing & Proposed Use
C3 – Residential
Change in Parking Spaces None
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways
Biodiversity
Earley Town Council
Local Members

No objection
No objection subject to informative
No comments
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS
 No comments received
 The consultation period ends on 07/07/2016 any subsequent representations will
be reported at planning committee

APPLICANTS POINTS
 None
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping
Parking

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

CC07

251

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)

TB21

Landscape Character

BDG

Borough Design Guide – Section 4

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The scheme is for a part two, part single storey side extension to the north east
elevation of the dwelling. The proposals include the relocation of the existing
front porch with associated internal alterations.
2. The proposed ‘L’ shaped side extensions would infill the gap between the host
dwelling and existing detached garage. The proposed extension can be divided
into two elements; firstly a part single part two storey side extension and; the
secondly a two storey side/rear extension.
3. The part single, part two storey side extension would project up to the common
boundary with Holly Cottage to form part of the boundary treatment at ground
floor level and would maintain a distance of between 0.6 and 2.2 metres from the
same boundary (by virtue of the shape of the plot) at first floor. The extension
would have a depth of 4.1 metres and would have a width of 6 metres from the
side elevation of the dwelling.
4. The second element of the extension is the two storey side/rear extension which
would partially extend off of the rear wall of the dwelling, and partially extend off
the rear wall of the aforementioned two storey side extension. The extension
would have a depth of 8.3 metres projecting into the private amenity area.
5. The ridge height of the proposed extension would be 6.4 metres, which is 0.5
metres less than the ridge of the host dwelling. The rear projection would have a
gabled roof to match the roof of the existing rear extension along the same
elevation. Along the front and rear elevations of the side extension there would
be a small pitched roof dormer feature along the eaves to accommodate
windows at first floor level.
6. The porch would be relocated along the front elevation in line with the proposed
internal alterations. The proposed porch would be located a further 1.1 metres
north from its existing position. The porch would be of the same size, scale and
design as the existing porch.
Principle of Development:
7. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
8. The site is located within the Major Development Location of Earley, and as such
the development should be acceptable providing that it complies with the
principles stated in the Local Development Plan. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy

252

states that development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of activity,
mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area in which it is
located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the amenities of
adjoining land uses and occupiers.

9. The Borough Design Guide (SPD) sets out general design principles for
residential alterations and extensions. Alterations and extensions, in accordance
with R23 should; be well designed, respond positively to the original building,
contribute positively to the local character and relate well to neighbouring
properties.
10. The proposed extensions and alterations are considered to relate well to the
existing built form in terms of design, size and scale. The extensions appear to
be modest and would be well screened from public vantage points.
Character of the Area:
11. The host dwelling is a large detached dwelling set in a spacious plot which
narrows at the middle. The property has the appearance of an attractive rural
cottage but is not listed and is not identified as a building of traditional local
character. The site is well screened with a mix of 1.8 metre high close boarded
fencing and natural landscaping in the form of mature trees and hedges. Along
the street scene the dwelling is visible from glimpses between gaps in the
landscaping and the vehicular access onto the site. The original dwelling was
built in the 1880’s and at the time owned much of the land to the south-west of
the site where there are currently four modern dwellings (approved under
reference 18939). The dwelling has been altered and extended a number of
times over the years; however the traditional timber features of the original
dwelling have been maintained.
12. The local area more generally comprises of detached dwellings set in mixed
sizes of plots, however generally the plots are linear shaped with very little gaps
between buildings. There is a mixed character and style of dwellings along this
part of Cutbush Lane. Although the site is within a major development location,
by virtue of the dense landscaping to both sides of the road and lack of footpath,
the area gives the appearance of a more rural setting.
13. As mentioned above, the Borough Design Guide SPD provides specific advice
for residential extensions and alterations. The SPD emphasises that extensions
should clearly be subservient to the form and scale of the original building and
that the roof form of extensions should match that of the host dwelling. With side
extensions such subservience is usually achieved by the ridge being set down
from that of the main roof and the extension being set back 1 metre from the
dwelling’s frontage. Though the extension would not be set back from the
frontage, the ridge height of the extension would be set 0.5 metres lower than the
host dwelling. The lower ridge height creates a feeling of subservience which is
further emphasised with the narrower width of the side extension in comparison
to the original dwelling.
14. Due to the shape of the plot the first floor element of the side extension maintains
a varied distance from the side boundary, ranging between 0.6 and 2.2 metres.

253

Although this does not wholly comply with the SPD’s recommendations which
requires a 1m gap, as the dwelling and its neighbour does not have a common
building line and due to the set-back of the dwelling from the street scene and
distance from the adjacent neighbourHolly Cottage, it is considered that the
extension would not harmfully impact on the street scene or result in any
terracing impact. Part of the ground floor element would be built up to the
common boundary with Holly Cottage to form part of the boundary wall
treatment. Though this would be below the 1 metre as recommended by the
Borough Design Guide, this section of the extension would be wholly screened
from public vantage points due its siting behind the existing double garage.
Moreover, the extension would be located over 7 metres from the closest
elevation of the neighbouring property and thus would not harmfully reduce the
gap between the two buildings.
15. Given that the character of narrow gaps between buildings already exists in the
street scene, it is considered that the proposed development would not result in
any harm to the local character and street scene. The existing landscaping
around the boundaries of the site is proposed to be retained and therefore from
longer views the proposed development would not be visible.
16. The side extension would project to the rear, beyond the rear building line of the
host dwelling. The Borough Design Guide recommends that rear extensions
should not extend more than 4 metres to avoid any harm to the residential
amenities of neighbours. The projection would be approximately 2.5 metres and
would be located centrally within the plot. Although the extension would be of a
two storey height, it would replicate the rear gable projection of the existing rear
extension and balance the appearance of the rear elevation.
17. The relocation of the front porch is considered to be a modest alteration to the
front elevation. As mentioned above, the dwelling is well screened from the street
scene apart from the gap for the vehicular access and the alteration to the porch
would centrally locate the porch which would not result in any detriment to the
street scene or character of the host dwelling.
18. The extensions and alterations proposed would not be visible from public
vantage points outside of the site. The extensions would be modest, subservient
additions to the host dwelling which would not detract from the traditional
character of the same. As such it is considered that the proposal would accord
with policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and accord with the Borough Design Guide.
Residential Amenities:
19. Overlooking: The proposed extension would be adjacent to the common
boundary with Holly Cottage. The proposal includes a first floor high level side
window, which on plan PLJ/04 is illustrated as being a high level window and
obscure glazed. It is considered that the proposed window, subject to being
conditioned as obscure glazed would not result in any significant harm to the
residential amenity of the adjacent neighbour. Moreover, a condition (condition 5)
to ensure no additional first floor windows are inserted in the same elevation at
first floor level and above is required to safeguard the amenities of adjacent
neighbours. Subject to the use of appropriate conditions it is considered that the
proposal would accord with policy CP3 in this respect.

254

20. Loss of Light/Overbearing: The host dwelling is located centrally within the plot
and follows the staggered building line of the adjacent dwellings to the southwest of the application site. The rear elevation of Holly Cottage is approximately
4.5 metres in front of the front elevation of the host dwelling, and therefore it is
considered that the extension would not result in any harmful loss of light to the
adjacent site. The extension would be built closer to the common boundary with
Holly Cottage but in relation to this neighbouring site, the extension would be to
the rear of its amenity area and therefore would not have any overbearing
impact. As such the proposal would accord with policy CP3 in this regard.
Highways:
21. Parking: Although the proposed development would result in an increase of the
number of habitable rooms on site, the level of parking available on the driveway
would remain unaltered and would accord with the Councils parking standards.
As such the proposed development would accord with policy TB07 of the MDD
Local Plan.
Amenity Area:
22. The Borough Design Guide SPD recommends that rear gardens should be
approximately 11 metres in depth to be able to accommodate typical garden
activities. The proposed extension would extend into the private amenity area of
the application site; however the garden depth would remain in excess of 11
metres and would comply with the SPD.
Ecology:
23. Due to the distance of the site from bat foraging habitat it is considered unlikely
that the proposed development would have any harm to the protected species of
bats which may be accessing the site. WBC Ecology officer has requested an
informative to be attached to planning permission if granted.

CONCLUSION
The application is considered to be acceptable as it would not harm the character of the
host dwelling, nor result in detriment to the street scene. Due to the siting of the host
dwelling centrally within its plot, the proposal would also not harm the residential
amenities of adjacent neighbours. As such, the proposal is considered to accord with
local and national planning policy and is therefore recommended for approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

255

This page is intentionally left blank

257

This page is intentionally left blank

259

This page is intentionally left blank

261

This page is intentionally left blank

263

This page is intentionally left blank

265

This page is intentionally left blank

